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Furthermore, while we have policies, procedures and internal controls in place designed to ensure compliance with applicable
sanctions and trade restrictions, and though the current effects from the Russia- Ukraine conflict have, thus far, not resulted in a
material adverse impact to the Company’ s financial condition or results of operations, our employees, contractors, and agents
may take actions in violation of such policies and applicable law and we could be held ultimately responsible. We rely on our
employees to adhere to the policies, procedures and internal controls we have established to maintain compliance with evolving
sanctions and export controls. To that end, we have implemented training programs, both in person and online, to educate our
employees on applicable sanctions and export controls laws. If we are held responsible for a violation of U. S. or other
countries’ sanctions laws, we may be subject to various penalties, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition or results of operations. Should future sanctions require us to cease or wind down our Russian
operations, our assets located there may be impacted and could become subject to impairment. As of December 31, 2623-2024 ,
the Company’ s fixed assets and total assets in Ru551a were $ 4. 5 mllllon and $ 11.7 mllllon, respectlvely Total assets
located in Russia represent approximately 2 mi ; y y d d
+% of the Company’ s total assets. Additionally, the Company leases its operating facﬂmes in Russ1a and as of December 31,
2023-2024 , the contractual obligation to exit these leased facilities is approximately $ 0. -4 million. For the year ended
December 31, 2023-2024 , revenue attributable to our operations in Russia was $ 22-23 . 80 million, representing
approximately 4 fess-than5-% of the Company’ s total revenue. €essatterrofIf we discontinue our Russtan-operations in
Russia as a resulting—-- result fromfutare-of expanded sanctions , we could may-eause-us-to-incur employee severance and
other associated exit costs statutority-of approximately $ 2. S million, as required under local faber-laws. During the year
ended December 31, 2623-2024 , revenue attributable to the Company’ s Ukraine operations and assets located in Ukraine, were
immaterial netsignifteant-to the Company’ s total revenue and total assets. We are actively monitoring the situation in Ukraine
and assessing its impact on our operations in the region, including our business partners and customers. We have not
experienced any material interruptions in our infrastructure, supplies or networks needed to support our operations. However,
the situation is continuously evolving and the United States, the European Union, the United Kingdom and other countries may
implement additional sanctions, export controls or other measures against Russia, Belarus and other countries, regions, officials,
individuals or industries in the respective territories. We have no way to predict the progress or outcome of the conflict in
Ukraine or its impacts in Ukraine, Russia or Belarus as the conflict, and any resulting government responses, are fluid and
beyond our control . Qur operations, financial results and cash flows, including our ability to repatriate cash, may be
adversely affected due to the conflict and will depend on various factors, including the extent and duration of the
conflict, its effects on regional and global economic and geopolitical conditions, and the effect of more expansive or
stringent laws, sanctions or trade control restrictions, whether adopted by Western nations or the Russian Federation,
on our business, the global economy and global supply chains . The Russia- Ukraine conflict may also heighten many other
risks, any of which could materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations. Such risks include, but are not
limited to, adverse effects on global macroeconomic conditions, including increased inflation; increased volatility in the price
and demand of oil and natural gas; increased exposure to cyber- attacks; limitations in our ability to implement and execute our
business strategy; risks to employees and contractors that we have in the region; disruptions in global supply chains; exposure to
foreign currency fluctuations; potential nationalizations and assets seizures in Russia; constraints or disruption in the capital
markets and our sources of liquidity; our potential inability to service our remaining performance obligations; and potential
contractual breaches and litigation. Our results of operations may be significantly affected by foreign currency exchange rate
risk. We are exposed to risks due to fluctuations in currency exchange rates. By the nature of our business, we derive a
substantial amount of our revenue from our international operations, where certain of our customer contracts are in foreign
currencies that subject us to risks relating to fluctuations in currency exchange rates. Our results of operations may be adversely
affected because our efforts to comply with applicable anti- corruption laws such as the United States’ Foreign Corrupt Practices
Act (the “ FCPA ”) and the United Kingdom’ s Anti- Bribery Act (the “ ABA ”) could restrict our ability to do business in
foreign markets relative to our competitors who are not subject to these laws. We operate in many parts of the world that have
experienced governmental corruption to some degree and, in certain circumstances, strict compliance with anti- bribery laws
may conflict with local customs and practices. We may be subject to competitive disadvantages to the extent that our
competitors are able to secure business, licenses or other preferential treatment by making payments to government officials and
others in positions of influence or through other methods that we are prohibited from using. We are subject to the regulations
imposed by the FCPA and the ABA, which generally prohibits us and our intermediaries from making improper payments to
foreign officials for the purpose of obtaining or keeping business. In particular, we may be held liable for actions taken by our
strategic or local partners even though our partners are not subject to these laws. Any such violations could result in substantial
civil and / or criminal penalties and might adversely affect our business, results of operations or financial condition. In addition,
our ability to continue to work in these parts of the world discussed above could be adversely affected if we were found to have
violated certain laws, including the FCPA and the ABA. Risk factors associated with technology advancement If we are not able
to develop or acquire new services or products or our services and products become technologically obsolete, our results of
operations may be adversely affected. The market for our services and products is characterized by changing technology and
product introduction. As a result, our success is dependent upon our ability to develop or acquire new services and products on a




cost- effective basis and to introduce them into the marketplace in a timely manner. While we intend to continue committing
substantial financial resources and effort to the development or acquisition of new services and products, we may not be able to
successfully differentiate our services and products from those of our competitors. Our clients may not consider our proposed
services and products to be of value to them; or if the proposed services and products are of a competitive nature, our clients
may not view them as superior to our competitors’ services and products. In addition, we may not be able to adapt to evolving
markets and technologies, develop or acquire new services or products, or achieve and maintain technological advantages. If we
are unable to continue developing or acquiring competitive services and products in a timely manner in response to changes in
technology, our business and operating results may be materially and adversely affected. In addition, continuing development or
acquisition of new products inherently carries the risk of inventory obsolescence with respect to our older products. If we are
unable to obtain patents, licenses and other intellectual property rights covering our services and products, our operating results
may be adversely affected. Our success depends, in part, on our ability to obtain patents, licenses and other intellectual property
rights covering our services and products. To that end, we have obtained certain patents and intend to continue to seek patents on
some of our inventions, services and products. While we have patented some of our key technologies, we do not patent all of our
proprietary technology, even when regarded as patentable. The process of seeking patent protection can be long and expensive.
There can be no assurance that patents will be issued from currently pending or future applications or that, if patents are issued,
they will be of sufficient scope or strength to provide meaningful protection or any commercial advantage to us. In addition,
effective copyright and trade secret protection may be unavailable or limited in certain countries. Litigation, which could
demand significant financial and management resources, may be necessary to enforce our patents or other intellectual property
rights. Also, there can be no assurance that we can obtain licenses or other rights to necessary intellectual property on acceptable
terms. We Our-eperations-arc subject to theriskofcyber —security risks. A cyber incident could occur and result in
information theft, data corruption, operational disruption and / or financial loss. The frequency and magnitude of
cybersecurity attacks is increasing and threat actors have become more sophisticated. Cybersecurity attacks are similarly
evolving and include without limitation use of malicious software, surveillance, credential stuffing, spear phishing, social
engineering, use of deepfakes (i. e., highly realistic synthetic media generated by artificial intelligence), attempts to gain
unauthorized access to data, and other electronic security breaches that could have-a-materiat-adverse-effeet-orrlead to
disruptions in critical systems, unauthorized release of confidential or otherwise protected information and corruption of
data. We may be unable to anticipate, detect or prevent future attacks, particularly as the vectors used by threat actors
change frequently or are not readily identifiable until deployed. We may also be unable to investigate or remediate
cybersecurity incidents as threat actors are increasingly using techniques designed to circumvent controls, avoid
detection, and delete or obfuscate forensic evidence. Our technologies, systems and networks, and those of our vendors,
suppliers eonsohidated-results-ofoperations-and eonsohdated-finanetal-condition—Our-other business partners, may become
the target of cyberattacks or information security teehnologysystems-aresubjeet-to-posstble-breaches and-other-threats;
neluding-instder-threatsthat could eause-us-hararresult in the unauthorized release, gathering, monitoring, misuse, loss or
destruction of proprietary information, personal information and other data, or other disruption of our business
operations . AdthetghIn addition, certain cyber incidents, such as unauthorized surveillance, may remain undetected for
an extended period. Our systems and insurance coverage (if any) for protecting against cyber security risks, including
cyberattacks, may not be sufficient and may not protect against or cover all of the losses (including potential reputational
loss) we devote-signifieant-may experience. As cyber incidents continue to evolve, particularly with the advent of artificial
intelligence, we may be required to expend additional resources to modify or enhance our cybersecurity measures or to
investigate and remediate the effects of cyber incidents. We utilize technologies, controls and procedures, as well as
internal staff and external service providers to protect our systems and data, to identify and remediate vulnerabilities and
to monitor and respond to threats. However , there can be no assurance that such measures eursystems-witl-prevent-or-Hmit
the-effeets-ofeyber—attaeks-or-will be sufficient to prevent security breaches from occurring. No security measure is
infallible. If we or deteet-or-the third parties with whom we interact were to aveid-experience a matertal-adverse-impaeton
successful attack, the potential consequences to our systems-when-sueh-attacks-de-business, workforce and the communities
in which we operate could be significant, including financial losses, regulatory fines, loss of business, an inability to settle
transactions or maintain operations, litigation costs, remediation costs, disruptions related to investigation, and
significant damage to eeeur—- our reputation . [f our systems for protecting against cyber- attacks prove not to be sufficient,
we could be adversely affected by loss or damage of intellectual property, proprietary information, client data, employee data,
financial data, our reputation, interruption of business operations, or additional costs to prevent, respond to, or mitigate cyber-
attacks. These risks could have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation, results of operations, and financial
condition. Risk factors associated with our supply chain, resources, liquidity and capital management We are subject to the risk
of supplier concentration. Certain of our product lines depend on a limited number of third party suppliers and vendors available
in the marketplace. As a result of this concentration in some of our supply chains, our business and operations could be
negatively affected if our key suppliers were to experience significant disruptions affecting the price, quality, availability or
timely delivery of their products. For example, we have a limited number of vendors for our manufactured product lines. The
partial or complete loss of any one of our key suppliers, or a significant adverse change in the relationship with any of these
suppliers, through consolidation or otherwise, would limit our ability to manufacture and sell certain of our products. There are
risks relating to our acquisition strategy. If we are unable to successfully integrate and manage businesses that we have acquired
and any businesses acquired in the future, our results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected. One of
our key business strategies is to acquire technologies, operations and assets that are complementary to our existing business.
There are financial, operational and legal risks inherent in any acquisition strategy, including: = increased financial leverage; =
ability to obtain additional financing; = increased interest expense; and = difficulties involved in combining disparate company



cultures and facilities. The success of any completed acquisition will depend on our ability to effectively integrate the acquired
business into our existing operations. The process of integrating acquired businesses may involve unforeseen difficulties and
may require a disproportionate amount of our managerial and financial resources. In addition, possible future acquisitions may
be larger and for purchase prices significantly higher than those paid for earlier acquisitions. No assurance can be given that we
will be able to continue to identify additional suitable acquisition opportunities, negotiate acceptable terms, obtain financing for
acquisitions on acceptable terms or successfully acquire identified targets. Our failure to achieve consolidation savings, to
incorporate the acquired businesses and assets into our existing operations successfully or to minimize any unforeseen
operational difficulties could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operation. We may be
unable to attract and retain skilled and technically knowledgeable employees, which could adversely affect our business. Our
success depends upon attracting and retaining highly skilled professionals and other technical personnel. A number of our
employees are highly skilled engineers, geologists and highly trained technicians, and our failure to continue to attract and retain
such individuals could adversely affect our ability to compete in the oilfield services industry. In periods of high utilization, there
may be a shortage of skilled and technical personnel available in the market, potentially compounding the difficulty of attracting
and retaining these employees. As a result, our business, results of operations and financial condition may be materially
adversely affected. We require a significant amount of cash to service our indebtedness, make capital expenditures, fund our
working capital requirements and pay our dividend, and our ability to generate cash may depend on factors beyond our control.
Our ability to make payments on and to refinance our indebtedness, to fund planned capital expenditures, and pay our dividend
depends, in part, on our ability to generate cash in the future. This ability is, to a certain extent, subject to general economic,
financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other factors that are beyond our control. No assurance can be given that we
will generate sufficient cash flows from operations or that future borrowings will be available to us in an amount sufficient to
enable us to service and repay our indebtedness or to fund our other liquidity needs. If we are unable to satisfy our debt
obligations, we may have to undertake alternative financing plans, such as refinancing or restructuring our indebtedness, selling
assets, reducing or delaying capital investments or seeking to raise additional capital. We cannot assure that any refinancing or
debt restructuring would be possible or, if possible, would be completed on favorable or acceptable terms, that any assets could
be sold or that, if sold, the timing of the sales and the amount of proceeds realized from those sales would be favorable to us or
that additional financing could be obtained on acceptable terms. Disruptions in the capital and credit markets could adversely
affect our ability to refinance our indebtedness, including our ability to borrow under our existing revolving credit facility. Banks
that are party to our existing revolving credit facility may not be able to meet their funding commitments to us if they experience
shortages of capital and liquidity or if they experience excessive volumes of borrowing requests from us and other borrowers
within a short period of time. We may have greater difficulty accessing capital in the future due to the adoption of more
stringent climate change policies as shareholders, bondholders and institutional lenders who currently invest in fossil- fuel
energy companies or service companies such as ours express increased concern about the potential adverse effects of climate
change and therefore elect to shift some or all of their investable or loanable funds into alternative energy investments. Risk
factors associated with health, safety and the environment We are subject to a variety of environmental and occupational safety
and health laws and regulations, which may result in increased costs and significant liability to our business. We are subject to a
variety of stringent governmental laws and regulations, both in the United States and foreign countries, pertaining to protection
of the environment, and occupational health and safety. Compliance with environmental legal requirements in the United States
at the federal, state or local levels may require acquiring permits to conduct regulated activities, incurring capital expenditures to
limit or prevent emissions, discharges and any unauthorized releases, and complying with stringent practices to handle, recycle
and dispose of certain wastes. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations may result in the assessment of administrative,
civil and criminal penalties, the imposition of remedial or corrective obligations, the occurrence of delays or cancellations in the
permitting, performance or expansion of projects and the issuance of injunctive relief in affected areas. Certain of these laws and
regulations may impose joint and several, strict liability for environmental liabilities, such as the remediation of historical
contamination or recent spills, and failure to comply with such laws and regulations could result in the assessment of damages,
fines and penalties, the imposition of remedial or corrective action obligations, the occurrence of delays or cancellations in
permitting or development of projects, or the suspension or cessation of some or all of our operations. These stringent laws and
regulations could require us to acquire permits or other authorizations to conduct regulated activities, install and maintain costly
equipment and pollution control technologies, impose specific safety and health standards addressing work protection, or to
incur costs or liabilities to mitigate or remediate pollution conditions caused by our operations or attributable to former owners
or operators. Environmental laws and regulations, and their interpretation, frequently change, and have tended to become more
stringent over time. Our costs for compliance may not be fully recoverable from our clients and, thus, could reduce net income.
New, modified or stricter enforcement of environmental laws and regulations could be adopted or implemented that significantly
increase our compliance costs, pollution mitigation costs, or the cost of any remediation of environmental contamination that
may become necessary, and these costs could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operation, or cash flows. Additionally, our clients are also subject to many of the same laws and regulations relating to
environmental protection and occupational safety and health in the United States and in foreign countries where we operate. To
the extent existing environmental laws and regulations or any new or more stringently enforced environmental legal
requirements significantly increase our clients’ compliance costs, pollution mitigation costs or remedial costs, our clients could
elect to delay, restrict or cancel drilling, exploration or production programs, which could reduce demand for our products and
services and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows. Historically,
our worker safety compliance costs have not had a material adverse effect on our results of operations; however, there can be no
assurance that such costs will not be material in the future or that such future compliance will not have a material adverse effect
on our business or results of operations. Legislative and regulatory initiatives relating to oil and gas development and the



potential for related litigation could result in increased costs and additional operating restrictions or delays for our clients, which
could reduce demand for our products or services. Environmental laws and regulations could limit our clients’ exploration and
production activities. For example, hydraulic fracturing continues to attract considerable public and governmental attention, both
in the United States and in foreign countries, resulting in various controls applied to fracturing activities or locations where such
activities may be performed. Although we do not directly engage in drilling or hydraulic fracturing activities, we provide
products and services to operators in the oil and gas industry. Hydraulic fracturing is a process used by oil and gas exploration
and production operators in the completion of certain oil and gas wells whereby water, sand or other proppants and chemical
additives are injected under pressure into subsurface formations to stimulate gas and, to a lesser extent, oil production. Some
countries outside the United States, such as Bulgaria, the Czech Republic and France, currently have imposed moratoria on
hydraulic fracturing while other countries, such as Canada, allow fracturing activities but those activities are not as widely
pursued as they are in the United States. In the United States, the fracturing process is typically regulated by state oil and gas
commissions, but several federal agencies have asserted regulatory authority over certain aspects of the process. Certain A
growingnamber-ofstates have adopted or rand-etherstates-arc considering adopting, legal requirements that could impose
more stringent disclosure, permitting and / or well construction requirements on hydraulic fracturing operations, and local
governments may also seek to adopt ordinances within their jurisdictions regulating the time, place and manner of hydraulic
fracturing activities. U. S., foreign federal, regional, state or local governmental actions aimed at species conservation,
preventing hydraulic fracturing activities, or otherwise limiting oil and gas production in certain locations, could indirectly cause
us to incur additional costs, cause our or our oil and natural gas exploration and production customers’ operations to become
subject to operating restrictions or bans, result in new difficulties obtaining permits or other authorizations, and limit future
development activity in affected areas. To the extent any such existing or future legal requirements result in increased costs or
restrictions or cancellation in the operation of our clients, such developments could reduce demand for our products and services
and have an indirect material adverse effect on our business. See Part I, Item 1. Business, “ Environment and Climate ” and “
Occupational Safety and Health Regulations ” for further discussion on environmental and worker safety and health matters. We
are subject to compliance with governmental regulations associated with climate change, energy conservation measures, or
initiatives that stimulate demand for alternative forms of energy that could result in increased costs, limit the areas in which our
clients’ oil and natural gas production may occur and reduce demand for our services, which may adversely affect our business
and results of operations. Our clients in the oil and gas industry are also subject to many laws and regulations relating to
environmental and natural resource protection in the United States and in foreign countries where we operate, and many are
required to obtain permits and other authorizations for their operations. In particular, we, our third- party vendors that supply us
with goods and services in support of our business, and our clients are subject to an increased governmental, and public, political
and scientific attention focus on risks associated with the threat of climate change arising from the emission of greenhouse gases
(“ GHG ”). Various governments have adopted or are considering adopting legislation, regulations or other regulatory
initiatives, including the Paris Agreement, the Europe Climate Law, that are focused on such areas as GHG cap and trade
programs, carbon taxes, reporting and tracking programs, and restriction of emissions at national or local levels in jurisdictions
where we operate. Our and our clients” compliance with such existing, or any new or amended legal requirements that are
placed into effect and applicable in areas where we or our clients conduct operations, could result in our or our clients’ incurring
significant additional expense and operating restrictions. New or amended legislation, executive actions, regulations or other
regulatory initiatives that impose more stringent oil and gas sector requirements or fees on GHG emissions or restrict the areas
in which this sector may produce oil and natural gas or generate GHG emissions could result in increased compliance costs or
costs of producrng fossﬂ fuels. For example, in November 2024 the-5-S-, the EPA finalized the semec-ofouroil-and-gas
methane emissions beginningin-charge rule, implementing the Inflation
Reduction Act of 2624-2022 “ IRA 2022, ” which applies to oil and gas facilities emitting more than 25, 000 metric tons of
CO2 equivalent per year. If the methane emissions charge rule is implemented, it could increase our U. S. customers’
operating costs, and the fees and other requirements of the regulation could accelerate the transition away from fossil
fuels, which may in turn reduce demand for our products and services and adversely affect our business and results of
operations. As another example, in December 2023, the U. S. Environmental Protection Agency (*“ EPA 7) finalized more
stringent methane emissions rules for new, modified, and reconstructed facilities in the oil and gas sector, known as OOOOb, as
well as standards for existing sources for the first time ever, known as OOOOc which may increase operating costs for some of
our clients. Similarly, governments have and may continue to take actions to restrict where or how our clients are permitted to
operate. The requirements of the EPA’ s final methane rules and similar regulations for the oil and gas industry have the
potential to increase our clients’ operating costs and thus may adversely affect our financial results and cash flows. To
the extent that climate change alters weather patterns, it can therefere-impact the demand for our customers’ products. Our
operations and the operations of our customers are also susceptible to the physical effects of climate change, such as increased
frequency or severity of storm systems, hurricanes, droughts, floods, extreme winter weather, or geologic / geophysical
conditions. Such events can impact our operations directly and indirectly, and could also result in increased insurance costs.
Additionally, political, financial and litigation risks, as well as stakeholder pressures may result in our clients restricting,
delaying or canceling operational or production activities, incurring liability for infrastructure damages as a result of climatic
changes, restricting access to capital, or impairing the ability to continue to operate in an economic manner, which could reduce
demand for our products and services. Fuel conservation measures, alternative fuel requirements and increasing consumer
demand for, or legislative incentives supporting, alternative energy sources (such as wind, solar, geothermal and tidal) could
also reduce demand for oil and natural gas. The occurrence of one or more of these developments could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operation. Our customers may also face litigation risks based on
allocations of their contribution to climate change. Consequently, to the extent one or more of these climate- related events are



incurred by us, our third party vendors, or our clients, any of us could incur increased costs, we could incur disruptions to our
operations as a result of our vendor’ s inability to supply us with goods and services, and our clients in particular could elect to
delay, restrict or cancel drilling, exploration or production programs, which could reduce demand for our products and services,
any of which developments could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, or
cash flows. Increasing attention to environmental, social and governance (“ ESG ) matters may impact our business.
Regulations associated with ESG and sustainability have been, and are, being implemented and we anticipate that these
regulatory requirements will continue to expand in the European Union (“ EU ), the United States and globally, at all levels of
government and from private institutions and stakeholders. As a result, numerous regulatory initiatives have been made, and are
likely to continue to be made, to monitor and limit existing emissions of GHGs or implement laws, policies or regulatory
initiatives that may contribute to energy conservation measures, stimulate demand for alternative forms of energy or limit areas
where fossil fuel production may occur, which may translate into reduced demand for our services . The United States
Securities and Exchange Commission released its final rule on climate- related disclosures on March 6, 2024, requiring
the disclosure of certain climate- related risks and financial impacts, as well as GHG emissions. Under the rule, large
accelerated filers would be required to incorporate the applicable climate- related disclosures into their filings beginning
in fiscal year 2025, with additional requirements relating to the disclosure of Scope 1 and 2 greenhouse gas emissions, if
material, and attestation reports for certain large accelerated filers subsequently phasing in. However, the future of the
SEC climate rule is uncertain at this time given that its implementation has been stayed pending the outcome of legal
challenges; moreover, the Commission may seek to repeal the rule though we cannot predict whether such action will
occur or its timing. Business operations may also subject us or our customers to state- mandated climate disclosures. For
instance, the Climate- Related Financial Risk Act (“ CRFRA ”) in California requires the disclosure of a climate- related
financial risk report (in line with the Task Force on the Climate- related Financial Disclosures (“ TCFD *)
recommendations or equivalent disclosure requirements under the International Sustainability Standards Board’ s (*
ISSB ”) climate- relate disclosure standards) every other year for public and private companies that are “ doing business
in California ” and have total annual revenue of $ 500 million. Reporting under this law would begin in 2026 and the
ultimate impact of the law on our business is uncertain — the Governor of California has directed further consideration
of the implementation deadlines for each of the laws, and there is potential for legal challenges to be filed with respect to
the scope of the law — but, absent clarification or revisions to the law, alongside the SEC disclosure rule, finalization and
implementation may result in increased compliance costs and increased costs of and restrictions on access to capital .
Investor and societal expectations regarding voluntary ESG disclosures, and consumer demand for alternative forms of energy
may result in increased costs, reduced demand for our services, reduced profits, increased risks of governmental investigations
and private party litigation, and negative impacts on our stock price and access to capital markets. These pressures could have
similar impacts on our customers, and therefore, indirectly impact our operations by decreasing demand for our services. Our
managerial ESG Steering Team is the primary group for overseeing and managing our ESG initiatives. Team members review
the implementation and effectiveness of our ESG programs and policies and report on these matters to the Board of Directors.
While we have sought voluntary aspirational goals for GHG emission reductions from base year 2018, we note that even with
our governance oversight in place, we may not be able to adequately identify or manage ESG- related risks and opportunities,
which may include failing to achieve ESG- related aspirational goals. We have published voluntary disclosures regarding ESG
matters under an annual Sustainability Report and the Global Reporting Initiative, an international independent standards
organization. From time to time, statements in those voluntary disclosures may be based on aspirational expectations and
assumptions that may or may not be representative of current or actual risks or events or forecasts of expected risks or events,
including the costs associated therewith. Such expectations and assumptions may be prone to error or subject to
misinterpretation given the lack of an established single approach to identifying, measuring and reporting on many ESG matters.
We are subject to the physical effects of climate change, which may adversely affect our business and results of
operations. We operate from locations around the globe and provide services in coastal regions and coastal cities and
services related to marine shipping activities of our clients. These locations and activities are susceptible to the physical
effects of climate change, such as increased frequency or severity of tropical storm systems, hurricanes, droughts, floods,
extreme winter weather, or geologic / geophysical conditions that may result in: = decreased or lost production capacity; =
loss of or reduced supply chain availability; = temporary closure of locations due to electricity outages, damages or
disruptions caused by extreme weather events; = displacement of employees; and = increase in premium for or reduced
ability to obtain insurance for property, business interruption and liability. See Item 1A. Risk Factors, “ Risk factors
associated with health, safety and the environment ” for further discussion on environmental matters. Risk factors
associated with our common stock Provisions in our certificate of incorporation, bylaws and Delaware law may discourage a
takeover attempt even if a takeover might be beneficial to our stockholders. Provisions contained in our Certificate of
Incorporation and our Bylaws, which we refer to herein as our “ certificate of incorporation ” and “ bylaws, ” respectively, could
make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us. Provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws impose various
procedural and other requirements, which could make it more difficult for stockholders to effect certain corporate actions. For
example, our certificate of incorporation authorizes our board of directors to determine the rights, preferences, privileges and
restrictions of unissued series of preferred stock without any vote or action by our stockholders. Thus, our board of directors can
authorize and issue shares of preferred stock with voting or conversion rights that could adversely affect the voting or other
rights of holders of our capital stock. These rights may have the effect of delaying or deterring a change of control of our
company. Additionally, our bylaws establish limitations on the removal of directors and on the ability of our stockholders to call
special meetings and include advance notice requirements for nominations for election to our board of directors and for
proposing matters that can be acted upon at stockholder meetings. These provisions could limit the price that certain investors



might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock. Our certificate of incorporation designates the Court of
Chancery of the State of Delaware as the sole and exclusive forum for certain types of actions and proceedings that may be
initiated by our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us
or our directors, officers, employees or agents. Our certificate of incorporation provides that, unless we consent in writing to the
selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will, to the fullest extent permitted by
applicable law, be the sole and exclusive forum for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (ii) any action
asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers, employees or agents to us or our
stockholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim against us or any director or officer or other employee or agent of ours arising
pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General Corporation Law, our certificate of incorporation or our bylaws, or (iv) any
action asserting a claim against us or any director or officer or other employee or agent of ours that is governed by the internal
affairs doctrine, in each such case subject to such Court of Chancery having personal jurisdiction over the indispensable parties
named as defendants therein. The exclusive forum provision would not apply to suits brought to enforce any liability or duty
created by the Securities Act or the Exchange Act or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction. To
the extent that any such claims may be based upon federal law claims, Section 27 of the Exchange Act creates exclusive federal
jurisdiction over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations
thereunder. Furthermore, Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all suits
brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. The enforceability
of similar choice of forum provisions in other companies’ certificates of incorporation or similar governing documents has been
challenged in legal proceedings, and it is possible that a court could find the choice of forum provisions contained in our
certificate of incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable, including with respect to claims arising under the U. S. federal
securities laws. Risk factors associated with the Redomestication Transaction The expected benefits of the Redomestication
Transaction may not be realized. There can be no assurance that all of the anticipated benefits of the Redomestication
Transaction will be achieved. Achieving the anticipated benefits of the Redomestication Transaction is subject to a number of
risks and uncertainties, including factors that we do not and cannot control. In addition, if the expected benefits of the
Redomestication Transaction do not meet expectations of investors or securities analysts, the price of our common stock may
decline. If the Redomestication Transaction does not qualify as a “ reorganization ” under Section 368 (a) of the U. S. Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, Core Lab Shareholders may be required to pay U. S. federal income taxes. It is intended
that the steps in the Redomestication Transaction qualify as a form of “ reorganization ”” within the meaning of Section 368 (a)
of'the U. S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the *“ Code ). Although Vinson & Elkins L. L. P., Core Lab’ s U. S.
tax counsel, provided an is-enrrently-ofthe-opinion that the Redomestication Transaction should qualify as a form of
reorganization within the meaning of Section 368 (a) of the Code, and Core Laboratories N. V., Core Laboratories Luxembourg
S. A. and Core Laboratories Inc. may have or intend to file tax returns consistent with this intended tax treatment, this tax
treatment is not free from doubt. Your tax advisor may not agree with our intended tax treatment and the IRS may assert, or a
court may sustain, a contrary position. If the Redomestication Transaction did not qualify as a form of reorganization within the
meaning of Section 368 (a) of the Code, Core Lab Shareholders would generally recognize taxable gain or loss upon their
exchange of stock pursuant to the Redomestication Transaction, as applicable. ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF
COMMENTS None. ITEM 1C. €¥BERSECHRITFY-CYBERSECURITYThe Fhe-Company maintains information systems
which contain personal data, financial reports and proprietary data. As a result, we are exposed to cybersecurity threats which
could result in loss of or damage to our intellectual property, proprietary information, client data and reputation, or interruption
of our business operations, or additional costs to prevent, respond to, or mitigate cyber- attacks. Our Board of Directors is
responsible for oversight of the risks that the Company faces, including cybersecurity threats. Our operating divisions and
management teams help identify risks that are relevant to the Company during our periodic business planning and review cycle
and rank these risks in relation to the achievement of business objectives. We understand cybersecurity threats to be dynamic
and to intersect with various other enterprise risks within the organization. We have therefore integrated cybersecurity risk into
our overall risk management program. As a result, in addition to our information technology policies and procedures, we have
implemented cybersecurity processes that aim to address, among other things, information security, password security, third
party vetting, security incident response and vulnerability management. Our cybersecurity procedures include requiring multiple
authentication factors prior to granting access to our assets, launching endpoint security software to guard against malware,
viruses, and other cyber- attacks, use of third- party software to automate IT system monitoring for unusual or suspicious
activity, conducting annual cybersecurity training for all employees, and providing cybersecurity information to employees
through newsletters and fliers. We utilize third- party consultants to assist us with endpoint detection and response and routinely
conduct penetration testing of our network infrastructure. Our consultants also provide digital forensics analysis of our systems,
as needed. Additionally, we have sought to align our cybersecurity risk management in accordance with the National Institute of
Standards and Technology Cybersecurity Framework. We recognize that third- party service providers may introduce
cybersecurity risks. In an effort to mitigate these risks, we assess third party cybersecurity controls through a cybersecurity
questionnaire and include security and privacy addendums to our contracts where applicable. We have established a permanent
management position of Director of Cybersecurity and IT Governance that reports directly to the Chief Financial Officer. Our
current Director of Cybersecurity and IT Governance, has an undergraduate degree in computer science and is a Certified
Information Systems Security Professional. He possesses over 20 years of IT experience with more than 10 years in managerial
positions and has been actively involved in IT security related projects, initiatives, audits and associated program management
in the last seven years. As part of our cybersecurity incident response plan, we have established a dedicated incident response
team to assess and manage risks arising from cybersecurity threats, consisting of our Director of Cybersecurity and IT
Governance and various members of senior management, including our Chief Financial Officer and General Counsel. The



Company also maintains an IT Steering Committee as part of its control environment, which meets regularly to address matters
pertaining to the Company’ s information technology systems. The IT Steering Committee is led by the Company’ s three IT
directors, one of which is the Director of Cybersecurity and IT Governance, and is represented by leaders from corporate
departments and operations. In each meeting, the Director of Cybersecurity and IT Governance provides an overview of
cybersecurity matters, including status update on threat reduction initiatives undertaken by the Company and future initiatives
under consideration. The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing our cybersecurity threat risks and receives updates
during its quarterly meetings from our Director of Cybersecurity and IT Governance. At each meeting, the Audit Committee is
briefed on matters pertaining to our exposure to material privacy and cybersecurity risks, as well as risks that are deemed to have
a moderate or higher business impact, even if immaterial. The Director of Cybersecurity and IT Governance also routinely briefs
senior management on such matters as they arise. In addition, we have established a Data Privacy Committee coordinated by our
Data Privacy Officer and represented by seven other committee members from various corporate functional departments. The
objective of the Committee is to ensure that personal data is protected and handled in accordance with applicable law and Core
Lab policies. As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10- K, we are not aware of any cybersecurity incident or
cybersecurity threat that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our business strategy, results of
operations or financial condition. However, we understand that cybersecurity threats are continually evolving, and the
possibility of future discovery of cybersecurity incidents remains. Please see “ Item 1A. Risk Factors  for additional
information about cybersecurity risks. ITEM 2. PROPERTIES Currently, we have over 70 offices (totaling approximately 3. 2-1
million square feet of space) in more than 50 countries. In these locations, we lease approximately 1. 5-4 million square feet and
own approximately 1. 7 million square feet. We serve our worldwide clients through five Advanced Technology Centers (*
ATCs ”) that are located in Aberdeen, Scotland; Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates; Houston, Texas; Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia;
and Rotterdam, The Netherlands. The ATCs provide support for our more than 50 regional specialty centers located throughout
the global energy producing provinces. In addition, our more significant manufacturing facilities are located in Frépillon,
France, Godley, Texas, Red Deer, Alberta, Canada , and Pyle, Wales which are included in our Production Enhancement
operating segment. Our facilities are adequate for our current operations; however, expansion into new facilities or the
replacement or modification of existing facilities may be required to accommodate future growth. ITEM 3. LEGAL
PROCEEDINGS See Note 13- Commitments and Contingencies of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. ITEM 4.
MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES Not applicable. PART II ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’ S COMMON EQUITY,
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES Price Range of Common
Stock Our common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange (“ NYSE ”) under the symbol “ CLB . On January 31, 2624
2025 , the closing price, as quoted by the NYSE, was § 45-16 . 7797 per share and there were 46, 856-826 , 536-820 shares of
common stock issued and outstanding held by approximately +95-176 record holders. These amounts exclude shares held by us
as treasury stock. See Part III, *“ Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder Matters ™ for discussion of equity compensation plans. Performance Graph The following performance graph
compares the performance of our common stock to the Standard & Poor’ s 500 Index and the Philadelphia Oil Service Index (*
OSX ”) for the period beginning December 31, 2648-2019 and ending December 31, 2623-2024 . Core Lab is now an
established member of the OSX which includes a greater concentration of our most direct peers. The graph assumes that the
value of the investment in our common shares and each index was $ 100 at December 31, 20482019 and that all dividends were
reinvested. The stockholder return set forth below is not necessarily indicative of future performance. The following graph and
related information is *“ furnished ”” and shall not be deemed * soliciting material ” or to be “ filed ” with the SEC, nor shall such
information be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended (the “ Exchange Act ) except to the extent that Core Laboratories specifically incorporates it by reference
into such filing. Share Repurchases in the Fourth Quarter of 2623-2024 The following table provides information about our
purchases of equity securities that are registered by us pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act during the three months
ended December 31, 2623-2024 : Period Total Number-Numberof of SharesPurehased-SharesPurchased Average PricePaid
Pﬂee—Patd—PeﬁShafe-PerShare Total Number of SharesPurehased-SharesPurchased as Part of aPubliely-aPublicly
AnnouncedProgram AnnouneedProgram-Maximum Number ef-Shares-ofShares that may be-yet Puarehased-bePurchased
Under the-Pregram-theProgram (2)-October | - 72023-te-Oetober3 |, 2023-2024 (1) H-21 , H8-829 §23-19 . 9922 — —4;
672858 November | -2023-teNovember-30, 2023-2024 (1) +52 , 434136 $ 26-19 . 8264 — — 4-67+-864-December | -5
2023-to-Deeember-3 |, 2023-2024 (1) 84-191 , 499-$17017 $ 18 . 6712 — — 4615835 Total 96264 , 75+982 $ 18.43-51 —
(1) During the quarter, 36-87 , #5766 shares were surrendered to us by participants in a stock- based compensation plan to
settle any personal tax liabilities which may result from the award (—29—Add1t10nally, we purchased 1717, 216 shares in the
open market During-during the quarter 3 vere & ; ehadin
492—m—9ef0ber—2—8%9—m—Neveﬁ&beﬁaﬁd—3—7—7§—tﬁ49€eeﬁ&ber— In connection Wrth our 1n1t1a1 pubhc offerrng in September 1995
prior to the Redomestication Transaction and under Dutch law requirements, our shareholders authorized management to
repurchase up to 10 % of our issued share capital, for a period of 18 months. This authorization was renewed at subsequent
annual or special shareholder meetings. Subsequent to the Redomestication Transaction in May 2023, shareholder approval is
not required under U. S. or Delaware law and the repurchase of shares in the open market is at the discretion of our Board of
Directors and management. From the activation of the share repurchase program through December 31, 2023-2024 , we have
repurchased 40, 379-666 , 635075 shares for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $ 1. 7 blIIlOl’l or an average price of
$ 41. 2—8—12 per share At December 31, 292—3—2024 we held -82—140 92—1—048 shares in treasury aﬂd—have—t-he—&&ﬂieﬂ?y—te

RESERVED ] ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’ S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS Core Laboratories Inc. is a Delaware corporation. We were established in 1936 and are one of



the world’ s leading providers of proprietary and patented reservoir description and production enhancement services and
products to the oil and gas industry, primarily through client relationships with many of the world” s major, national and
independent oil companies. On May 1, 2023, Core Laboratories N. V. completed its previously announced redomestication
transaction (the “ Redomestication Transaction ), which ineluded-i)-through a series of steps, resulted in the merger {the—
Metrger>-of Core Laboratories N. V., a holding company in the Netherlands, with and into Core Laboratories Luxembourg
S. A., a public limited liability company incorporated under the laws of Luxembourg, with Core Laboratories Luxembourg S. A.
surviving, and subsequently {i-fellewing-the-eompletiorroftheMerger;-the migration of Core Laboratories Luxembourg S. A.
out of Luxembourg and its domestication as Core Laboratories Inc., a Delaware corporation. The As-a-resalt-ofthe
Redomestication Transaction ;-aH-has been accounted for as a transaction between entities under common shares-control.
There is no difference between the combined separate entities prior to the Redomestication Transaction and the
combined separate entities after the Redomestication Transaction with respect to the consolidated financial statements;
therefore, comparative information reported in these financial statements do not differ from amounts previously
reported under Core Laboratories N. V.’ s consolidated financial statements swere-eaneeted-and-exchanged-foreommon
stoelin-Core-Laboratories Luxembourg-S- These financial statements should be read in conjunction with A—en-a-one—for-
ﬁﬁe—basts—Fefmefhe}defs—e#Core Laboratorleq N. V. eeﬁ&men—s-hafes-new—he}d- s Quarterly Report erre-- on Form 10- Q

0 e-Laborato orHme e-S—A--for each-the three months

ended March 31 2023 and Core Laboratories N V eenﬂﬁeﬁ—sh&fe—ewed—rmmed-t&tebl-pﬂer—te- s Annual Report on Form
10- K for the year ended December 31 CONSHT 1o 2022 a-nd—t-he—busmes‘s— 1nclud1ng

aterents sarding-the A . We operate our business in two segments.
These complementary operatlng %egments prov1de dlfferent services and products and utilize different technologies for
evaluating and improving reservoir performance and increasing oil and gas recovery from new and existing fields: « Reservoir
Description: Encompasses the characterization of petroleum reservoir rock and reservoir fluids samples to increase production
and improve recovery of crude oil and natural gas from our clients’ reservoirs. We provide laboratory- based analytical and field
services to characterize properties of crude oil and crude oil- derived products to the oil and gas industry. Services associated
with these fluids include determining the quality and measuring the quantity of the reservoir fluids and their derived products,
such as gasoline, diesel and biofuels. We also provide proprietary and joint industry studies based on these types of analyses and
manufacture associated laboratory equipment. In addition, we provide reservoir description capabilities that support various
activities associated with energy transition projects, including services that support carbon capture, utilization and storage,
geothermal projects, and the evaluation and appraisal of mining activities around lithium and other elements necessary for
energy storage. * Production Enhancement: Includes services and manufactured products associated with reservoir well
completions, perforations, stimulation, production and well abandonment. We provide integrated diagnostic services to evaluate
and monitor the effectiveness of well completions and to develop solutions aimed at increasing the effectiveness of enhanced oil
recovery projects. General Overview We provide services as well as design and produce products which enable our clients to
evaluate and improve reservoir performance and increase oil and gas recovery from new and existing fields. These services and
products are generally in higher demand when our clients are investing capital in their field development programs that are
designed to increase productivity from existing fields or when exploring for, appraising and developing new fields. Our clients’
investment in capital expenditure programs tends to correlate over the longer term to oil and natural gas commodity prices.
During periods of higher, stable prices, our clients generally invest more in capital expenditures and, during periods of lower or
volatile commodity prices, they tend to invest less. Consequently, the level of capital expenditures by our clients impacts the
demand for our services and products. The following table summarizes the annual average and year- end worldwide and U. S.
rig counts for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 and-2624-, as well as the annual average and year- end spot
price of a barrel of WTI crude, Europe Brent crude and a MMBtu of natural gas: Baker Hughes Worldwide Average Rig Count
(1) 1,735 1, 814 1, 747 +;.362-Baker Hughes U. S. Average Rig Count (1) Baker Hughes U. S. Land- based Average Rig Count
(1) Baker Hughes Worldwide Year- End Rig Count (2) 1, 660 1, 739 1, 835 +5563-Baker Hughes U. S. Year- End Rig Count (2)
Baker Hughes U. S. Land- based Year- End Rig Count (2) Average Crude Oil Price per Barrel WTI (3) $ 76. 63 $ 77. 58 $ 94.
90 $-68—34-Average Crude Oil Price per Barrel Brent (4) $ 80.52 $ 82. 49 $ 100. 93 $78--86-Average Natural Gas Price per
MMBtu (5) $2.19$2.52 $ 6. 45 $3-89-Year- end Crude Oil Price per Barrel WTI (3) $ 72.44 $ 71. 89 $ 80. 16 $#5-33
Year- end Crude Oil Price per Barrel Brent (4) $ 74. 58 $ 77. 69 § 82. 82 $7%-24-Year- end Natural Gas Price per MMBtu (5) $
3.408$2. 58 $ 3. 52 $3-82(1) Twelve month average rig count as reported by Baker Hughes- Worldwide Rig Count. (2) Year-
end rig count as reported by Baker Hughes- Worldwide Rig Count. (3) Average daily and year- end West Texas Intermediate ("
WTI") crude spot price as reported by the U. S. Energy Information Administration (" EIA"). (4) Average daily and year- end
Europe Brent crude spot price as reported by the EIA. (5) Average daily and year- end Henry Hub natural gas spot price as
reported by the EIA. In general, activities associated with the exploration of oil and gas in the U. S. onshore market are more
sensitive to changes in the crude- oil commodity prices, as opposed to larger international and offshore projects which take
multiple years to plan and develop 5. These international and offshore projects once announced and started, will continue

through completlon desplte Changes in the current price of crude 011 The I-n%@%—l—efude—eﬂ—pﬂees—feeevered—freﬁﬁ-he—pfeﬂeus

geopohtlcal conﬂlct between Russia and Ukralne that ef&pfed—began in
February 2022, caused dlqruptlonq to tradltlonal maritime supply chains associated with the movement of crude oil, initially



reducing the level of crude oil sourced from Russia and being imported into various European ports. The disruptions to
traditional maritime supply chains of crude oil and derived products, such as diesel fuel, and associated sanctions imposed on
maritime exports of these products out of Russia caused significant volatility in both the prices and trading patterns of these
products during 2022 and into 2023. As a result, average crude- oil prices were elevated during 2022, but have since decreased
and-mederated-, moderating in 2023 and stabilizing in 2024 . The maritime supply chains associated with the movement of
crude oil have continued to realign and stabilize threughoutin 2023 and 2024 , which kas-reduced some of the volatility in
crude- oil prices —Core-Lab-expeetserade—oi-supply tines-to-remaitr, however, expanded sanctions were issued in January
2025, which have resulted in more stable;altheughthe-recent elevated prices and uncertainty. The conflict thaterupted-in
the Middle East that began in October 2023 has resulted in additional disruptions in the movement and trading of crude oil
which stiH-eentinae-continued throughout 2024 . The Company' s volume of associated laboratory services is expeeted-to-be
commensurate with the trading and movement of crude- oil into Europe, the Middle East, Asia and across the globe. However,
the United States, the European Union, the United Kingdom and other countries may implement additional sanctions, export
controls or other measures against Russia, Belarus and other countries, regions, officials, individuals or industries in the
respective territories. We have no way to predict the progress or outcome of these events, and any resulting government
responses are fluid and beyond our control. According to the latest International Energy Agency’ s report, the current global
demand for crude oil and natural gas remains at a high-moderate level though the growth momentum is expected to slow down
in 2624-2025 due to further weakening of the macroeconomic climate, as Gross Domestic Product ( * GDP ”') growth stays
below trend in major economies, including China. Coming-outofthe-COVID-—9pandemte;-U. S. land drilling and completion
activities improved in during2024-and-strengthened-througheut2022, however, activity decreased during 2023 and continued
to decrease throughout 2024 . Since April 2023, the U. S. land- based rig count has continuously declined resulting in a 245
% reduction as at-the-end-of December 31, 2024 compared to December 31, 2023 eompared-to2022;-assome-drithing
eperators-ett-backnew-drithngprojeets-. Information published by the EIA, shows that the inventory of wells drilled but
uncompleted (a = DUC ” well) in the U. S., was 5, 899-825 as of December 31, 20242023 , and declined to 4-5 , 238 577-and4;
3H4-at end of 2622-2024 and-2023;respeetively-. This data indicates that during the period of higher activity, operators were
drilling wells but not completing them as the DUC inventory grew. As activity levels began to decline, operators began to drill
fewer new wells and were completing some of the wells that had been previously drilled but not completed. As drilling and
completion activity levels begantoreeoverinthe-seeond-half-of2024whieh-continued #12022-and-to decline from 2023 to
2024 , the number of wells completed continued to outpace the number of new wells drilled during these periods. In the U. S.,
the land- based average fand—based-rig count -rnefeased-decreased app1 ox1mately 53—5 % from %92—1—&0—2022 to 2023 prlmarlly

as-dritlingaetivity-aeeelerated-duc to a significant decline the v
t —in %%—U—S—}&nd-d-ﬂ-l-hﬂg—aeﬁﬂtydeefeased-as—natural gas prices deehﬂed-sign-i-ﬁeaﬂﬂy—and-
Addltlonally, efficiencies gains in drilling and completing wells allowed operators to complete their 2023-drilling programs
ahead of their original schedule. Fhis-Average natural gas prices continued to decline by approximately 13 % in 2024
compared to 2023, and as a resuted—- result in-the U. S. land- based average rig count decreased by a similar level in
deefeas&ﬁg—appfe*nﬁate}}%—%rat—ﬂae—eﬂd-ef%@%2024 from-the-end-of2022;,-as-diseussed-above-. Demand for product sales
and associated services will typically change in tandem with the Changes in the rlg count and as%ocmted drllllng and completlon
activity. Outside of the U. S., international average rig count aetivities-assoetate p e
ﬁﬁ-a-}se—ehowed an increase of approx1mately 6 % in 2023 from 2022 aﬁd- however, subsequently remamed flat in %92—3

commonly announced through F inal Investment Decisions and %ubqequently initiated are not as %u%ceptlble or at- risk to delay or
suspension due to short- term volatility in crude- oil commodity prices. The Company has maintained its annual capital
expenditures between $ 10. 0 million and $ 13. 5-0 million during the years 262452022 and-, 2023 and 2024 , which is
significantly reduced from average annual capital expenditures in years prior to the pandemic. Results of Operations Operating
Results for the Year Ended December 31, 2023-2024 Compared to the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and2024-We
evaluate our operating results by analyzing revenue, operating income and operating income margin (defined as operating
income divided by total revenue). Since we have a relatively fixed cost structure, decreases in revenue generally translate into
lower operating income results. Results for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 -and 2022 and-2624-are summarized in
the following chart. Results of operations as a percentage of applicable revenue for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 5
and 2022 and-202+-are as follows (in thousands, except for per share information): 2024 /2023 2023 / 2022 2022-+2024+-%
Change REVENUE: Services $ 388,205 74.1 % $ 371,914 73.0 % $ 346, 974 70. 8 % 4 $344;:342-73- 24 % 7. 2 %6-8%
Product sales 135, 643 25.9 % 137, 876 27. 0 % 142,761 29. 2 % (1 425794626~ 8-6) % (3. 4) %43—4-% Total revenue 523,
848 100. 0 % 509, 790 100. 0 % 489, 735 100. 0 % 2 470;2521460-. 8 6-%4—+" 4. | % OPERATING EXPENSES: Cost of
services * (1) 297,324 76. 6 % 282, 135 75.9 % 274,297 79. 1 % 5 267-64+F7F. 74 % 2. 9 %25% Cost of product sales *
(1)123,19890.8 % 117,822 85.5% 119, 358 83. 6 % 4 +06;255F9-. 6 % (1. 3) %49 Total cost of services and product
sales 420, 522 80. 3 % 399, 957 78. 5 % 393, 655 80. 4 % 5 36789678 21 % 1. 6 % F6%-General and administrative
expense (1) 39,770 7.6 % 40,259 7.9 % 38, 117 7.8 % (1 4431739 42) % 5. 6 % 43-Depreciation and amortization 14,
953 2 . 9 A% Depreetation-and-amortizatton-15, 784 3. 1 % 17, 161 3. 5 % 4854+6-(5. 3 ) =9-% (8. 0 3%+F3-) % Other
(income) expense, net (9, 953) (1. 9) % (850) (0. 2) % (722) (0. 1 ¥F%5595-—=2) % NM NM OPERATING INCOME 58,
556 11.2 % 54, 640 10. 7 % 41, 524 8.5 % T 45;2629-. 62 % 3 1. 6 %8—3)% Interest expense 12,369 2.4 % 13,430 2. 6 %
11,5702.4% (7.9 )s4524+9% 16. 1 %26—4-"% Income before income taxes 46, 187 8.8 % 41,210 8. 1 % 29,954 6. 1 % 12
36;HO0-F F1 % 37. 6 %-FF0)>"% Income tax expense 14,034 2.7 % 4, 185 0. 8 % 10,296 2. 1 % 235. 45893 % (59 . 4 %
B94%352) % Net income 32,153 6. 1 % 37, 025 7.3 % 19, 658 4. 0 % (13 26;2494-. 3-2) % 88. 3 %2-8)1"% Net



income attributable to non- controlling interest 0. 1 % —0. 1 % — NM NM Net income attributable to Core Laboratories Inc. $
31,400 6.0 % $ 36,675 7.2 % $ 19,453 4.0 % (14. $3957294 ) 2% 88. 5 %-—4-% Diluted earnings per share $ 0. 67 $ 0.
78 $ 0. 42 $6-(14 . 43-1) % 85. 7 %+2-3)% Diluted earnings per share attributable to Core Laboratories Inc. $ 0. 66 $ 0. 77 $ 0.
42 $6-(14 . 42-3) % 83. 3 9%0-0-% Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 47, 685 47, 523 46, 813 46;696
Other Data: Current ratio (2) 2. 32: 12.53: 1 2. 05: 1 2Debt to EBITDA ratio (3) 1 . 68-37 : | Bebtto EBHDAratie3)-2. | 1:
1 2. 68: 1 2-70-+Debt to Adjusted EBITDA ratio (4) 1.31: 1 1. 76: 1 2. 29 +3+2-908- 1 * Percentage based on applicable
revenue rather than total revenue." NM" means not meaningful. (1) Excludes depreciation. (2) Current ratio is calculated as
follows: current assets divided by current liabilities. (3) Debt to EBITDA ratio is calculated as follows: debt less cash divided by
the sum of consolidated net income plus interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization. (4) Debt to Adjusted EBITDA ratio is
calculated as follows: debt less cash divided by the sum of consolidated net income plus interest, taxes, depreciation,
amortization, severance, and certain non- cash adjustments. Service Revenue Service revenue is primarily tied to activities
associated with the exploration, production, movement and refinement of oil, gas and derived products outside the U. S. Service
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 , was $§ 374388 . 9-2 million, an increase of #4 % compared to 2622-2023
. The increase was due to growth in activity levels in both U. S. and international markets. ©ver-Approximately 70 % of service
revenue is generated from international markets —4#-, and in 2623-2024 , growth occurred in several international markets ,

primarily ineludingthe-reeovery-of serviees-in the-European— Europe regieﬂ—T—he—Russra— Africa and Asia Pacific, despite
the headwmds from the on - Hkra-rne—gomg ceopohtlcal eeﬂﬂ-tet—conﬂlcts prev1ously dlscussed t-hat—beg&n—m—Febfuary—Z’-eQ—z—

feahgned-&ﬂd—sﬁtbrh*zed-m%%— The increase in U. S. eperat-tens—servrce revenue in 2024 compared to 2023, benehted from

continued growing client activity from 2023 into 2024, for our reservoir core and reservoir fluids analysis services on projects
from across the globe that are often conducted in our advanced technology center located in Houston, Texas, as well as a
growing demand for CCS projects. Well completion diagnostic services in the U. S. market also showed strong growth in
2024 compared to 2023 although some well diagnostic projects in the Gulf of Mexico were delayed due to multiple
hurricanes during 2024. Service revenue for the year ended December 31, 2023, was $ 371. 9 million, increased by 7 %
compared to 2022 . In 2023 , the increase was due -$—347—9—Hn-1-heﬂ—rel-a-twel-y—ﬂat—eerﬂpared-to 262+-growth in activity levels
in both U . -B-tSﬂ:lpﬁeﬂS—feSﬂ-]-&ﬂg—S and international markets. The growth occurred in several international markets
including the recovery of services in the European region. The increase in U. S. operations benefited {rom the-COVD-—9
pandemtie-started-to-ease;-growing client activity year over year for our reservoir core and reservoir fluids analysis services

on pr0]ects from across the globe, as well as a growmg demand for CCS pr0]ects erude—eﬂ-pregresswel—y—rnereased—dﬂrmg

equally tied to the completlon of onshore A% ells in the U. S. dnd mtematlondl activ 1t1es Product sales to the U S. onshore
markets are generally delivered more frequently and in smaller quantities . versus product sales to international
markets which are typically shipped and delivered in bulk and the timing of delivery can vary from one period to
another. Product sales revenue for the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 , was $ 437135 . 9-6 million, a decrease of 3-2 %
compared to 2622-2023 . The decline in our product sales revenue is primarily associated with the activity decline in the U. S.
onshore market, WheIe the U S.land - based average rlg count decreased 2—1—13 % at—t-he—eﬂd—e-f—ln 2024 compared to 2023

Ploduct sales revenue for the year ended December 31, %922—2023 was ‘{> -1-42—137 -8—9 m11110n afra -rnefeas&decrease of -1-3—3
% compmed to %92—1—2022 The -rnerease—decrease in product sales W‘h‘teh-ls prlmauly drlven by the decline irelude

W ets ; S v srovwth-in both-the U. S.
onshore ﬂﬂd—rﬁfeﬂ‘lﬂ-ﬁeﬁa-l—ﬂ‘l&l‘kefs—e market where the U. S. land- based average rig count decreased by S % in 2023
compared to 2022 . Cost of Services, excluding depreciation Cost of services for the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 was $
282297 . +3 million, an increase of 3-5 % compared to 26222023 , which eerresponded-te-is slightly higher than the change in
service revenue. Cost of services for the year ended December 31, %92—2—2023 was $§ 274-282 . 3-1 million, an increase of 2-3 %
compared to 26242022 which-eorresponded-with-the-ehange-ir. Cost of servrces expressed asa percentage of serv 1ce

revenue —Additionally;-during-increased to 77 % in 2622-2024 th y
benefitcompared to 76 % in 2023. The slight increase in eests— cost fesu-}ted—m—of services as a percentage of service

revenue in 2024, was primarily associated with higher employee compensation and higher operating eost-costs as a result
of additional costs incurred due to the fire incident at one of our U. K. facilities. The additional costs and loss of income
from business interruption were substantially covered by insurance proceeds recorded in Other (income) expense, net .
Cost of services expressed as a percentage of service revenue improved to 76 % in 2023 from 79 % in 2022. Improvement in cost
of services as a percentdoe of service revenue m 2023 was prlmarlly associated with 1mpr0ved utlllZdthn of our (’]Obdl

Gest—e-ﬁPloclLlct Sales excludms_ deplecmtlon Cost of product sales f01 the year ended Decembe1 31 %92—3—2024 was ‘{> -1—1—7—123
8-2 million, a-an deerease-increase of +5 % compared to 2622-2023 and cost of —Whieh—eeﬁespeﬂded-te—t-he—deefease—m
product sales as a percentage of sales revenue increased to 91 % in 2024 from 86 % in 2023. Both were driven primarily
by certain inventory and other related asset write- downs of approximately $ 3. 3 million in 2024 . Cost of product sales



for the yedr ended Decembe1 31, %922—2023 was ‘{> -1—1-9—117 4—8 million, an-a -rnefease—decrease of 151 % compared to %92—1—

2022—Cestof product sales expressed as a pelcentd;:e of ploduet sales revenue mcreased to approximately 86 % in 2023 from 84
% n 7022 ,—was— Both were pnmduly due to inflation in material costs throughout 2023 and hleher absorption of f1xed costs on

and Administrative Expense exeludmg, depreuanon (Jeneral and ddmnnsndtwe “G& A ) expense mcludes cmporate
management and cenndhzed ddmnnsndtwe serv 1ees that beneht our operatlons G&A expense was b 49—39 -3—8 million in

eempensa-t—ten—expense—ef—&é— 5 million m—%@%?v—eempared—te%—?v— The decrease is 9—ﬂﬁ-ﬂ-1-leﬁ—tﬂ%92—2—W-l‘neh—W&S—ds%Oleted

with lower employee t-he—aeeeler—ated—steel&compensatlon costs, which were substantlally offset by increases in costs

ntHie eompared i i partiatly - aﬂet—garn—globalhuman
capltal management system and a thlrd- party assessment of -$£—9—m1-l-l-teﬂ—frem—the eeﬁrpany—Company s IT

in %92—2—2023 deefe&sed—l-4-an increase of 6 % or $ 6—2 1 m11110n compmed to %92—1—2022 The deefease—lncrease is primarily
due to chdns,es in value of company owned life i insurance and stock compensdtlon expense dunng the period and-nelades

FAP COMpPEnsa oS Ag . See Note 17 Stocl ased C ompensatlon 01‘ the Notes to the
C onsohddted Fmdncml Statements for further deta]ls Depreciation and Amortization Depreciation and amortization expense for
the year ended December 31, 2023-2024 was $ 15. 8-0 million, a decrease from $ 15. 8 million and $ 17. 2 million and-$48-"5
mithen-in 2023 and 2022 and202+-, respectively - The decrease in 2024 and are-2023 is associated with assets which
became fully depreciated and lower levels of capital expenditures #262+threugh2023- Other (Income) Expense, net The
components of other (income) expense, net are as follows (in thousands): For the Years Ended December 31, Gain on sale of
assets $ (1,779) $ (200) $ (1, 068 3$-427) Results of non- consolidated subsidiaries ( 236) (394) (294 362-) Foreign
exchange (gain) loss, net 228)-1, 197 Rents and royalties ( 1, 922) (698) (709 3H57) Return on pension assets and other

pension costs (1, 178) (1, 365) (545 3366-) Loss on lease abandonment and other exit costs 1, 146 — —Assets write- down 1,
1101, 143 — Insurance and other settlements @8, 432) (604) (669) Severance and other charges — 88 332 ATM termination
costs — — In 6

btts-rness—&l—@-l%—()thel net (397) ( 5()9) (998 )—675—3—) Total othe1 (mcome) expense, net $ ( 9 953) $ ( 85()) $ (722) $65;

595¥In 2024 and 2022, we sold ewr-certain ownership interest in mineral rights of certain properties for a net gain of $ 1. 4
million and $ 0. 7 million , respectively, which is included in gain on sale of assets. During the years ended December 31,
2024 and 2023, we abandoned certain leases in the U. S. and Canada and incurred lease abandonment and other exit
costs of $ 0. 7 million and $ 1. 1 million, respectively. As a result of consolidating and exiting these facilities, the
associated leasehold improvements, right of use assets and other assets of $ 1. 1 million and $ 1. 1 million were
abandoned and expensed during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. In February 2024, we had a
fire incident at one of our U. K. facilities and we have recorded partial settlements and certain net gains from insurance
recovery of $ 8. 4 million during the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 we-abandoned-eettairreasesinthe-YU-. S—and
Canada-and-Amounts associated with partial settlement for costs incurred eests-and loss of income from business
interruption are $ +4 . +0 million, —We—integfated—and feleeated—&tese—faeﬂ-rﬁes—net gains associated with property, plant
and equipment are wrote-do atedeaseho APTOv s-of$ +4 . +4 million. During the year
ended December 31, 2023, we wrote off previously detened costs of $ () 5 m11110n upon termination of our 2022 at- the-
market offering (“ ATM Program ») . See Note 14- Equity for additional information. During the year ended December 31,
2023, the State of Louisiana expropriated the access IOdd to one of our fac111t1es and pdld us a settlement of $ 0. 6 million.
Durmg the year ended December 31, The? m i

ﬁerm-pﬁeﬁs—aﬂd-preper?y—lesses—te—eertﬁﬂ—faeﬁt&es— and—vx € receiv ed insurance sett]ements of $0.7 m11110n associated with

business interruptions and $3—-6-millienin2022-and 20621, respeetively—Wetneurred-property and-ether-losses to certain
faclhtles caused by the North Amerlca m1d- contment w1nter storm in February afire-inetdent-thatoeenrredin2026-for

W v r-2021. Foreign exchange (gain) loss, net is summarized
in the folloxnnﬂ table (in thousands): For the Years Ended Decembe1 31, Angolan Kwanza $ (46) $ $ (2 )—$—(—36—) Australian
Dollar (2) British Pound (408) Canadian Dollar Colombian Peso (430) £284H-Euro (382 3456-) Indonesian Rupiah Nigerian
Naira (74) (39) Norwegian Krone ( 20) ( 31) Russian Ruble (375 336-) Turkish Lira (472) Other currencies, net Foreign
exchange (gain) loss, net $ 1,197 $ $ 2283 -Interest Expense Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 was $
43-12 . 4 million compared to $ 13. 4 million and $ 11. 6 million in 2023 and $9-2022, respectively . 2-In 2024 the Company
reduced its total outstanding debt by $ 38. 0 million #-or 23 % from end of 2622-2023 and-. The decrease in interest
expense associated with lower outstanding debt was partially offset by a higher average blended interest rates in 202+
2024 respeetively-compared to 2023 . AdtheughIn September 2023, the 2011 Senior Notes of $ 75 million with a fixed rate




of 4. 11 % matured and were partially refinanced with the 2023 Senior Notes of $ 50 million with higher fixed rates of 7.
25 % and 7. 50 %. In 2023, the Company reduced its outstanding debt from end of in2023-when-—eompared-to-2022, however,
the interest expense was higher in 2023 primarily due to: 1) rising interest rates on our aggregated-variable rate debt during
these periods, and 2) reptacement-partial refinancing of the 2011 Senior Notes of § 75 million with fixed-rate-of4—H%othat
matired-ir-September2623;-by-the 2023 Senior Notes of $ 50 million , as discussed above with-higher-fixedrates-of 725%to
#+-50-%. See Note 11- Long- term Debt, net of the Notes to the Consohdqted Financial Statements for further detail. Interest
expense was also affected by changes associated with our interest rate swap agreements, as described in Note 15- Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Income Tax Expense Income tax
expense was $ 14. 0 million in 2024 and resulted in an effective tax rate of 30. 4 %. The 2024 tax expense was primarily
impacted by the geographic mix of earnings. Income tax expense was $ 4. 2 million in 2023 and resulted in an effective tax
rate of 10. 2 %. The 2023 tax expense was primarily impacted by the reversal of deferred tax liabilities of $ 11. 6 million
assomated Wlth the Redomestlcatlon Transactlon partrally offset by the g ;Deographlc mix of earmnos {-neerﬂ&ta-}&e*peﬂse—waS%

Taxes of the Notes to the Con%ohddted Financial St"ltements for further det"ul of income tax expense. Segment Analysu The
following charts and tables summarize the annual revenue and operating results as a percentage of applicable revenue for our
two complementary operating segments. Segment Revenue 2024 /2023 2023 / 2022 2622+2082+% Change REVENUE:
Reservoir Description $ 346, 146 66. 1 % $ 333, 345 65. 4 % $ 307, 691 62. 8 % 3 $343;609-66- 78 % 8. 3 %-99"%
Production Enhancement 177, 702 33.9 % 176, 445 34. 6 % 182, 044 37.2 % 0 +56;643-33- 7 % ( 3 %3~ 1) %+6-2-% Total
revenue $ 523, 848 100. 0 % $ 509, 790 100. 0 % $ 489, 735 100. 0 % 2 $476;2521409- 8 09441 4. | % OPERATING
INCOME: Reservoir Description * $ 51,466 14.9 % $ 41, 039 12.3 % $ 22,902 7. 4 % 25 $28:9589-.2-4 % 79. 2 %269
% Production Enhancement * 6, 612 3.7 % 12,519 7.1 % 16,351 9. 0 % (47 +5:3+639-. 7-2) % (23. 4) %7-8% Corporate and
other (1) 0.1 % 1,082 0.2 % 2,271 0. 5 %44+44+6-2-% NM NM OPERATING INCOME § 58,556 11.2 % $ 54, 640 10. 7
% $ 41,524 8.5 % 7 $45,2629-. 62 % 31. 6 %8-3)% * Percentage, which represents operating margin, is based on
operating income divided by applicable revenue rather than total revenue. “ NM ” means not meaningful. (1) “ Corporate and
other ” represents those items that are not directly relating to a particular operating segment. Reservoir Description operations
are closely correlated with trends in international and offshore activity levels, with approximately 80 % of its revenue sourced
from producing fields, development projects and movement of crude oil and derived products outside the U. S. The Company
continues to see improvement-growth in international projects across several international regions and +hewever;-inereases-in
projeetactivity-were-partiatly-offsetby-disruptions in the maritime movement and logistical trading patterns for crude oil and
derived products, caused by the Russia- Ukraine and Middle East geopolitical conflicts have begun to stabilize . Revenue from
the Reservoir Description operating segment for the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 was $ 333-346 . 3-1 million, an
increase of 4 % compared to 2022-2023 . The increased revenue in 2623-2024 is primarily due to growing client activity for
our reservoir core and reservoir fluids analysis services on projects in several regions across the globe, as well a-as continued
momentum of growing demand for CCS projects in the last couple of years . Additionally, crude assay services associated
with the maritime movement of crude oil and derived products #mpreved+12623-which were impacted by the Russia- Ukraine
conflict -continued to improve in 2024. The growth in revenue as-was diseussed-above-partially offset by delayed project
revenue caused by the fire incident at one of our U. K. facilities. The Company holds insurance policies for both property
damage and business interruption, which has minimized the loss to the Company associated with the fire . Revenue from
the Reservoir Description operating segment was $ 333. 3 million in 2023, an increase of 8 % when compared to $ 307. 7
million in 2022 dewn-slightly-when-eomparedto-$313- The increased 6-milienin202+-Revente-revenue in 2023 is
primarily due to growing client activity for our reservoir core and reservoir fluids analysis services on projects in several
regions across the globe, as well as growing demand for CCS projects. Additionally, crude assay services associated with
eertattreustomer-contracts-denominated-the maritime movement of crude oil and derived products improved in fereign
euﬁeﬁetes—was—&d-vefse}y—ZﬂB Whlch were negatlvely 1mpacted by the Russ1a- Ukralne conﬂlct that began in devatuation-of

. e disrng ¥ . . omeliti e . dabove-. Operating
income for the year ended December 31, %92—3—2024 was $ 4-1—51 9—5 million, an increase of —7—9—25 % comp"lred to 2022-2023 .
Operating margins increased to 14. 9 % in 2024 from 12. 3 % in 2023 frem7F4-%11r2622-. The increase in operating income
and operating margins in 2623-2024 is-was primarily due to high operating margins associated with the incremental revenue
of § 25-12 . 78 million in 2623-2024 and the-improved-continued improvement in utilization of our global laboratory network.
Operating income in 2022-2023 was $ 22-41 . 9-0 million, a-an deerease-increase of 24-79 % compared to 26242022 .

Operating margins deereased-increased to 12. 3 % in 2023 compared to 7. 4 % in 2022 eempared-to-9—2-%m262+. The
deerease-increase in operating income and operating margin in %92—2—2023 correlates to the 1ncremental deefe&se—rn—re\ enue
and the improved utilization of our global laboratory network dec attrg-mare e

é&fmg—%@%—z— asseet&ted—vv‘rt-h—as well as the negatlve 1mpact from the beglnmng of Gemp&ny—resfemrg—emp’:eyee

in 2022 —&S-pfevteﬁs}y—d-rseussed- Productlon Enhmcement S operdtlons are largely focused on complex completlom in
unconventional, tight- oil reservoirs in the U. S. as well as conventional projects across the globe. During-the-year2022:-U. S.

onshore drilling and completion activities peaked in 2022 eontinued-to-tnerease-through-mid-—November-,
a-typteal-seasonal-after the COVID 19 pandemrc, but &eel-rne—declmed in a{—t-he—eﬂd-e-ﬁt-l‘re—ye&h*s—2023 beg&n—U—S—
enshere-drithing-and eomp v ’ e




through-the-end-0£2023-2024 . The decline in drilling and completion activity ts-was primarily due to the weakening of both
crude oil and natural gas commodity prices in 2023, and seme-eonsolidation-transaetions-ofoil and gas producing companies
remain focused on return of investment versus growing production, and were more disciplined with their annual
production growth plans. As a result, average rig count in the U. S. onshore market declined by 13 % in 2024 compared
to 2023. Revenue from the Production Enhancement operating eempantes—Additionaly-segment for the year ended
December 31 . 2024 was $ 177. 7 million, a slight increase of 1 % compared to 2023, primarily due to a higher level of
service revenue associated with strong growth in well completion diagnostic services in 2024. This increase was
substantially offset by lower activity and product sales into the U. S. onshore market. Revenue from the Production
Enhancement operating segment was $ 176. 4 million in 2023, a decrease of 3 % compared to 2022. In 2023, the decrease
in drilling and completion activities in the U. S. land market is primarily due to operating companies reduced activity later
in 2023 ﬂ&e—yea-ﬁas they were ahedd of schedule in thelr dnnual drllhng progrdms due to efficiencies s_amed in drilling and

d-b pre-from atig Operatlng segmentincome for the
year ended December 31 %92—3—2024 was b -1—7-6—6 4-6 million, a deerease of 47 %ﬁeﬁpﬁed-te—%@%%—pﬂm&ﬂbh&u&te—t-he

%92—3—Was—$—1%—mﬂ-l-ieﬂ,—a—éeefe&se~e-f—2—3—% Operatms_ margins decreased t03.7 % in 2024 from 7.1 % in 2023 The
decrease in operating income and operating margin in 2024, was primarily due to 1) a charge of $ 3. 3 million recorded
in 2024 associated with inventory and other related asset write- downs, 2) a loss on sales of $ 0. 6 million associated with
the disposal of a building, and 3) severance and other charges of $ 0. S million incurred in 2024, and no similar
transactions in 2023. Operating income was $ 12. 5 million in 2023 compared to $ 16. 4 million in 2022. Operating
margin of 7. 1 % in 2023 decreased from 9. 0 % in 2022. The decrease in operating income and operating margir-margins in
2023, correlates to the decrease in revenue and higher absorption of fixed costs on a lower revenue base, as well as eentinted

1ncreased cost associated w1th tﬂ-ﬂaﬁeﬂaﬁh—— 1nﬂat10n -rmpaet—on mdterlals and shlppmg costs —9pe¥&t—r&g—meeme—was—$—1—6.—4

activities tlnouoh cash on hand, cash ﬂOV\ ] hom opeldtlons bank credit facilities, eqmty fmdncms_ and the issuance of debt.
Cash flows from operating activities provide the primary source of funds to finance our operating needs, capital expenditures,
dividends and share repurchase program. Our ability to maintain and grow our operating income and cash flow depends, to a
large extent, on continued investing activities. We believe our future cash flows from operations, supplemented by our
borrowing capacity and the ability to issue additional equity and debt, should be sufficient to fund our debt requirements,
working capital, capital expenditures, dividends, share repurchase program and future acquisitions. The Company will continue
to monitor and evaluate the availability of debt and equity markets. We were a holding company incorporated in the
Netherlands, and after the Redomestication Transaction completed in May 2023, we are a holding company incorporated in
Delaware. Therefore, we conduct substantially all of our operations through our subsidiaries. Our cash availability is largely
dependent upon the ability of our subsidiaries to pay cash dividends or otherwise distribute or advance funds to us and on the
terms and conditions of our existing and future credit arrangements. There are no restrictions preventing any of our subsidiaries
from repatriating earnings, except for the unrepatriated earnings of our Russian subsidiary which are not expected to be
distributed in the foreseeable future, and there are no restrictions or income taxes associated with distributing cash to the parent
company through loans or advances. As of December 31, 2023-2024 , substantialy-aH-$ 18. 4 million of our § +5-19 . +-2
million of cash balances was held by our foreign subsidiaries. The Company continues to maintain a quarterly dividend of $ 0.
01 per share. Cash Flows The following table summarizes cash flows (in thousands): For the Years Ended December 31, Cash
provided by (used in): Operating activities $ 56, 388 $ 24, 789 $ 24, 956 $36;-579-Investing activities (6, 394) (6, 652) (3, 856 )
40,223) Financing activities ( 45, 957) ( 18, 445) (23, 375 ¥22,459-) Net change in cash and cash equivalents $ 4, 037 $ (308)
$ (2, 275) $3-Comparing the year ended December 31 , 8972024, to the year ended December 31, 2023, net income
decreased $ 4. 9 million, however, cash provided by operating activities increased $ 31. 6 million. In 2024, improvement
in cash provided by operating activities was primarily driven by improved operational working capital of $ 34. 7 million
compared to 2023, partially offset by higher cash used in prepaid expenses and other assets in 2024 versus 2023.
Comparing the year ended December 31, 2023 to the year ended December 31, 2022, net income increased $ 17. 4 million,
however, cash provided by operating activities was relatively flat between these periods. Net income for the year ended
December 31, 2023 includes a non- cash tax benefit of approximately $ 11. 6 million associated with the Company’ s
Redomestication Transaction, partially offset by a decrease of $ 3. 3 million in net deferred tax assets, and non- cash investment
gains of $ 5. 0 million in 2023 compared to non- cash losses of $ 5. 1 million and-a-deereaseinrothernen——eashitemsof$0-5
mithen-in 2022. Comparing-Cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2622-2024 of to-the-year-ended
Deeember31202tnetineome-deereased-5 60 . 4 million was driven primarily whl-}e—eash—ﬂews—pfei»‘tded-by operating
aetivittes-deereased-by-funding capital expenditures of $ 13 H-—6-millen—Cashtaxespaid-inereasedin2022-by-$5- 0 million
and-we-were-building-htgherdevels-offset by: 1) $ 1. 7 million of inventery-proceeds from sale of assets, 2) $ 2. 1 million of



insurance recovery proceeds on property, plant and equipment associated with the fire incident in one of our facilities in
the U. K., and 3) $ 2. 8 million received on company owned life insurance policies . Cash used in investing activities for the
year ended December 31, 2023 of § 6. 7 million was driven primarily by funding capital expenditures of $ 10. 6 million offset
by $ 3. 4 million of net proceeds received on company owned life insurance policies and $ 0. 5 million of proceeds from sales of
assets. Cash used by investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2022 of $ 3. 9 million was primarily due to funding
capital expenditures of $ 10. 2 million, offset by $ 2. 1 million of proceeds received from sale of assets and net proceeds of $ 4.

2 million received from insurance and company- owned life insurance policies. Cash used by-investing-in financing activities in

for-theyearended Peeember 31520242024 of $ 4846 . 2-0 million was primarily due to eapital-expenditares-: 1) a net
reductlon in debt of $ -1-3—38 mllllon, 2) d1v1dends pald of $ 1. 9 mllllon, and 3) repurchase of common stock of $ 5.3

3 vhe e-ins etes Caih used in ﬁnancmg aCthltIES in 2023 0f$ 18 4 m11110n was
prlmarlly due to 1) a net reductlon in debt of $ 9 0 million, 2) debt issuance costs of $ 1. 3 million primarily associated with the
issuance of the 2023 Senior Notes, 3) cash paid for costs incurred in the Redomestication Transaction of $ 4. 1 million, 4)
dividends paid of $ 1. 9 million, and 5) repurchase of common stock of $ 2. 2 million. Cash used in financing activities in 2022
of $ 23. 4 million was primarily due to: 1) a net reduction in debt of $ 15. 0 million, 2) debt issuance costs incurred of $ 2. 2
million as%ocmted Wlth renewmg our eredlt faelhty in 2022 3) d1v1dend% pald of $ 1.9 m11110n and 4) repurchase of common

we repurcha%ed -1—1-3—286 7-92—440 shares of our common stock for an aggregate amount of § 2—5 23 m11110n or an average
price of $ +9-18 . 35-52 per share. See Note 14- Equity of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional
information. We believe our share repurchase program has been beneficial to our shareholders over the longer term. Our share
price has increased from $ 4. 03 per share in 2002, when we began to repurchase shares, to $ 17. 66-31 per share on December
31,2023-2024 , an increase exceeding 300 %. The 1 % stock buyback excise tax may apply to the shares repurchased under our
share purchase program. The amount subject to the excise tax generally is the fair market value of stock repurchased by us net
of the fair market value of any stock issued by us during such taxable year. We utilize the non- GAAP financial measure of free
cash flow to evaluate our cash flows and results of operations. Free cash flow is defined as net cash provided by operating
activities (which is the most directly comparable U. S. GAAP measure) less cash paid for capital expenditures. Management
believes that free cash flow provides useful information to investors regarding the cash available in the period that was in excess
of our needs to fund our capital expenditures and operating activities. Free cash flow is not a measure of operating performance
under U. S. GAAP and should not be considered in isolation nor construed as an alternative to operating income, net income or
cash flows from operating, investing or financing activities, each as determined in accordance with U. S. GAAP. Free cash flow
does not represent residual cash available for distribution because we may have other non- discretionary expenditures that are
not deducted from the measure. Moreover, since free cash flow is not a measure determined in accordance with U. S. GAAP and
thus is susceptible to varying interpretations and calculations, free cash flow, as presented, may not be comparable to similarly
titled measures presented by other companies. The following table reconciles this non- GAAP financial measure to the most
directly comparable measure calculated and presented in accordance with U. S. GAAP (in thousands): For the Years Ended
December 31, Free Cash Flow Calculation Net cash provided by operating activities $ 56, 388 $ 24, 789 $ 24, 956 $36;-579
Less: cash paid for capital expenditures ( 13, 028) ( 10, 579) (10, 216 3J33;:539-) Free cash flow $ 43,360 $ 14, 210 $ 14, 740
Free cash flow increased significantly by & 23-29. 2 million for the year ended December 31 , 646-2024, compared to the
year ended December 31, 2023, primarily due to improvement in our operational working capital as discussed above,
offset by a slightly higher level of capital spending associated with replacing equipment and restoring the facility that
were damaged in the fire at one of our facilities in the U. K. that occurred in 2024. Free cash flow decreased slightly by $ 0.
5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily due to a slightly
higher level of capital spending in 2023. Senior Notes, Credit Facility and Available Future Liquidity We, along with our wholly
owned subsidiary Core Laboratories (U. S.) Interests Holdings, Inc. (“ CLIH ) as issuer, have senior notes that were issued
through private placement transactions. Additionally, we, along with CLIH, have a secured credit facility, the Eighth Amended
and Restated Credit Agreement (as amended, the “ Credit Facility ) for an aggregate borrowing commitment of $ 135. 0
million with a $ 50. 0 million “ accordion  feature. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , the Credit Facility has an available
borrowing capacity of approximately $ 69-106 . 1 million. Fhese-Our debt instruments are summarized in the following table
(in thousands): December 31, Interest Rate Maturity Date 20H-Senter Netes-Sertes B-(H4-—H-% September36,2023-$—5
75;-660-2021 Senior Notes Serles A (21)4.09 % January 12, 2026 $ 45, 000 $ 45, 000 2021 Senior Notes Series B (2-1 ) 4.
38 % January 12, 2028 15, 000 15, 000 2023 Senior Notes Series A (3-2) 7. 25 % June 28, 2028 25, 000 —25, 000 2023
Senior Notes Series B (3-2) 7. 50 % June 28, 2030 25, 000 —25, 000 Credit Facility 18, 000 56 ;-8606-46-, 000 Total long- term
debt 128, 000 166 —999—1—75— 000 Leqs Debt issuance CO%N (1, 889) (2, 866 9—(—2—6—1-4—) Long term debt net $ 126, 111 $ 163,

As of December 31, 2623-2024 | we have two series of senior notes, the 2021 Senior Notes and the 2023 Senlor Note%
outstanding with an aggregate prlnelpal amount of $ 110. 0 million. The 2021 Senior Notes and the 2023 Senior Notes are
collectively the “ Senior Notes ”. In accordance with the terms of the Credit Facility, our leverage ratio is 1. #6-31 , and our
interest coverage ratio is 6. 3774 , each for the period ended December 31, 2623-2024 . We are in compliance with all
covenants contained in our Credit Facility and Senior Notes. Certain of our material, wholly owned subsidiaries, are guarantors



or co- borrowers under the Credit Facility and Senior Notes. See Note 11- Long- Term Debt, net of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding the terms and financial covenants of the Senior Notes
and the Credit Facility. See Note 15- Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for additional information regarding interest rate swap agreements we have entered to fix the underlying risk- free
rate on our Credit Facility and the 2023 Senior Notes. In addition to our repayment commitments under our Credit Facility and
our Senior Notes, we have non- cancellable operating lease arrangements under which we lease office and lab space, machinery,
equipment and vehicles. We also have employer contribution commitments related to our Dutch pension plan with amounts
payable in the future based upon workforce factors that cannot be estimated beyond one year. These material future contractual
obligations are discussed in Note 7- Leases, Note 11- Long- term Debt, net and Note 12- Pension and Other Postretirement
Benefit Plans of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. We have no significant purchase commitments or similar
obligations outstanding at December 31, 2823-2024 . We alse-have uncertain tax positions of § 3. 5-3 million that we have
accrued for at December 31, 2823-2024 ; the amounts and timing of payment, if any, are uncertain. See Note 9- Income Taxes of
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further detail of this amount. At December 31, 2623-2024 , we had tax
net operating loss carry- forwards in various jurisdictions of $ 32-28 . 8 million. Although we cannot be certain that these net
operating loss carry- forwards will be utilized, we anticipate that we will have sufficient taxable income in future years to allow
us to fully utilize the carry- forwards that are not subject to a valuation allowance as of December 31, 2623-2024 . If unused,
those carry- forwards which are subject to expiration may expire during the years 2025 through 2038. During 2024 thretgh
2037 Puring2023- no material net operating loss carry- forwards, which carried a full valuation allowance, expired unused.
We expect our investment in capital expenditures to track with client demand for our services and products. Given the uncertain
trend in industry activity levels, we have not determined, at this time, the level of investment that will be made in 2624-2025 .
We will, however, continue to invest in the purchase or replacement of obsolete or worn- out instrumentation, tools and
equipment, to consolidate certain facilities to gain operational efficiencies, and to increase our presence where requested by our
clients. Outlook Currently, global oil inventories are low relative to historical levels, and with continued supply restrictions
from the Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries and other oil producing nations (“ OPEC ") global supply is set
expected to be suffietentmanaged and maintained at a level to meet forecasted growth in oil demand grewth-for the next few
years eﬂ—Apﬂ-l—Z—}G%}—Durmg the last couple of years OPEC and its key member anneuneed—eeﬁtmtted—redue&eﬁs—m

; , Saudi Arabia, atkey
membeieef—announced several mandatory and voluntary reductlons in productlon that contmued in 2024. The current
production cuts are scheduled to be phased out gradually starting from April 1, 2025, stretching to October 2026, but
OPEC sinitiated-retains the discretion to pause or reverse the adJustments as necessary The current global demand for
crude oil and natural gas remains at a modest level and thire d ;

ﬂ&reug—h—the—ertd—e%%@%}—z*eeerd-mg—accordlng to the latest Internauonal Ene1 ay Agency S report t-he—eurreﬁt—global demﬂnd
al-ga : ; 1S expected to s-}ew—dewn—contmue

commodlty prices for the near- term will remain at cu1rent levels or increase 1f prOJectlons tor demand remain accurate or
disruptions to supply occur . [n 20222023 , capital spending towards the exploration of crude oil and natural gas reached their

highest level in over a decade —Hewever;-with modest growth in 2623-2024 driling-and eompletion-aetivities-onshere

additional growth expected in 2025. Outside the U. S. slewed-afterit-peakedinAprit2623-, international oil and gas
projects continue to build and are expected to grow and accelerate into the next several years . U. S. onshore drilling and

completion activities are expected to maitatn-remain at eu-rreﬁt—levels comparable to act1v1ty levels in 2024 with some
typlcal seasonal decrease towards the end of %9%4—9u-ts-tde—the - onat-o d pto

: year . Thelefore our chents activities assocrated with the
appralsal development and productlon of crude 011 and natural gas are also expected to remain at current levels or increase in
2624-2025 . The ongoing geopolitical eenfliet-conflicts between Russia and Ukraine and thaterupted-in February2622;-the
Mlddle East contmue to eaused—~ cause dlsruptlons to trad1tlonal marmme supply chams assoerated—wat-h—t-he—meyemeﬁt—ef
a-and the trading

of crude oil and deuved products such as dlesel tuel —aﬁd

%92—2—bttﬁhave~sme&deereased—aﬁd+ﬂedeﬁtted—m%9%3— The mantlme supply chams assocrated Wlth the movement ot crude oil
have continued to realign and stabilize throughout 2023 and in 2024 , which has reduced some of the volatility in crude- oil
prices and disruptions to our operations . Core Lab expects crude- oil supply lines to remain mere-reasonably stable in 2025 ,

al-theugh—t-he—however, feeeﬂt—recently expanded sanctions have created addltlonal uncertamty, eeﬁﬂ-xet—t-hat—efupted—m—the

Comp"tny S Volume of associated laboratory services #s-may be 1mpacted but are expected to be commensurate with the
trading and movement of crude- oil into Europe, the Middle East, Asia and across the globe. The United States, the
European Union, the United Kingdom and other countries continue to expand sanctions, export controls and other
measures against Russia, Belarus, Iran and other countries, officials, individuals or industries in the respective
territories, which may have further impact on the trading and movement of crude oil and derived products. We have no
way to predict the progress or outcome of these events, and any resulting government responses are fluid and beyond
our control. We continue to focus on large- scale core analyses and reservoir fluids characterization studies in most oil-
producing regions across the globe, which include both newly developed fields and brownfield extensions in many offshore




developments in both the U. S. and internationally. In the U. S. we are involved in projects in many of the onshore
unconventional basins and offshore projects in the Gulf of Mexico. Outside the U. S. we continue to work on many smaller and
large- scale projects analyzing crude oil and derived products in every major producing region of the world. Notable larger
projects are 1n locatlons such as Guyana and Surmame located offshore South Amerlca Australia, Southern Namibia and the
Middle East sinehae ; ates- Analysis and measurement of crude oil
derived products also occurs in every major producmg region of the world. Addmonally, some of our major clients have begun
-mvesﬁng—lncreased thelr investment 1n prOJects to capture and sequester reduee-thetevels-of-CO?2 inthe-atmesphere;

P ; : ets-. The Company s activities on these projects have expanded and are
expected to continue expandlng in 2624-2025 and beyond. Our major clients continue to focus on capital management, return on
invested capital, free cash flow, and returning capital to their shareholders, as opposed to a focus on production growth. The
companies adopting value versus volume metrics tend to be the more technologically sophisticated operators and form the
foundation of Core Lab’ s worldwide client base. As oil and gas commodity prices have stabilized or are expected to increase in
the near to mid- term, the Company expects our clients’ activities associated with increasing oil and gas reserves and production
levels will continue to increase in the coming years. Critical Accounting Estimates The preparation of financial statements in
accordance with U. S. GAAP requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenue and expenses during the reporting period. We evaluate our estimates on an ongoing basis and utilize our historical
experience, as well as various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable in a given circumstance, in order to make these
estimates. By nature, these judgments are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty. We consider an accounting estimate to be
critical if it is highly subjective and if changes in the estimate under different assumptions would result in a material impact on
our financial condition and results of operations. The following transaction types require significant judgment and, therefore, are
considered critical accounting policies as of December 31, 2623-2024 . Our income tax expense includes income taxes of the U.
S. and other countries as well as local, state and provincial income taxes. We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the
expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the consolidated financial statements or tax returns.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference between the financial statement carrying ameunt-value
and the tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the years in which the asset is expected to be
recovered or the liability is expected to be settled. We estimate the likelihood of the recoverability of our deferred tax assets
(particularly, net operating loss carry- forwards). Any valuation allowance recorded is based on estimates and assumptions of
taxable income into the future and a determination is made of the magnitude of deferred tax assets which are more likely than
not to be realized. Valuation allowances of our net deferred tax assets aggregated to $ 8. 3-8 million and $ 9-8 . 3 million at
December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-, respectively. If these estimates and related assumptions change in the future, we may
be required to record additional valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets and our effective tax rate may increase
which could result in a material adverse impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows. We record a
liability for unrecognized tax benefits resulting from uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in our tax return. We
also recognize interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. Long- Lived Assets,
Intangibles and Goodwill Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. Major renewals and
improvements are capitalized while maintenance and repair costs are charged to expense as incurred. They are depreciated using
the straight- line method based on their individual estimated useful lives, except for leasehold improvements, which are
depreciated over the remaining lease term, if shorter. We estimate the useful lives and salvage values of our assets based on
historical data of similar assets. When long- lived assets are sold or retired, the remaining costs and related accumulated
depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is recognized in income. These capitalized long- lived
assets could become impaired if our operating plans or business environment changes. Intangible assets, including patents,
technology, and trademarks, are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment for intangibles with a definite life.
Intangibles with definite lives are amortized using the straight- line method based on the estimated useful life of the intangible.
Intangibles with indefinite lives, which consist primarily of corporate trade names, are not amortized, but are tested for
impairment annually or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that impairment is possible. We review our long-
lived assets (“ LLA ), including definite- lived intangible and right- of- use assets, for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their net book value may not be recovered over their remaining service lives. Indicators of possible
impairment may include significant declines in activity levels in regions where specific assets or groups of assets are located,
extended periods of idle use, declining revenue or cash flow or overall changes in general market conditions. Whenever possible
impairment is indicated, we compare the carrying value of the assets or asset group-groups to the sum of the estimated
undiscounted future cash flows expected from use, plus salvage value, less the costs of the subsequent disposition of the assets.
If impairment is still indicated, we compare the fair value of the assets to the carrying ameunt-value and recognize an
impairment loss for the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value. We did not record any material impairment
charges relating to our long- lived assets and intangible assets with definite lives during the years ended December 31, 2024,
2023 sand 2022 and-262+. The geopolitical conflict between Russia and Ukraine, which began in February 2022 and has
continued through December 31, 2823-2024 , has resulted in disruptions to our operations in Russia and Ukraine. The
Company’ s operation, assets and facilities in Ukraine are immaterial. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , all laboratory facilities,
offices, and locations in Russia continued to operate with no significant impact to local business operations. The Company
evaluated LLA in Russia and Ukraine as part of our assessment of our assets group. Based on our assessments, we did not
identify any triggering events and determined there was no impairment for LLA in Russia and Ukraine as of December 31, 2623
2024 . We record goodwill as the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acquired in acquisitions
accounted for under the purchase method of accounting. Goodwill is not subject to amortization and is tested for impairment




annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate goodwill is more likely than not impaired. Goodwill
is tested at the reporting until level. Our reporting units are the same as our two operating segments. We assess intangibles with
indefinite lives and goodwill for impairment either by performing a qualitative assessment or a quantitative test. The qualitative
assessment is to determine whether the existence of events or circumstances leads to a determination that it is more likely than
not that the fair value is less than #ts-carrying ameunt-value . If it is concluded that it is more- likely- than not that an
impairment exists, a quantitative test is required which compares the estimated fair value to #s-carrying value. If the estimated
fair value is less than #s-carrying value, then there is an impairment loss limited to the carrying ameunt-value . Significant
judgments and assumptions are inherent in our estimate of future cash flows used to determine the estimate of fair value which
include assumptions regarding future revenue growth rates, discount rates and expected margins. We completed our annual
impairment assessment of intangibles with indefinite lives and goodwill as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-, by
performing a qualitative assessment, which indicated we did not meet the threshold of more likely than not that there was an
impairment and therefore no quantitative test was required. Any subsequent impairment loss could result in a material adverse
effect upon our financial position and results of operations. Off- Balance Sheet Arrangements We do not have any off- balance
sheet financing arrangements such as securitization agreements, liquidity trust vehicles or special purpose entities. As such, we
are not materially exposed to any financing, liquidity, market or credit risk that could arise if we had engaged in such financing
arrangements. Forward- Looking Statements This Form 10- K and the documents incorporated in this Form 10- K by reference
contain forward- looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the
Exchange Act. These “ forward- looking statements ” are based on an analysis of currently available competitive, financial and
economic data and our operating plans. They are inherently uncertain and investors should recognize that events and actual
results could turn out to be significantly different from our expectations. By way of illustration, when used in this document,
words such as “ anticipate ”, ““ believe 7, “ expect 7, ““ intend ”, “ estimate ”, ““ project ”, “ will ”, “ should ”, “ could ”, “ may
predict ” and similar expressions are 1ntended to 1dent1fy forward looking statements. You are cautioned that actual results
could differ materially from those anticipated in forward- looking statements. Any forward- looking statements, including
statements regarding the intent, belief or current expectations of us or our management, are not guarantees of future performance
and involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions about us and the industry in which we operate, including, among other things: *
our ability to continue to develop or acquire new and useful technology; * the realization of anticipated synergies from acquired
businesses and future acquisitions; * our dependence on one industry, oil and gas, and the impact of commodity prices on the
expenditure levels of our clients; * competition in the markets we serve; ¢ the risks and uncertainties attendant to adverse
industry, political, economic and financial market conditions, including stock prices, government regulations, interest rates and
credit availability; ¢ unsettled political conditions, war, civil unrest, currency controls and governmental actions in the numerous
countries in which we operate;  changes in the price of oil and natural gas; * major outbreak of global pandemic and restricting
mobilization of field personnel; « weather and seasonal factors; ¢ integration of acquired businesses; and ¢ the effects of industry
consolidation. Our business depends, to a large degree, on the level of spending by oil and gas companies for exploration,
development and production activities. Therefore, a sustained increase or decrease in the oil and natural gas commodity prices,
which could have a material impact on exploration, development and production activities, could also materially affect our
financial position, results of operations and cash flows. The above description of risks and uncertainties is by no means all-
inclusive, but is designed to highlight what we believe are important factors to consider. For a more detailed description of risk
factors, please see “ Item 1A. Risk Factors ” in this Form 10- K and our reports and registration statements filed from time to
time with the SEC. All forward- looking statements in this Form 10- K are based on information available to us on the date of
this Form 10- K. We do not intend to update or revise any forward- looking statements that we may make in this Form 10- K or
other documents, reports, filings or press releases, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, unless
required by law. Recent Accounting Pronouncements See Issued-ButNot-Note YetEffeetive tnrNovember2623;-2 — Summary
of Slgmﬁcant Accountmg Policies of the Notes to the Consolldated F 1nan01al Statements Aeeeﬁﬂ&ng—Standafds—Bo&rd-ﬁ

EEINT3

accountlng standards adopted durlng the yeafs—= year beg-rnmng—a—fter—BeeembeHé—Z@%—and nterim-to be adopted in
future periods

oty ITEM TA. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE
DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RIS Market Risk We are exposed to market risk, which is the potential loss arising from
adverse changes in market prices and rates. We do not believe that our exposure to market risks, which are-is primarily related to
interest rate changes, is material. Interest Rate Risk We maintain certain debt instruments at a fixed rate whose fair value will
fluctuate based on changes in interest rates and market perception of our credit risk. The fair value of our debt at December 31,
2024 and 2023 and-2622-approximated the book value. Under the Amended Credit Facility, the Secured Overnight Financing
Rate (“ SOFR ”) plus 2. 00 % to SOFR plus 3. 00 % will be applied to outstanding borrowings. At December 31, 2023-2024 ,
we had an outstanding borrowings of § 56-18 million. A 10 % change in interest rates would not have a material impact on our
results of operations or cash flows. Foreign Currency Risk We operate in a number of international areas which exposes us to



foreign currency exchange rate risk. We do not currently hold or issue forward exchange contracts or other derivative
instruments for hedging or speculative purposes. Foreign exchange gains and losses are the result of fluctuations in the U. S.
dollar (*“ USD ”) against foreign currencies and are included in other (income) expense, net in the consolidated statements of
operations. We recognize foreign exchange losses in countries where the USD weakens against the local currency and we have
net monetary liabilities denominated in the local currency, as well as in countries where the USD strengthens against the local
currency and we have net monetary assets denominated in the local currency. We recognize foreign exchange gains in countries
where the USD strengthens against the local currency and we have net monetary liabilities denominated in the local currency
and in countries where the USD weakens against the local currency and we have net monetary assets denominated in the local
currency. Credit Risk Our financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of
cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable. Substantially all cash and cash equivalents are on deposit at commercial
banks or investment firms. Our trade receivables are with a variety of domestic, international and national oil and gas
companies. Management considers this credit risk to be limited due to the creditworthiness and financial resources of these
financial institutions and companies. ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA For the
financial statements and supplementary data required by this Item 8, see Part IV “ Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement
Schedules. ” ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES Disclosure Controls and Procedures Our
management, under the supervision of and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has
evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined in Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15
(e) under the Exchange Act, as of the end of the period covered by this report. Our disclosure controls and procedures are
designed to provide reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed by us in our reports filed or submitted
under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure and is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC. Based on such evaluation, our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective
as of December 31, 2623-2024 at the reasonable assurance level. Our management does not expect that our disclosure controls
and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. Further, the design of
disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the
benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no
evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within a company
have been detected. Management’ s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting Our management is responsible for
establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as that term is defined in Rules 13a- 15 (f) and
15d- 15 (f) of the Exchange Act. Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with U. S. GAAP. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or
detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate. Our management, under the supervision of and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, conducted an evaluation of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2623-2024 . In
making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment using these criteria, our
management determined that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2623-2024 . The
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2623-2024 , has been audited by KPMG LLP,
an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears herein. Changes in Internal Control
over Financial Reporting There was no change in our system of internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined
in Rules 13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15 (f) under the Exchange Act, during our fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2823-2024 that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. ITEM 9B. OTHER
INFORMATION During our fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2023-2024 , no director or officer of the Company adopted,
modified or terminated any ““ Rule 10b5- 1 trading arrangement ™ or “ non- Rule 10b5- 1 trading arrangement ” within the
meaning of Item 408 (a) efftem408-of Regulation S- K. ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN
JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS PART III The information required by Part III (Items 10 through 14) is
incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement (the “ 2824-2025 Proxy Statement ) to be filed in connection with
our 2024-2025 annual meeting of shareholders pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act. We expect to file our
definitive proxy statement with the SEC within 120 days after the close of the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 . ITEM 10.
DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE Incorporated by reference to the definitive
Proxy Statement for the 2624-2025 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. Core Lab has a Code of Ethics and Corporate
Responsibility that applies to all of its directors, officers and employees, including its principal executive, financial and
accounting officers, or persons performing similar functions. Core Lab’ s Code of Ethics and Corporate Responsibility is posted
on its website at www. corelab. com / sustainability / governance / our- ethics- program. pdf. Core Lab has adopted an Insider
Trading Policy that governs the purchase, sale, and / or other disposition of our securities by our directors, officers, and
employees designed to promote compliance with insider trading laws, rules, and regulations, and any listing standards
applicable to us. A copy of our Insider Trading Policy, as amended to date, is filed as Exhibit 19. 1 to this Annual Report.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION The information set forth under the captions “ Compensation Discussion and
Analysis ” and “ Information About our Named Executive Officers and Executive Compensation ” in Core Lab’ s 2624-2025



Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference. ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL
OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS The information under the captions “
Ownership of Securities — Security Ownership by Certain Beneficial Owners and Management ” and “ Compensation
Discussion and Analysis — 2623-2024 Compensation Program Details ” in Core Lab’ s 2624-2025 Proxy Statement is
incorporated herein by reference. ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND
DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE The information under the captions “ Information About our Directors and Director
Compensation — Director Independence ” and ““ Information About our Directors and Director Compensation — Related Person
Transactions ” in Core Lab’ s 2624-2025 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference. ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES Our independent registered public accounting firm is KPMG LLP, Houston, TX,
Auditor Firm ID: 185. The information under the caption “ Information About our Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm ” in Core Lab’ s 2624-2025 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference. PART IV ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND
FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES (a) Financial Statements 1. The following reports, financial statements and
schedules are filed herewith on the pages indicated: PageReports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm- KPMG
LLP F- 1Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2622-F- 4Consolidated Statements of Operations
for the Years Ended December 31, 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 and2624F- 5Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Fessy-for the Years Ended December 31, 2024, 2023 -and 2022 and2024-F- 6Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
for the Years Ended December 31, 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 and2624+F- 7Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years
Ended December 31, 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 and2024-F- 9Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements F- 112. Financial
Statement Schedule Schedule II- Valuation and Qualifying Account (b) Exhibits The exhibits listed in the accompanying
Index to Exhibits ” are incorporated by reference to the filing indicated or are filed herewith. ITEM 16. FORM 10- K
SUMMARY INDEX TO EXHIBITSExhibit No. Exhibit Title Incorporated by Reference from theFollowing Documents3. 1
Core Laboratories Inc. Certificate of Incorporation Form 8- K, May 1, 2023 (File No. 001- 41695) 3. 2 Core Laboratories Inc.
Bylaws Form 8- K, May 1, 2023 (File No. 001- 41695) 4. 1 Description of Registrant’ s Securities Registered Pursuant to
Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Filed Herewith 10. 1 Core Laboratories N-Ine . ¥-2626-2024 Long- Term
Incentive Plan (1) Appendix A to Definitive Proxy Statement dated March 26-18 , 2626-2024 for Annual Meeting of
Shareholders (File No. 001- +4273-41695 ) 10. 2 Core Laboratories Inc. 2023 Non- Employee Director Stock Incentive Plan (as
amended and restated effective as of June 28, 2023) (1) Appendix A to Definitive Proxy Statement dated April 28, 2023 for
Annual Meeting of Shareholders (File No. 001- 14273) 10. 3 Core Laboratories Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan
effective as of January 1, 1998 (1) Form 10- K, March 31, 1998 (File No. 000- 26710) 10. 4 Amendment to Core Laboratories
Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, effective July 29, 1999 (1) Form 10- Q, August 16, 1999 (File No. 001- 14273) 10. 5
Amendment to Core Laboratories Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, effective February 28, 2003 (1) Form 10- Q, May
15, 2003 (File No. 001- 14273) 10. 6 Amendment to Core Laboratories Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan dated as of
March 5, 2008 (1) Form 10- Q, May 12, 2008 (File No. 001- 14273) 10. 7 Form of Restricted Share Award Program Agreement
(1) Form 10- K, February 20, 2007 (File No. 001- 14273) 10. 8 Form of Core Laboratories 2023 Non- Employee Director
Restricted Share Award Program Agreement (1) Form 10- K, February 15, 2024 (Filed- File Herewith-No. 001- 41695) 10. 9
Form of Core Laboratories 2020 Performance Share Award Program Agreement (ROIC Based) (1) Form 10- K, February 15,
2024 (Fited— File Herewith-No. 001- 41695) 10. 10 Eighth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of July 25, 2022,
among Core Laboratories 7-N. V., and Core Laboratories (U. S.) Interests Holdings, Inc., and the lenders party thereto and Bank
of America, N. A., as administrative agent and Wells Fargo Bank, N. A., as syndication agent and Comerica Bank, as
documentation agent. Form 8- K, July 27, 2022 (File No. 001- 14273) 10. 11 Amendment No. 1 to Eighth Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of April 28, 2023, among Core Laboratories ;-N. V., and Core Laboratories (U. S.)
Interests Holdings, Inc. and the lenders party thereto and Bank of America, N. A., as administrative agent Form 8- K, May 1,
2023 (File No. 001- 41695) 10. 12 Assumption and Reaffirmation Agreement, dated May 1, 2023, by and between Core
Laboratories yInc. and Bank of America, N. A. Form 8- K, May 1, 2023 (File No. 001- 41695) 10. 13 Master Note Purchase
Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2011 Form 8- K, September 30, 2011 (File No. 001- 14273) 10. 14 Amendment No. 2 to
Master Note Purchase Agreement and Assumption Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2023 Form 8- K, May 1, 2023 (File No. 001-
41695) 10. 15 Amendment No. 2 to Note Purchase Agreement and Assumption Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2023 Form 8- K,
May 1, 2023 (File No. 001- 41695) 10. 16 Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 4, 2023 Form 8- K, May 4, 2023 (File
No. 001- 41695) 10. 17 Employment Agreement between Core Laboratories N. V. and Lawrence V. Bruno, dated March 1,
2019 (1) Form 8- K, March 6, 2019 (File No. 001- 14273) 10. 18 Employment Agreement between Core Laboratories N. V. and
Christopher S. Hill, dated March 1, 2019 (1) Form 8- K, March 6, 2019 (File No. 001- 14273) 10. 19 Employment Agreement
between Core Laboratories N. V. and Gwendolyn Y. Schreffler, dated March 1, 2019 (1) Form 10- K, February 8, 2021 (File
No. 001- 14273) 10. 20 Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 16, 2020. Form 8- K, October 16, 2020 (File No. 001-
14273) 10. 21 Amendment to Employment Agreement, by and between Core Laboratories N. V. and Lawrence V. Bruno, dated
March 1, 2020 (1). Form 8- K, March 5, 2020 (File No. 001- 14273) 10. 22 Employment Agreement, by and between Core
Laboratorres N. V and Mark D Tattoh dated October 18, 2021 (l) Form 8-K, October 19, 2021 (File No. 001- 14273) 10. 23

atories ¢ e e ; e —24-Amended and Restated Employment
Agreement by and between Core Laboratorres Inc. and Lawrence V Bruno dated February 1, 2024 (1) Form Fied-Herewith
10 - K, February 15, 2024 (File No . 25-001- 41695) 10. 24 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, by and between
Core Laboratories Inc. and Christopher S. Hill, dated February 1, 2024 (1) Form Fed-Herewith-10 - K, February 15, 2024
(File No . 26-001- 41695) 10. 25 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, by and between Core Laboratories Inc. and
Gwendolyn Y. Sehreffler-Gresham , dated February 1, 2024 (1) Form Fded-Herewith-10 - K, February 15, 2024 (File No . 27
001- 41695) 10. 26 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, by and between Core Laboratories Inc. and Mark D.




Tattoli, dated February 1, 2024 (1) Form 10- K, February 15, 2024 (File No. 001- 41695) 19. 1 Insider Trading Policy Filed
Herewith 21. 1 Significant Subsidiaries of the Registrant Filed Herewith 23. 1 Consent of KPMG LLP Filed Herewith 31. 1
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a- 14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, As Adopted Pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002 Filed Herewith 31. 2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule
13a- 14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002 Filed
Herewith 32. 1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002 Filed Herewith 32. 2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U. S. C.
Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002 Filed Herewith 97. 1 Core Laboratories
Inc. Incentive Compensation Recoupment Policy Form 10- K, February 15, 2024 (File No. 001- 41695) 101. INS Inline
XBRL Instance Document- the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are
embedded within the Inline XBRL document. Filed Herewith101. SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema with
Embedded Linkbases Document Filed Herewith Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL
document). Filed Herewith (1) Management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements. SIGNATURES Pursuant to the
requirements of Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. CORE LABORATORIES INC. Date: February +4-12 , 2624
2025 By: / s/ LAWRENCE BRUNO Lawrence Bruno Chief Executive Officer, Chairman, President and DirectorPursuant to
the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated, on the 9th-12th day of February 2624-2025 . Signature Fitte/ s / LAWRENCE
BRUNO /s /CHRISTOPHER S. HILLLawrence Bruno Christopher S. HillChief Executive Officer, Chairman, Senior Vice
President andPresident and Director Chief Financial Officer / s/ SOW HANG TEO KEVAN-GDAMNELS-/ s / CURTIS
ANASTASIOSow Hang Teo ANASTASIOKevin-G—Dantels-Curtis AnastasioVice President, Treasurer and DirectorChief
Accounting Officer /s / MARTHA Z. CARNES /s /HARVEY KLINGENSMITHMartha Z. Carnes Harvey
KlingensmithDirector Director / s / KATHERINE A. MURRAY /s /MICHAEL STRAUGHENKatherine A. Murray Michael
StraughenDirector Director / s / KWAKU TEMENG Kwaku Temeng Director Report of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm To the Shareholders and Board of DirectorsCore Laboratories Inc.: Opinion on the Consolidated Financial
Statements-StatementsWe We-have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Core Laboratories Inc —and
subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-, the related consolidated statements of operations,
comprehensive income €ess)-, changes in equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three- year period ended December
31,2023-2024 , and the related notes and financial statement schedule II (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In
our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company
as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the
three- year period ended December 31, 2623-2024 , in conformity with U. S. generally accepted accounting principles. We also
have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB),
the Company’ s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023-2024 , based on criteria established in Internal
Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission,
and our report dated February +4-12 , 2824-2025 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’ s
internal control over financial reporting. Basis for Opinion These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’ s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U. S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess
the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. Critical Audit Matter The critical audit matter
communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are
material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments.
The communication of a critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements,
taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical

audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates. Evaluation Fhe-impaet-of the-Companys-organizational
s’éruemfe-eﬂ—rts—rncome tax pfeﬂ:ﬂeﬁ—expense As d1scussed in ﬂete—Note -1—9 to the consohdated ﬁnancral statements —t-he

diseussed—l-n—ﬂete@— the Company recorded deferred tax assets net of $ 69 26 mrlhon and deferred tax habrhtres net of $ +2-13
.78 million as of December 31, 2623-2024 , and income tax expense of $ 4-14 . 2-0 million for the year then ended. We
tdentified-The Company serves international markets and is subject to income taxes in the eva’:ua&eﬁ—e-ﬁt-he—rmpaet—ef—U S.

and foreign jurisdictions, which affect the Company’ s erganizational-straeture-onits-income tax provistorrexpense. We
ldentlfied the evaluatlon of income tax expense asa crrtrcal audlt matter. Complex auditor judgment was required in

evaluating efthe identifieation;-Company’ s



interpretation s-and application of U. S. tax laws and the related impacts to income tax expense. There was complexity in the
evaluation of the U. S. tax on Subpart F income and global intangible low- taxed income (GILTI) , whieh-ean-be-and the
Company’ s calculations were based on interpretations of complex and-subjeetincome tax regulations. The following are
the primary procedures we performed to ehange;-address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested
the operating effectiveness of certain internal controls over the Company’ s income tax expense process, including
controls over the Company’ s determination of Subpart F income and GILTI. We involved tax professionals with
specialized skills and knowledge who assisted in: * evaluatmg the Company s application of U. S. tax laws to its impaet

legal entlty structure and the effect on the Company ] mcome tax provision ® assessmg required-a-high-degree-of auditor

guiéa-nee—ffeﬁrt-h%fd—pafﬁes—\kle—mvewed-mcome tax pfefeﬁteﬁa}s-expense and deductlons assoclated Wlth speeta-hzed—s-lﬂ-l-}s
Subpart Fi income and GILTI knevdedg &

KPMG LLP We have qerved as the Company S audltor since 2015 Hou%ton TexaiF ebmary -1-4-12 %9%4—2025 F-2 Oplnlon on
Internal Control Over Financial Reperting-ReportingWe We-have audited Core Laboratories Inc. and subsidiaries >' (the
Company) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2623-2024 , based on criteria established in Internal
Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In
our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December
31,2023-2024 , based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income Hess)-,
changes in equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three- year period ended December 31, 2623-2024 , and the related
notes and financial statement schedule IT (collectively, the consolidated financial statements), and our report dated February 44
12, 2624-2025 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements. The Company’ s management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management' s Report on Internal Control over Financial
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’ s internal control over financial reporting based on our
audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U. S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also
included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinion. Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting A company’ s
internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’ s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1)
pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of
the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’ s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. F- 3 CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (In thousands,
except share and per share data) ASSETS CURRENT ASSETS: Cash and cash equivalents $ 19, 157 $ 15, 120 $35;428
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for credit losses of $ 3,192 and $ 2, 280 and-$2244-at 2024 and 2023 and2022-,
respectively 111, 761 109, 352 486;-943-Inventories 59, 402 71, 702 68;445-Prepaid expenses 10, 176 8, 153 $5:665-Income
taxes receivable 15,594 13, 716 3490-Other current assets 10, 516 5, 093 5;-06+-TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 226, 606 223,
136 2H5;762-PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, net of accumulated depreciation of $ 314, 317 and $ 315, 796 and-$
3H4-737at 2024 and 2023 and-2622-, respectively 97, 063 99, 626 +05:-028-RIGHT OF USE ASSETS 56, 488 53, 842 52,379
INTANGIBLES, net of accumulated amortization and impairment of $ 19, 326 and $ 18, 825 and-$+7475-at 2024 and 2023
and-2022-, respectively 6, 403 6, 926 F483-GOODWILL 99, 445 99, 445 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS, net 69, 613 69, 201 68;
570-OTHER ASSETS 34, 788 34, 219 33; 747 TOTAL ASSETS $ 590, 406 $ 586, 395 $578;354-LIABILITIES AND
EQUITY CURRENT LIABILITIES: Accounts payable $ 34, 549 $ 33, 506 $45;-847-Accrued payroll and related costs 22, 901
18, 791 23;743+Taxes other than payroll and income 7, 106 5, 939 4;-822-Unearned revenues 9, 332 4, 755 5;942-Operating
lease liabilities 10, 690 10, 175 H5699-Income taxes payable 4, 851 7, 280 3;-834-Other current liabilities 8, 157 7, 651 8,366



TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 97, 586 88, 097 +63;435-LONG- TERM DEBT, net 126, 111 163, 134 +725386- L ONG-
TERM OPERATING LEASE LIABILITIES 43, 343 42, 076 38;-365-DEFERRED COMPENSATION 31, 115 30, 544 34814
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES, net 13, 783 12, 697 22;-87+~0THER LONG- TERM LIABILITIES 20, 732 20, 040 26;-883
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES EQUITY Preference stock, 6, 000, 000 shares authorized, $ 0. 01 par value &t
2623-and-EUR0-02-par-value-at 2022, shares authorized, $ 0.
01 par Value 46 966 868 lssued and 46 826 820 outstandlng at 2024 46 938, 557 1ssued and 46 856, 536 outstanding at

: 65 ding 4-Additional paid- in capital 109,
547 110,011 -1-92—254—Reta1ned earnlngs 150 280 120 756 -85—949—Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ( 5, 769) (
4, 972 ¥H3574) Treasury stock (at cost), 140, 048 and 82, 021 at 2024 and 2023 and-67, 168-at2622-respectively (2, 537) (1,
449 ¥5362-) Total Core Laboratories Inc. shareholders' equity 251, 991 224, 815 4+84;258-Non- controlling interest 5, 745 4,
992 4696 TOTAL EQUITY 257,736 229, 807 488;954-TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $ 590, 406 $ 586, 395 $578;
354-The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements. CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS For the Years Ended December 31, 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 and-2624(In thousands, except
per share data) REVENUE: Services $ 388,205 $ 371, 914 $ 346, 974 $344;342-Product sales 135, 643 137, 876 142, 761 +25;
91406-Total revenue 523, 848 509, 790 489, 735 470, 252-OPERATING EXPENSES: Cost of services, exclusive of depreciation
expense shown below 297, 324 282, 135 274, 297 26%-64+Cost of product sales, exclusive of depreciation expense shown
below 123,198 117, 822 119, 358 +86;255-General and administrative expense, exclusive of depreciation expense shown
below 39, 770 40, 259 38, 117 44373-Depreciation 14, 449 15, 294 16, 476 +3-F54-Amortization Other (income) expense, net
(19,953) (850) (722 3H5;-595-) OPERATING INCOME 58, 556 54, 640 41, 524 45;262-Interest expense 12,369 13, 430 11,
570 95452-Income before income taxes 46, 187 41, 210 29, 954 36;4H6-Income tax expense 14, 034 4, 185 10, 296 +5;-8H-Net
income 32, 153 37, 025 19, 658 28;249-Net income attributable to non- controlling interest Net income attributable to Core
Laboratories Inc. $ 31,400 $ 36, 675 $ 19, 453 $19;727EARNINGS PER SHARE INFORMATION: Basic earnings per share
$0.698%0.79 8§ 0. 42 $68-44-Basic earnings per share attributable to Core Laboratories Inc. $ 0. 67 $0. 79 $ 0. 42 $-6-43
Diluted earnings per share $ 0. 67 $ 0. 78 $ 0. 42 $68—43-Diluted earnings per share attributable to Core Laboratories Inc. $ 0. 66
$0.77 $842% 0. 42 WEIGHTED AVERAGE COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING: Basic 46, 897 46, 683 46, 334 46,069
Diluted 47, 685 47, 523 46, 813 46;-639-CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (EOSS+In
thousands) Net income $ 32,153 $ 37, 025 $ 19, 658 $26,249-Other comprehensive income (loss): Interest rate swaps: Gain
Hessy-on fair value of interest rate swaps — — 6, 015 3;252)-Interest rate swap amount reclassified to net income ( tess-1, 040
) (492 382-) Income tax (expense) benefit on interest rate swaps reclassified to net income (4ess)€1, 144) Total interest rate
swaps ( 821) (389) 5, 869 27H33-Pension and other postretirement benefit plans: Amortization of actuarial gain (loss)
reclassified to net income (4ess3€1, 130 H293-) Income tax (expense) benefit on pension and other postretirement benefit plans
reclassified to net income (4ess-8 ) (116) Total pension and other postretirement benefit plans (806) £2269-Total other
comprehensive income (loss) (797) (1, 195) 6, 356 25933)-Comprehensive income Hoss)-31, 356 35, 830 26, 014 7286
Comprehensive income Hessj-attributable to non- controlling interests Comprehensive income fess}-attributable to Core
Laboratories Inc. $ 30, 603 $ 35, 480 $ 25, 809 $4+6;,794-CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Common Stock Balance at Beginning of Period $ $ 1, 194 $ 1, 188 $4+48-New share issuance Change in par value — (727)
Balance at End of Period $ $ $ 1, 194 $4;3488-Additional Paid- In Capital Balance at Beginning of Period $ 110, 011 $
102,254 $ 101, 120 $44384-New share issuance (1) (2) (6) 597899-Change in par value and equity related transaetton
transactions eests— (4, 097) Stock- based compensation (463) 11, 856 1, 140 Balance at End of Period $ 109, 547 $
110,011 $ 102, 254 $+64+326-Retained Earnings Balance at Beginning of Period $ 120, 756 $ 85, 949 § 68, 349 $-50;,456
Dividends paid (1, 876) (1, 868) (1, 853 H45834-) Net income attributable to Core Laboratories Inc. 31, 400 36, 675 19, 453 49;
F27-Balance at End of Period $ 150,280 $ 120, 756 $ 85, 949 $-68,349-Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Balance at Beginning of Period $ ( 4,972) $ (3, 777) $ (10, 133 }$-%260-) Interest rate swaps, net of income taxes ( 821) (
389) 5, 869 £2H3)-Pension and other postretirement benefit plans, net of income taxes (806) {226)-Balance at End of Period $ (
5,769)$ (4,972)$ (3, 777 ¥$6,433-) Treasury Stock Balance at Beginning of Period $ (1, 449) $ (1, 362) $ (4 7675r$4-,
075) Stock- based compensation 4, 218 2, 115 6, 616 +8;256-Repurchase of common stock ( 5, 306) ( 2, 202) (3, 903 H8;256)
Balance at End of Period $ (2,537) $ (1, 449) $ (1, 362 }$-4;-675-) Non- Controlling Interest Balance at Beginning of Period $
4,992 $ 4,696 $ 4, 552 $4,-860-Non- controlling interest dividends — (54) (61) —Net income attributable to non- controlling
interest Balance at End of Period $ 5,745 $ 4, 992 $ 4, 696 $4;-552-Total Equity Balance at Beginning of Period $ 229, 807 $
188,954 $ 161, 001 $F5;593-New share issuance — — — 59;439-Change in par value and equity related transaetion
transactions eests— (4, §24) Stock- based compensation 3, 755 13, 971 7, 756 49:-693-Dividends paid (1, 876) (1, 868)
(1, 853 ¥45-834-) Non- controlling interest dividends — (54) (61) —Net income 32, 153 37, 025 19, 658 20;249-Interest rate
swaps, net of income taxes ( 821) (389) 5, 869 -H3)Pension and other postretirement benefit plans, net of income taxes
(806) £2268)-Repurchase of common stock (5, 306) (2, 202) (3, 903 H8;256-) Balance at End of Period $ 257, 736 $ 229, 807 $
188, 954 $+614-664+-Cash Dividends per Share $ 0. 04 $ 0. 04 $ 0. 04 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN
EQUITY (Continued) Common Stock- Number of shares issued Balance at Beginning of Period 46, 938, 557 46, 699, 102 46,
454, 264 44996, 252-New share issuance 28, 311 239, 455 244, 838 5-658;-8642-Balance at End of Period 46, 966, 868 46, 938,
557 46, 699, 102 46;454;264-Treasury Stock- Number of shares Balance at Beginning of Period ( 82, 021) (67, 168) (104, 867
H223;45+) Stock- based compensation 228, 413 98, 939 212, 047 449:452-Repurchase of common shares-stock (286, 440)
(113,792) (174, 348 3H366:568-) Balance at End of Period ( 140, 048) (82, 021) (67, 168 34084:-867) Common Stock- Number
of shares outstanding Balance at Beginning of Period 46, 856, 536 46, 631, 934 46, 349, 397 44572864+ New share issuance
28, 311 239, 455 244, 838 +5-658;-642-Stock- based compensation 228, 413 98, 939 212, 047 449;452Repurehases—
Repurchase of common shares-stock (286, 440) (113, 792) (174, 348 3366;568-) Balance at End of Period 46, 826, 820 46,




856, 536 46, 631, 934 46;349,-397-F- 8 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES: Net income $ 32,153 $ 37, 025 $ 19, 658 $20;219-Adjustments to reconcile net income to net
cash provided by operating activities: Stock- based compensation 3, 755 13, 971 7, 756 +3;-893-Depreciation and amortization
14,953 15,784 17, 161 18-Assets write- down 1 , 516-110 1, 143 — Inventory write- off and obsolescence 2, 933 1, 719
(142) Changes in value of life insurance policies ( 2, 821) (4, 963) 5, 069 5-672)-Deferred income taxes (10, 811) 6-Gain on
insurance recovery on property . 6+2-plant and equipment (4, 398) — — Realization of pension obligation ( 33) (892 234
) Net provision for credit losses 1, 203 (6 H256)-Gain-en-sate-ofbustness——-642-) Other non- cash items 3;268+( 1 547
{2, 524-020) (405 ) Changes in assets and liabilities: Accounts receivable ( 3, 612) (2, 618) (10, 078) 35522 Inventories 9,
367 (12, 976) (14, 860 34;:547) Prepaid expenses and other current assets (5, 674) 1, 952 (76) +5-845-Other assets (289) 1, 509
(1, 369 ¥523-) Accounts payable (12, 878) 15, 374 6;-568-Accrued expenses 2, 531 (375) (1, 302 H8;-+59-) Unearned revenues
4,577 (1, 187) (1, 823) 2;388-Other liabilities (2, 199) (10, 885 33;933-) Net cash provided by operating activities 56, 388 24,
789 24, 956 36;-579-CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: Capital expenditures ( 13, 028) ( 10, 579) (10, 216 ¥
35539 Patents and other intangibles (29 3H348-) Proceeds from sale of assets 1, 736 1, 889 Proceeds from sale of business,
net of cash sold — — Proceeds from insurance recovery 2, 102 — Net proceeds on life insurance policies 2, 776 3, 375 3, 677
+-357Net cash used in investing activities (6, 394) (6, 652) (3, 856 H++8;223-) CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES: Repayment of long- term debt ( 82, 000) (211, 000) (131 78063226~ 000) Proceeds from long- term debt 44,
000 202, 000 116 5680455-, 000 Debt issuance costs ( 19) ( 1 253) (2, 206) —Preeceds-fromrissuanee-of common-shares——
60;-600-Equity related transaction costs ( 756) (4, 068) (411 )—686-1—) Dividends paid (1, 876) (1, 868) (1, 853 H45834)
Repurchase of common stock ( 5, 306) ( 2, 202) (3, 903 H8;256-) Other financing activities — (54) (2 3H568-) Net cash used in
financing activities ( 45, 957) (|18, 445) (23, 375 H22;459-) NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 4, 037
(308) (2, 275) 3;-897+CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of year 15, 120 15, 428 17, 703 +3;-:886-CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of year $ 19,157 $ 15, 120 § 15, 428 $47-783-CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH
FLOWS (Continued) Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information: Cash payments for interest $ 10,859 $ 11, 198 $ 9,
300 $340;477-Cash payments for income taxes $ +6-17 , 643-583 § 14, 535 § 14, 078 $9;-066-Non- cash investing and financing
activities: Capital expenditures incurred but not paid for as of the end of the year $ $-1, 670 $ $ 1, 157 $3;36+-Equity related
transaction costs incurred but not paid for as of the end of the year $ $—$ $ — F- 10 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2623-2024 1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSCore Laboratories Inc. (“ Core
Laboratories 7, *“ Core Lab ”, *“ the Company ”, “ we ”, “ our ” or “ us ”) is a Delaware corporation. We were established in 1936
and are one of the world’ s leadlng providers of proprietary and patented reservoir description and production enhancement
services and products to the oil and gas industry primarily through client relationships with many of the world’ s major, national
and independent oil companies. These services and products can enable our clients to evaluate and improve reservoir
performance and increase oil and gas recovery from their new and existing fields. We make measurements on reservoir rocks,
reservoir fluids (crude oil, natural gas and water) and their derived products. In addition, we assist clients in evaluating
subsurface targets associated with carbon capture and sequestration projects or initiatives. We have over 70 offices in
more than 50 countries and have approximately 3, 666-500 employees. On May 1, 2023, Core Laboratories N. V. completed its
previously announced redomestication transaction (the *“ Redomestication Transaction ), which ineluded-)-through a series of
steps, resulted in the merger {the“Merger>>-of Core Laboratories N. V., a holding company in the Netherlands, with and
into Core Laboratories Luxembourg S. A., a public limited liability company incorporated under the laws of Luxembourg, with
Core Laboratories Luxembourg S. A. surviving, and subsequently {it-feHewingthe-eompletion-of theMerger-the migration of
Core Laboratories Luxembourg S. A. out of Luxembourg and its domestication as Core Laboratories Inc., a Delaware
corporation. As a result of the Redomestication Transaction, all common shares in Core Laboratories N. V. were canceled and
exchanged for common stock in Core Laboratories Luxembourg S. A. on a one- for- one basis. Former holders of Core
Laboratories N. V. common shares now hold one share of common stock of Core Laboratories Inc. (formerly Core Laboratories
Luxembourg S. A.) for each Core Laboratories N. V. common share owned immediately prior to the consummation of the
Redomestication Transaction, and the business, assets, liabilities, directors and officers of Core Laboratories Inc. became the
same as the business, assets, liabilities, directors and officers of Core Laboratories N. V. immediately prior to the
Redomestication Transaction. We operate our business in two segments: (1) Reservoir Description and (2) Production
Enhancement. These complementary operating segments provide different services and products and utilize different
technologies for evaluating and improving reservoir performance and increasing oil and gas recovery from new and existing
fields. For a description of the types of services and products offered by these operating segments, see Note 21- Segment
Reporting and Other Disaggregated Information. 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIESBasis of
Presentation and Principles of ConsolidationThe Redomestication Transaction has been accounted for as a transaction between
entities under common control. Accordingly, Core Laboratories Inc. recorded the assets and liabilities transferred at their
carrying ameunts-values at the date of transfer. All common shares in Core Laboratories N. V., at par value EUR 0. 02, were
canceled and exchanged for common stock in Core Laboratories Inc., at par value $ 0. 01, on a one- for- one basis. Core
Laboratories Inc.” s common stock par value was decreased by $ 0. 7 million for the difference between the total par value of
common stock of Core Laboratories Inc. and the total par value of common shares of Core Laboratories N. V. at the date of
transfer, with an offset to additional paid in capital. There is no difference between the combined separate entities prior to the
Redomestication Transaction and the combined separate entities after the Redomestication Transaction, therefore, these financial
statements, reported as though the exchange of equity interests had occurred at the beginning of the reporting period, and
comparative information do not differ from amounts previously reported under Core Laboratories N. V.’ s consolidated
financial statements. These financial statements should be read in conjunction with Core Laboratories N. V.’ s Quarterly Report
on Form 10- Q for the three months ended March 31, 2023 and Core Laboratories N. V.” s Annual Report on Form 10- K for



the year ended December 31, 2022, including Note 2- Summary of Significant Accounting Policies. There have been no changes
to the accounting policies of the combined entities during the year-years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. The
accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Core Laboratories Inc. and its subsidiaries for which we
have a controlling voting interest and / or a controlling financial interest. These finanetals— financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles (“ U. S. GAAP ). We use the equity
method of accounting for investments in which we have less than a majority interest and do not exercise control but do exert
significant influence. Non- controlling interest has been recorded to reflect outside ownership attributable to consolidated
subsidiaries that are less than 100 % owned. All inter- company transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.
Certain reclassifications were made to prior period amounts in order to conform to the current period presentation. These
reclassifications had no impact on the reported net income or cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and
262+ F—-Recent Accounting Proneuneementslssaed ButNot-YetEffeetiveln-PronouncementsPronouncements Adopted
in 2024 In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“ FASB ) issued Accounting Standard Update (“ ASU
) 2023- 07 Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures to improve reportable segment
disclosure requirements, primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses on an annual and interim
basis. The amendment is effective for ﬁscal years beglnnlng after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2024. Es ‘We adopted the guidance for the
year ended December 31, 2024 and apphed it retrospectively to all prior perlods presented in the financial statements. Upon
adoption, our disclosures regarding segment reporting was witbe-cxpanded aeeordingly- fn-See Note 21- Segment Reporting
and Other Disaggregated Information. Pronouncements Not Yet Effectiveln December 2023, FASB issued ASU 2023- 09
Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures to improve transparency of income tax disclosures,
primarily by requiring consistent categories and greater disaggregation of information in the rate reconciliation and income
taxes paid disaggregated by jurisdiction. The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024.
Early adoption is permitted. The amendment should be applied prospectively; however, retrospective application is permitted.
Upon adoption, our disclosures regarding income taxes will be expanded accordingly . In November 2024, FASB issued ASU
2024- 03 Income Statement — Reporting Comprehensive Income — Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-
40) to improve disclosures about a public business entity’ s expenses, by providing more detailed information about the
types of expenses in commonly presented expense captions. As amended by ASU 2025- 01 issued in January 2025, the
amendment is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim periods within annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2027. Early adoption is permitted. The amendment may be applied
prospectively or retrospectively. Upon adoption, our disclosures regarding expenses will be expanded . Use of
EstimatesThe preparation of financial statements in accordance with U. S. GAAP requires management to make certain
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. We evaluate our
estimates on an ongoing basis and utilize our historical experience, as well as various other assumptions that we believe are
reasonable in a given circumstance, in order to make these estimates. Actual results could differ from our estimates, as
assumptions and conditions change. The following accounts, among others, require us to use estimates and assumptions:
allowance for credit losses; * obsolete inventory; = depreciation and amortization; = long- lived assets, intangibles and goodwill;
= income taxes; * pensions and other postretirement benefits; = stock- based compensation; and = leases. Accounting policies
relating to these accounts and the nature of these estimates are further discussed under the applicable caption. For each of these
critical estimates it is at least reasonably possible that changes in these estimates will occur in the short term which may impact
our financial position or results of operations. F- 12 Foreign CurrenciesOur functional currency is the U. S. Dollar (“ USD ”).
All inter- company financing, transactions and cash flows with our subsidiaries are transacted in USD. Revenue and expenses
denominated in other currencies are measured at the applicable month- end exchange rate which approximates the average
exchange rate. We remeasure monetary assets and liabilities denominated in other currencies to USD at year- end exchange
rates. Non- monetary items, depreciation, amortization and certain components of cost of sales are measured at historical rates.
Remeasurement and settlement difference are included in other (income) expense, net in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations. See Note 19- Other (Income) Expense, net. Concentration of Credit RiskOur financial instruments that
potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk relate primarily to cash and cash equivalents and trade accounts receivable.
All cash and cash equivalents are on deposit at commercial banks or investment F2-firms with significant financial resources.
Our trade receivables are with a variety of domestic, international and national oil and gas companies. We had no clients who
provided more than 10 % of our revenue for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 and26824-. We consider our
credit risk related to trade accounts receivable to be limited due to the creditworthiness and financial resources of our clients. We
apply the expected credit losses methodology for measurement of credit losses on financial assets measured at amortized cost
basis. We evaluate our estimate for credit losses on an on- going basis throughout the year. Concentration of Interest Rate
RiskWe are exposed to interest rate risk on our revolving credit facility debt, which carries a variable interest rate. We are
exposed to interest rate risk on our Senior Notes which carry a fixed interest rate, but whose fair value will fluctuate based on
changes in interest rates and market perception of our credit risk. See Note 11- Long- term Debt, net. Cash and Cash
EquivalentsCash and cash equivalents include all short- term, highly liquid instruments purchased with an original maturity of
three months or less. These items are carried at cost, which approximates fair value. Accounts ReceivableTrade accounts
receivable are recorded at their invoiced amounts and do not bear interest. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our clients,
monitor collections and payments, consider our historical collection experience and our current aging of client receivables
outstanding, in addition to client’ s representations and our understanding of the economic environment in which our clients
operate. Based on our review we establish or adjust allowances for credit losses for specific clients and the accounts receivable,




as a whole, and recognize expense. When an account is determined to be uncollectible, we charge the receivable to our
allowance for credit losses. The net carrying value of accounts receivable approximates fair value. Contract Assets and
LiabilitiesContract assets and liabilities arise from differences in timing of revenue recognition, billings and cash collections.
Contract assets include our right to payment for goods and services already transferred to a customer when the right to payment
is conditional on something other than the passage of time. For example, we have contracts where we recognize revenue over
time but do not have a contractual right to payment until we complete the performance obligations. Contract liabilities consist of
advance payments received and billings in excess of revenue recognized. We generally receive up- front payments relating to our
consortia studies. We recognrze revenue over the hfe of the study as the testrng and analysrs results are made avarlable to our
consortia members. We reeerd -eXeess : ontracts—y attorrtess-than as
unearned-revente—We-classify contract liabilities for contracts Wrth a duratron greater than twelve months as current or non-
current based on the timing of revenue recognition. The current portion of contract liabilities is included in unearned
revenues and the non- current portion of contract liabilities is included in other long- term liabilities.
InventoriesInventories consist of manufactured goods, materials and supplies used for sales or services to clients. Inventories are
stated at the lower of cost or estimated net realizable value. Inventory costs are recorded at standard cost which approximates
the first- in, first- out method. F- 13 Prepaid Expenses and Other Current AssetsPrepaid expenses and other current assets are
comprised primarily of prepaid insurance, value added taxes and prepaid software licenses. Property, Plant and
EquipmentProperty, plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. Major renewals and improvements
are capitalized while maintenance and repair costs are charged to expense as incurred. They are depreciated using the straight-
line method based on their individual estimated useful lives, except for leasehold improvements, which are depreciated over the
F—13-remaining lease term, if shorter. We estimate the useful lives and salvage values of our assets based on historical data as
follows: Buildings and leasehold improvements 3- 40 yearsMachinery and equipment 3- 10 years When long- lived assets are
sold or retired, the remaining costs and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain
or loss is recognized in income. We review our long- lived assets for impairment when events or changes in circumstances
indicate that their net book value may not be recovered over their remaining service lives. Indicators of possible impairment
may include significant declines in activity levels in regions where specific assets or groups of assets are located, extended
periods of idle use, declining revenue or cash flow or overall changes in general market conditions. Whenever possible
impairment is indicated, we compare the carrying value of the assets or asset groups to the sum of the estimated undiscounted
future cash flows expected from use, plus salvage value, less the costs of the subsequent disposition of the assets. If impairment
is still indicated, we compare the fair value of the assets to the carrying ameunt-value and recognize an impairment loss for the
amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value. We did not record any material impairment charges relating to our
long- lived assets held for use during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 ard-2624. The geopolitical conflict
between Russia and Ukraine, which began in February 2022 and has continued through December 31, 2623-2024 , has resulted
in disruptions to our operations in Russia and Ukraine. The Company evaluated long- lived assets in Russia and Ukraine as part
of our assessment of our assets group and did not identify triggering events as of December 31, 2623-2024 . Based on our
assessments, we determined there was no impairment for long- lived assets in Russia and Ukraine as of December 31, 2623
2024 . See Note 18- Impairments and Other Charges. LeasesWe have operating leases primarily consisting of offices and lab
space, machinery and equipment and vehicles. We determine if an arrangement is an operating or finance lease at inception.
Lease assets and lease liabilities are recognized based on the present value of the future minimum lease payments over the lease
term at commencement date. Where our lease does not provide an implicit rate, we estimate the discount rate used to discount
the future minimum lease payments using our incremental borrowing rate and other information available at the commencement
date. Operating leased assets also include all initial direct costs incurred. The lease term may include options to extend or
terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise that option. Operating leased assets are included in right of
use (“ ROU ) assets and, along with current and long- term operating lease liabilities, are separately presented in our
consolidated balance sheet. Financing leased assets are included in property, plant and equipment, net and the related liabilities
are included in other current and other long- term liabilities in our consolidated balance sheet. ROU assets are subsequently
depreciated over the estimated useful life of the asset and lease liabilities are carried at amortized cost using the effective
interest rate method. The Company has elected to apply the short- term lease exemption to all classes of underlying ROU assets.
Accordingly, no ROU asset or lease liability is recognized for leases with a term of twelve months or less. The Company has
elected to apply the practical expedient for combining lease and non- lease components for vehicle leases and elected not to
apply the practical expedient for combining lease and non- lease components to all other classes of underlying ROU assets. F-
14 Intangibles and Goodwilllntangible assets, which include trade secrets, patents, technology, agreements not to compete, trade
names, and trademarks, are carried at cost less accumulated amortization, for intangibles with a definite life, and any
accumulated impairment. Intangibles with definite lives are amortized using the straight- line method based on the estimated
useful life of the intangible. We review our intangible assets with definite lives for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that net book value may not be recovered over their remaining service lives. F=—4-We record goodwill as
the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acquired in acquisitions accounted for under the purchase
method of accounting. Goodwill is not subject to amortization and is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate goodwill is more likely than not impaired. We assess intangibles with indefinite lives and
goodwill for impairment by performing a qualitative assessment or a quantitative test. The qualitative assessment is to determine
whether the existence of events or circumstances leads to a determination that it is more likely than not that the fair value is less
than carrying ameunt-value . If it is concluded that it is more- likely- than not that an impairment exists, a quantitative test is
required which compares the estimated fair value to carrying value. If the estimated fair value is less than its-carrying value,
then there is an impairment loss limited to the carrying value. Significant judgments and assumptions are inherent in our




estimate of future cash flows used to determine the estimate of the reporting unit’ s fair value which include assumptions
regarding future revenue growth rates, discount rates and expected margins. See Note 18- Impairments and Other Charges.
Accounts PayableTrade accounts payable are recorded at their invoiced amounts and do not bear interest. The carrying value of
accounts payable approximates fair value. Income TaxesWe recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future
tax consequences of events that have been included in the consolidated financial statements or tax returns. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are determined based on the difference between the financial statement and the tax basis of assets and liabilities
using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the asset is expected to be recovered or the liability is expected to be
settled. We include interest and penalties from tax judgments in income tax expense. We record a liability for unrecognized tax
benefits resulting from uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in our tax return. We also recognize interest and
penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. See Note 9- Income Taxes. The Company is
subject to controlled foreign corporations Subpart F income (“ Subpart F ”) tax, which is a tax primarily on passive
income from controlled foreign corporations. In addition, the 2017 Tax Cuts and Jobs Act imposed a global intangible
low- taxed income (“ GILTI ”) tax that determines the amount of Subpart F income that must be recognized. The FASB
Staff Q & A, Topic 740, No. 5, Accounting for Global Intangible Low- Taxed Income, states that an entity can make an
accounting policy election to either recognize deferred taxes for temporary basis differences expected to reverse as
GILTI in the future years or provide for tax expense related to GILTI in the year the tax is incurred. The Company has
elected to recognize tax expense related to GILTI in the year the tax is incurred. Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit
PlansWe provide a non- contributory defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all of our Dutch employees (“ Dutch
Plan ) who were hired prior to 2000. We recognize net periodic pension costs associated with the Dutch pter-Plan in income
and recognize the unfunded status of the plan, if any, as another long- term liability. We recognize the actuarial gains or losses
and prior service costs or credits that arise during the period as a component of other comprehensive income. The projection of
benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets requires the use of assumptions and estimates. Actual results could differ from
those estimates. See Note 12- Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans. We maintain defined contribution plans for the
benefit of eligible employees primarily in Canada, the Netherlands, the United Kingdom and the United States. We expense
contributions in the period the contribution is made. F- 15 Derivative InstrumentsWe may enter into a variety of derivative
instruments in connection with the management of our exposure to fluctuations in interest rates or currency exchange rates. See
Note 15- Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. We do not enter into derivatives for speculative purposes.
Comprehensive Ineeme-oss);-Comprehensive-IncomeComprehensive income is comprised of net income and other charges
or credits to equity that are not the result of transactions with owners. Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) consists
of prior service costs and unrecognized net actuarial gain or loss from the Dutch pension plan and changes in the fair value of
our interest rate swaps. See Note 12- Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans and Note 15- Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities. Revenue RecognitionAll of our revenue is derived from contracts with clients. Our contracts include
standard commercial payment terms generally acceptable in each region, and do not include financing with extended payment
terms. We have no significant obligations for F—5-refunds, warranties, or similar obligations. Our revenue does not include
taxes collected from our clients. In certain circumstances we apply the guidance in Accounting Standards Codification Topic
606- Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ Topic 606 ) to a portfolio of contracts with similar characteristics. We use
estimates and assumptions when accounting for a portfolio that reflect the size and composition of the portfolio of contracts. We
recognize revenue at an amount that reflects the consideration expected to be received in exchange for such services or goods as
described below by applying the five- step method to: (1) identify the contract (s) with clients; (2) identify the performance
obligation (s) in the contract; (3) determine the transaction price; (4) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligation
(s) in the contract; and (5) recognize revenue when (or as) we satisfy the performance obligation (s). A performance obligation
is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct service or good to a client and is the unit of account under Topic 606. We have
contracts with two general groups of performance obligations: those that require us to perform analysis and / or diagnostic tests
in our laboratory or at the client’ s wellsite and those from the sale of tools, diagnostic and equipment products and related
services. Service Revenue: We provide a variety of services to clients in the oil and gas industry. Where services are provided
related to the testing and analysis of rock and fluids, we recognize revenue upon the provision of the test results or analysis to
the client. For our design, field engineering and completion diagnostic services, we recognize revenue upon the delivery of those
services at the well site or delivery of diagnostic data. In the case of our consortia studies, we have multiple performance
obligations and revenue is recognized at the point in time when the testing and analysis results on each contributed core are
made available to our consortia members. For arrangements that include multiple performance obligations, we allocate revenue
to each performance obligation based on estimates of the price that we would charge the client for each promised service or
product if it were sold on a standalone basis. To a lesser extent, we enter into other types of contracts including service
arrangements and non- subscription software and licensing agreements. We recognize revenue for these arrangements over time
or at a point in time depending on our evaluation of when the client obtains control of the promised services or products.
Product Sales Revenue: We manufacture equipment that we sell to our clients in the oil and gas industry. We recognize revenue
when control of the promised product is transferred to the client. Control of the product usually passes to the client at the time
shipment is made or picked up by the client at our facilities, as defined within the contract. Disaggregation of RevenueWe
contract with clients for service revenue and / or product sales revenue. We present revenue disaggregated by services and
product sales in our consolidated statements of operations. For revenue disaggregated by operating segment, see Note 21-
Segment Reporting and Other Disaggregated Information. Stock- Based CompensationFor new awards issued and awards
modified, repurchased or canceled, we record compensation expense in the consolidated statements of operations equal to the
fair value of the award at the date of the grant, modification, repurchase or cancellation over the requisite service period of the
award. The fair value is generally determined by the quoted market price of the Company’ s common stock on the date of grant



less the discounted value of the expected dividends to be paid over the vesting F- 16 period. Market vesting conditions, as
applicable, are included in the estimation of the fair value of the award. Forfeitures are recognized as they occur. Non-
controlling InterestsWe maintain non- controlling interests in several investment ventures. Non- controlling interest have been
recorded to reflect outside ownership attributable to consolidated subsidiaries that are less than 100 % owned and presented as a
separate component of equity in the consolidated balance sheets and income in the consolidated statements of operations and
other comprehensive income fessy-, respectively. In addition, when a subsidiary is deconsolidated, any retained non- controlling
equity investment in the former subsidiary will be initially measured at fair value and recorded as a gain or loss. 3.
ACQUISITIONS AND DIVESTURESWe had no significant acquisitions or divestitures during the years ended December 31,
2024, 2023 sand 2022 and2024- F—16-4. CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES The balance of contract assets and
contract liabilities consist of the following (in thousands): December 31, Contract assets: Current $ $ 1,293 $ § 1, +48-$14-293
$+H48-Contract liabilities: Current $ $ Nea—etrrent—9% $ December 31, 2023-2024 Estimate of when contract liabilities will
be recognized as revenue: Within 12 months $ The current portion of contract assets is included in our accounts receivable as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-. The current portion of contract liabilities is included in unearned revenues as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023 and, as applicable, the non- current portion of contract liabilities is included in other long- term
liabilities. We did not recognize any impairment losses on our contract assets for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 5
and 2022 and-2021-. 5. INVENTORIESInventories consist of the following (in thousands): December 31, Finished goods $ 27,
127 $ 30, 508 $26;-534-Parts and materials 28, 953 37, 670 31;323-Work in progress 3, 322 3, 524 2;-588-Total inventories $
59,402 $ 71, 702 $-66,445-We include freight costs incurred for shipping inventory to our clients in the cost of product sales
caption in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. F- 17 6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT,
NETThe components of property, plant and equipment, net are as follows (in thousands): December 31, Land $ 10, 652-402 $
10, 652 Building and leasehold improvements 117, 682 120, 545 426;-994-Machinery and equipment 283, 296 284, 225 288;
H9-Total property, plant and equipment 411, 380 415, 422 449;765-Less: Accumulated depreciation ( 314, 317) (315, 796)
B3 HProperty, plant and equipment, net $ 97, 063 $ 99, 626 $14085-828-Sce Note 719 - feases-Other (Income) Expense,
net for additional information regarding the write- down of leasehold improvements. F=—=47#7. LEASESOur operating leases
primarily consist of offices and lab space, machinery and equipment and vehicles. Fhe-eomponents-ef-We abandoned certain
fease-leases in expense-and-other—- the U. S. and Canada during tn-fefmaﬁeﬁ—&fe—as—feﬂews—(-m—theus&nds}—%%the Years
years Ended-ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 Consolldated Statements of Operatlons Operatmg 1ease ...... remammg lease
term- operating leases 9 . 24-years Vetg v g 3

ot-heierneeﬂae-(expense)—net— See Note 19- Other (Income) Expense net for addltlonal 1nformat10n regardmg the write-
down of right of use assets . Consolidated Statements of Operations:Operating lease expense $36;998-$ 17,454 § 16,595 $
17,253 Short- term lease expense 1, 726-4-768 1,784 1,990 Variable lease expense ,H9-1,758 1,414 1,462 Sublease income
227(113) — — Total lease expense $26;240-$ 20,867 $ 19,793 $ 20,705 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows:Operating
cash flows- operating leases payments $ 16, 708-$3+6;,-541 $ 16,598 $ 16,367 Right of use assets obtained in exchange for
operating lease liabilities $ +4;237$-17,005 $ 5,520 $ 5,736 Other information:Weighted- average remaining lease term-
operating leases 8-9 Scheduled undiscounted lease payments for non- cancellable operating leases consist of the following (in
thousands): December 31, 2023-2024 Operating Leases Operating Sublease $ +2-13, 245 $ (231) 10, 417 (236) 8, 324 (241) 6,
586 (163) 4 , 388 — $—€2%6)—9—67+(%39H%92—623§)—6—1%H%39)—4—8%+&629—Thereafter 26-25 . 824-505 — Total
undlscounted lease payments 67-68 , 336-465 $ ( 871 +;-692-) Less: Imputed interest (4+5-14 , 679432 ) —Total operating lease
liabilities $ 52-54 , 033 F- 18 251-$-(1;-092)-8. INTANGIBLES AND GOODWILLThe components of intangibles, net are as
follows (in thousands): December 31, Gross Accumulated Amortization Gross Accumulated Amortization Useful life in years
Gress-Carrying Value and Impairment Gress-Carrying Value and Impairment Acquired trade secrets 2- 20 $ 4, 278 $ 3,967 $ 4,
278 $ 3, 756 $4:278-$3;-545-Acquired patents and technology 4- 15 15, 722 14, 243 15, 744 13, 953 +4:-96742,883
Agreements not to compete 2- 5 1, 105 1, 105 1,449-105 1, 836-105 Acquired trade names and trademarks Indefinite 4, 624 4,
624 Total intangibles, net $ 25, 729 $ 19, 326 $ 25, 751 $ 18, 825 $24:-958-$17475F-—18-Our estimated amortization expense
relating to these intangibles for the next five years is summarized in the following table (in thousands): December 31, 2823
2024 $ $ $ $ $ The carrying ameunt-value of goodwill fereaeh-of $ 99. 4 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 is
associated with our Reservoir Descrlptlon operatlng segment ﬁ—as—fe{-lews—(— There have been no changes in the carrying
value during the years ended thous eserip ree-at-December 31,
2024, 2023 and -$—99—445—$;$—99—445—Ba-1aﬂee-&t—]9eeember—3-1—2022 -$—99—44§—$—$—99—44§-9 INCOME TAXES The
components of income before income taxes are as follows (in thousands): For the Years Ended December 31, United States $
(11,045) $ 3,907 $ (4, 099) $408;-628-Other countries 57,232 37, 303 34, 053 26;-882-Income before income taxes $ 46, 187 $
41,210 $ 29, 954 $36,110-The components of income tax expense are as follows (in thousands): For the Years Ended
December 31, Current: United States $ 1,231 $ 1,204 $ 1, 269 $34-983-Other countries 12, 205 13, 446 9, 784 6;-500-State and
provincial (22) (100) Total current 13, 414 15, 247 10, 953 9;482-Deferred: United States (2, 487) 1, 555 (908) Other countries
2,842 (12, 343) (162) 5;-630-State and provincial (274) Total deferred (11, 062) (657) 6, 709-Income tax expense $ 14, 034 $ 4,
185 $ 10, 296 F-19 $15;-894-The differences in income tax expense computed using the statutory income tax rate and our
income tax expense as reported in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations are as follows (in thousands): F=4%
For the Years Ended December 31, Tax at the statutory income tax rate (1) $ 9,553 $ 8, 139 $ 7, 368 $-8,98+International
earnings taxed at rates other than the statutory income tax rate (1) 2,237 5, 749 5, 923 9;483-Non- deductible expenses 1, 092




2, 168 3, 096 +5-875-Net operating loss (190) 4, 661 (3, 627) 3;:+44-Foreign earnings currently taxed in the U. S. 3,934 3, 077

992-) Unremitted earnings of subsidiaries (14, 464) (27) 45236-Adjustments of prior year taxes ( 935) ( 3, 488) 326
Adjustments of income tax reserves (184) (5345 Foreign exchange (964) (171) (576 H45168-) UK tax rate change — (965
Netherlands-auditsetdement-— —15-522-Accrued withholding taxes 3,262 1, 639 1, 883 5-648-Other 3, 519 4;-663)-Income
tax expense $ 14,034 $ 4, 185 $ 10, 296 $45;-894-(1) Based on the U. S. statutory corporate income tax rate of 21 % for 2024
and 2023 and the Netherlands statutory income tax rate of 25 % for 2022 and-2624-. Deferred tax assets and liabilities result
from various temporary differences between the financial statement carrying ameunt-value and their tax basis. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are summarized as follows (in thousands): December 31, Deferred tax assets: Net operating loss carry-
forwards $ 6,279 $ 7, 814 $43;-897Tax credit carry- forwards 5, 811 2, 144 4;-653-Accruals for compensation 9, 236 8, 985 7
S4+7Accruals for inventory capitalization 1, 673 1, 621 Unrealized benefit from corporate restructuring 36, 762 40, 963 44888
Intangibles 1, 886 1, 584 45-826-Unrealized benefit plan loss 1, 224 2-898-Unrealized foreign exchange 2, 819 2, 875 25,-881+-Uk
tax—rate-ehange—Unecarned revenue 2, 632 3, 453 Interest carry- forward 11,367 7, 912 45766-Other 1, 074 1, 401 Total
deferred tax assets 80, 501 79, 976 86;468-Valuation allowance (8, 812) (8, 276 3H9;34+8-) Net deferred tax assets 71, 689 71,
700 #F5450-Deferred tax liabilities: Property, plant and equipment, net ( 2, 840) ( 3, 566 H37668-) Accrued withholding taxes (
11, 279) ( 10, 466 3H26;489-) Unrealized foreign exchange ( 1, 542) ( 988) 54+5)>-Other ( 198) ( 176 3H3485-) Total deferred tax
liabilities (15, 859) (15, 196 H34HF5F) Net deferred income taxes $ 55, 830 $ 56, 504 $45;693-F- 20 The table below
summarizes the net deferred tax assets and net deferred tax liabilities by legal jurisdiction (in thousands): December 31, Long-
term deferred tax assets, net $ 69, 613 $ 69, 201 $-68;,570-Long- term deferred tax liabilities, net ( 13, 783) (12, 697 H22-87F)
Net deferred income taxes $ 55, 830 § 56, 504 $-45;-693-At December 31, 2023-2024 , we had tax net operating loss carry-
forwards in various tax jurisdictions of $ 32-28 . 8 million. Although we cannot be certain that these operating loss carry-
forwards will be utilized, we anticipate that we will have sufficient taxable income in future years to allow us to fully utilize the
carry- forwards that are not subject to a valuation allowance. As of December 31, 2023-2024 , if unused , $ 0. 8 million will
expire between 2025 and 2026 $ 2 9 mllhon W111 explre between %924—2027 and 20252029 , 5 3.6-2 m11110n will explre

6-an ; § etw 2030 and 2033 and $ 2-1 . 4 million will expire
beyond %932—2033 The remalnmg balance of $ 2—1—20 &5 mllhon is not subject to expiration. During 2623-2024 , no material
net operating loss carry- forwards, which carried a full valuation allowance, expired unused. We file income tax returns in the U.
S. federal jurisdiction, various states and foreign jurisdictions. We are currently undergoing multiple examinations in various
jurisdictions, and the years 2011 through 2622-2023 remain open for examination in various tax jurisdictions in which we
operate. The ultimate settlement and timing of these additional tax assessments is uncertain but the Company will continue to
vigorously defend its return filing position and does not view the assessments as probable at this time. The Company is subject
to controlled foreign corporations Subpart F income (“ Subpart F ”) tax, which is a tax primarily on passive income
from controlled foreign corporations. In addition, the 2017 Tax Cuts and Jobs Act imposed a global intangible low-
taxed income (“ GILTI ”) tax that determines the amount of Subpart F income that must be recognized. The Company
estimates approximately $ 10. 0 million of GILTI income and $ 8. 7 million of Subpart F income for the year ended
December 31, 2024 with a U. S. tax effect of $ 2. 1 million and $ 1. 8 million, respectively. For the year ended December
31, 2023, the company estimated no GILTI income and Subpart F income of $ 14. 7 million with a U. S. tax effect of $ 3.
1 million. During 2623-2024 , adjustments were made to estimates for uncertain tax positions in certain tax jurisdictions based
upon changes in facts and circumstances, resulting in a reduction to the unrecognized tax benefits. A reconciliation of the
beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in thousands): For the Years Ended December 31,
Unrecognized tax benefits at January 1, $ 3,483 $ 3, 509 $ 4, 327 $-6;,255-Tax positions, current period Tax positions, prior
period ( 165) ( 867 3¥39F) Settlements with taxing authorities — — (19 345395-) Lapse of applicable statute of limitations (
184) (238) (162 3540-) Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, § 3,272 $ 3, 483 § 3, 509 $4;,327-Our policy is to record
accrued interest and penalties on uncertain tax positions, net of any tax effect, as part of total tax expense for the period. The
corresponding liability is carried along with the tax exposure as a non- current payable in other long- term liabilities. For the
years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 and2024-, we recognized $ 0. 2 million, $ 0. 6 million ;-and $ (0. 2) mithen
and-$-6—3-million, respectively, in interest and penalties. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023 ard2622-, we had $ 5. 1 million
and $ 4. 9 millienand-$4-3-million, respectively, accrued for the payment of interest and penalties. Changes in our estimate of
unrecognized tax benefits would affect our effective tax rate. As of December 31, 2023-2024 , there are $ 3-0 . 4 million of
unrecognized tax benefits that could be resolved within the next twelve months which could have a positive effect on the annual
effective tax rate. F- 21 10. OTHER ASSETSOther assets consist of the following (in thousands): December 31, Cash surrender
value of life insurance policies $ 25, 435 $ 25, 397 $23;-78F-Investments in unconsolidated affiliates 5, 080 4, 844 Other 4, 273
450-Other3, 978 57-546-Total other assets $ 34, 788 $ 34, 219 $33;747-Cash surrender value of life insurance policies relates to
postretirement benefit plans. See Note 12- Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans. Investments include unconsolidated
affiliates accounted for under the equity method where the operations of these entities are in- line with those of our core
business. These entities are not considered special purpose entities, nor do we have special off- balance sheet arrangements
through these entities. F=24-11. LONG- TERM DEBT, NETWe have no finance leaqe obhgatlons Debt is summarized in the
following table (in thousands): December 31, Interest Rate Maturity Date
2023-$—$75;060-2021 Senior Notes Series A (2-1) 4. 09 % January 12,2026 $ 45, 000 $ 45, 000 2021 Senlor Notes Serleq
B (21)4. 38 % January 12, 2028 15, 000 15, 000 2023 Senior Notes Series A (3-2) 7. 25 % June 28, 2028 25, 000 —25, 000
2023 Senior Notes Series B (3-2) 7. 50 % June 28, 2030 25, 000 —285, 000 Credit Facility 18, 000 56 ;-680-46-, 000 Total
long- term debt 128, 000 166 666475~ 000 Less: Debt issuance costs ( 1, 889) ( 2, 866 H2-6+4-) Long- term debt, net § 126,
111 $ 163, 134 $3472,386-( 1 Hnterestwaspayable A N e —2-) Interest is payable semi-




annually on June 30 and December 30. (3—2 ) lnterest is payable semi- annually on March 28 and September 28 —I-ﬁ—eoﬂﬂeet—teﬂ

v stiftg-agre . We, along Wrth
our Wholly owned subsrdlary Core Laboratorres (U S ) lnterests Holdlngs lnc (“ CLIH ’) as issuer, have senior notes
outstandlng that were 1ssued through prrvate placernent transactrons 9ﬂ—September—39—292—3—we—feﬁred—t-he—29{—l—Seﬁter—Netes
W sgreg Retps Fdate—As of December 31, 2623-2024 , we have two series
of senior notes outstandlng with an aggregate principal amount of § 110. 0 million: (1) Series A and Series B of the 2021 Senior
Notes were issued in 2021 (the “ 2021 Senior Notes ), and (2) Series A and Series B of the 2023 Senior Notes were entered-on
May4;2023;-and-subsequently-issued andfunded-on June 28, 2023 (the “ 2023 Senior Notes 7). The 2021 Senior Notes and the
2023 Senior Notes are collectively the “ Senior Notes ”. We, along with CLIH, have a credit facility, the Eighth Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement (as amended, the “ Credit Facility ) for an aggregate borrowing commitment of $ 135. 0 million
with a $ 50. 0 million “ accordion ” feature. The Credit Facility is secured by first priority interests in (1) substantially all of the
tangible and intangible personal property, and equity interest of CLIH and certain of the Company’ s U. S. and foreign
subsidiary companies; and (2) instruments evidencing intercompany indebtedness owing to the Company, CLIH and certain of
the Company’ s U. S. and foreign subsidiary companies. Under the Credit Facility, the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (*
SOFR ”) plus 2. 00 % to SOFR plus 3. 00 % will be applied to outstanding borrowings. Any outstanding balance under the
Credit Facility is due at maturity on July 25, 2026, subject to springing maturity on July 12, 2025, if any portion of the
Company’ s 2021 Senior Notes Series A due January 12, 2026, in the aggregate principal amount of $ 45. 0 million, remain
outstanding on July 12, 2025, unless the Company’ s liquidity equals or exceeds the principal amount of the 2021 Senior Notes
Series A outstanding on such date. The available capacity at any point in time is reduced by outstanding borrowings and
outstanding letters of credit which totaled approximately $ 9-10 . 9-8 million at December 31, 2623-2024 , resulting in an
available borrowing capacity under the Credit Facility of approximately $ 69-106 . 1 million. In addition to indebtedness under
the Credit Facility, we had approximately $ 5-7 . 8-6 million of outstanding letters of credit and performance guarantees and
bonds from other sources as of December 31, 2623-2024 . F- 22 The Credit Facility and Senior Notes include a cross- default
provision, whereby a default under one agreement may trigger a default in the other agreements. The terms of the Credit Facility
and Senior Notes require us to meet certain covenants, including, but not limited to, an interest coverage ratio (calculated as
consolidated EBITDA divided by interest expense) and a leverage ratio (calculated as consolidated net indebtedness divided by
consolidated EBITDA), where consolidated EBITDA (as defined in each agreement) and interest expense are calculated using
the most recent four fiscal quarters. The Credit Facility has more restrictive covenants with a minimum interest coverage ratio of
3. 00 to 1. 00 and permits a maximum leverage ratio of 2. 50 to 1. 00. The Credit Facility allows non- cash charges such as
impairment of assets, stock compensation and other non- cash charges to be added back in the calculation of consolidated
EBITDA. The terms of our Credit Facility also allow us to negotiate in good faith to amend any ratio or requirement to preserve
the original intent of the agreement if any change in accounting principles would affect the computation of any financial ratio or
covenant of the Credit Facility. In accordance with the terms of the Credit Facility, our leverage ratio is 1. #6-31 , and our
interest coverage ratio is 6. 3774 , each for the period ended December 31, 2623-2024 . We F=22-are in compliance with all
covenants contained in our Credit Facility and Senior Notes as of December 31, 2024 . Certain of our material, wholly owned
subsidiaries are guarantors or co- borrowers under the Credit Facility and Senior Notes. See Note 15- Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities for additional information regarding interest rate swap agreements we have entered to fix the underlying
risk- free rate on our Credit Facility and Senior Notes. The estimated fair value of total debt at December 31, 2024 and 2023
and-2022-approximated the book value of total debt. The fair value was estimated using Level 2 inputs by calculating the sum of
the discounted future interest and principal payments through the rnaturrty date 12 PENSION AND OTHER
POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANSDefined PEAD conn S A

ﬂfaﬂgeﬂ&eﬂfs—disettssed—bebw—Beﬁned—Beneﬁt PlanPrror to J anuary 2020 one of our subsrdrarres pr0V1ded a noncontrrbutory

defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all of our Dutch employees who were hired prior to 2000. This pension
benefit was based on years of service and final pay or career average pay depending on when the employee began participating.
The Dutch Plan was curtailed prior to January 2020, and these employees have been moved into the Dutch defined contribution
plan. However, the unconditional indexation for this group of participants continues for so long as they remain in active service
with the Company. The following table summarizes the change in the projected benefit obligation and the fair value of plan
assets for the Dutch Plan (in thousands): For the Years Ended December 31, Projected Benefit Obligation: Projected benefit
obligation at beginning of year $ 43, 985 $ 40, 059 $-63;3429-Interest cost 1, 403 1, 480 Benefits paid and administrative
expenses (1, 587) (1, 505) Actuarial (gain) loss, net (1, 398114 )Aefaa-na-l—(gam)—}ess—ﬂet—z 905 &8;36H-Unrealized (garn)
loss on foreign exchange (2, 018) 1, 046 3;-892)-Projected benefit obligation at end of year $ 40, 669 $ 43, 985 $46-659-Fair
Value of Plan Assets: Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 41, 713 $ 37, 376 $59,-8039-Increase (decrease) in plan
asset value 3, 137 @%=243)-Employer contributions 1, 719 Benefits paid and administrative expenses (1, 587) (1, 505 3+3;39%-)
Unrealized gain (loss) on foreign exchange (3-1, 655931 ) Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 38,949 $ 41, 713 $3%
376-Under- funded status of the plan at end of the year $ (1, 720) $ ( 2, 272 3}$2,683-) Accumulated Benefit Obligation $ 40,
669 $ 41, 727 F- 23 $37,394+-The following actuarial assumptions were used to determine the actuarial present value of our
projected benefit obligation and the net periodic pension cost for the Dutch Plan: For the Years Ended December 31, Weighted
average assumed discount rate 3. 2748 % 3. 7227 % Expected long- term rate of return on plan assets 3. 2748 % 3. 7227 %
Weighted average rate of compensation increase 2. 00 % 2. 10 % 2-66-%F-23-The discount rate used to determine our



projected benefit obligation at December 31, 2623-2024 was deereasee-increased from 3. 72-27 % to 3. 2748 %, consistent with
a general increase in interest rates in Europe for AAA- rated long- term Euro government bonds. Amounts recognized for the
Dutch Plan in the consolidated balance sheets consist of (in thousands): December 31, Deferred tax asset $ $ Other long- term
liabilities 1, 720 2, 272 2;683-Accumulated other comprehensive loss (5, 890) (5, 914 H5;+68-) The components of net periodic
pension cost for the Dutch Plan include (in thousands): For the Years Ended December 31, Interest cost $ 1, 403 $ 1, 430 $-$
Expected return on plan assets (1, 178) (1, 365) (545 3H306-) Net periodic pension cost $ $ $ We funded the future obligations of
the Dutch Plan by purchasing an insurance contract from a large multi- national insurance company with a five- year maturity.
Each year we made annual premium payments to the insurance company (1) to provide for the benefit obligation of the current
year of service based on each employee’ s age, gender and current salary, and (2) for the changes in the benefit obligation for
prior years of service due to changes in participants’ salary. Plan assets returns equal the contractual rate, which are comparable
with governmental debt securities. We determine the fair value of these plan assets with the assistance of an actuary using
observable inputs (Level 2), which approximates the contract value of the investments. Our expected long- term rate of return
assumptions are based on the weighted- average contractual rates for each contract. Dutch law dictates the minimum
requirements for pension funding. Our goal is to meet these minimum funding requirements, while our insurance carrier invests
to minimize risks associated with future benefit payments. In 2624-2025 , our minimum funding requirements are expected to be
$ 0. 4-3 million. Our estimate of future annual contributions is based on current funding and the unconditional indexation
requirements, and we believe these contributions will be sufficient to fund the plan. Expected benefit payments to eligible
participants under this plan for the next five years are as follows (in thousands): December 31, 2623-2024 § 1, 634-580 $ 1, 725
752 $ 1,872941 § 2, 9853-065 $ 2, 480-224 Succeeding five years $ 42-11 , 247-833 Defined Contribution PlansWe maintain
defined contribution plans for the benefit of eligible employees primarily in Canada, the Netherlands, the United Kingdom, and
the United States. In accordance with the terms of each plan, we and our participating employees contribute up to specified
limits and under certain plans, we may make discretionary contributions in accordance with the defined contribution plans. Our
primary obligation under these defined contribution plans is limited to paying the annual F- 24 contributions. For the years
ended December 31, 2024, 2023 r-and 2022 and2624-, we paid $ 4. 7 million, $ 4. 3 million ;and $ 3. 5 mithemrand-$23
million, respectively, for our contributions and our additional discretionary contributions to the defined contribution plans.
Vesting in all employer contributions is accelerated upon the death of the participant or a change in control. Employer
contributions under the plans are forfeited upon a participant’ s termination of employment to the extent they are not vested at
that time. Deferred Compensation ArrangementsWe have entered into deferred compensation contracts for certain key
employees to provide additional retirement income to the participants. The benefit is determined by the contract for either a
fixed amount or by a calculation using years of service or F=24-age at retirement along with the average of their base salary for
the five years prior to retirement. We are not required to fund this arrangement; however, we have purchased life insurance
policies with cash surrender values to assist us in providing the benefits pursuant to these deferred compensation contracts with
the actual benefit payments made by Core Laboratories. The charge to expense for these deferred compensation contracts for
the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 ;and 2022 and2624-was $ 0. 9 million, $ 1. | million;-and $ 1. 4 mithernand-$1+-7
million, respectively. We provide severance compensation to certain key employees if employment is terminated under certain
circumstances, such as following a change in control or for any reason other than upon their death or disability, for “ cause ” or
upon a material breach of a material provision of their employment agreement, as defined in their employment agreements. In
addition, there are certain countries where we are legally required to make severance payments to employees when they leave
our service. We have accrued for all of these severance payments, but they are not funded. We also have adopted a non-
qualified deferred compensation plan (“ Deferred Compensation Plan ) that allows certain highly compensated employees to
defer a portion of their salary, commission and bonus, as well as the amount of any reductions in their deferrals under the
Deferred Compensation Plan for employees in the United States, due to certain limitations imposed by the U. S. Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “ Code ). Contributions to the plan are invested in equity and other investment fund
assets and carried on the balance sheet at fair value. The benefits under these contracts are fully vested. Our primary obligation
for the Deferred Compensation Plan is limited to our annual contributions. Employer contributions to the Deferred
Compensation Plan for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 r-and 2022 and2824-were $ 0. 4 million, $ 0. 4 million and $
0. 3 mithenand-$-6-0-million, respectively. Vesting in all employer contributions is accelerated upon the death of the
participant or a change in control. Employer contributions under the plans are forfeited upon a participant’ s termination of
employment to the extent they are not vested at that time. 13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIESWe have been and
may from time to time be named as a defendant in legal actions that arise in the ordinary course of business. These include, but
are not limited to, employment- related claims and contractual disputes or claims for personal injury or property damage which
occur in connection with the provision of our services and products. A liability is accrued when a loss is both probable and can
be reasonably estimated. We do not maintain any off- balance sheet debt or other similar financing arrangements, nor have we
formed any special purpose entities for the purpose of maintaining off- balance sheet debt. See Note 11- Long- term Debt, net
for amounts committed under letters of eredits— eredit and performance guarantees and bonds. 14. EQUITY Common StockIn
connection with the Redomestication Transaction in May 2023 , all common shares in Core Laboratories N. V. at par value
EUR 0. 02, were canceled and exchanged for common stock in Core Laboratories Inc. at par value $ 0. 01, on a one- for- one
basis. Core Laboratories Inc.” s common stock par value was decreased by $ 0. 7 million for the difference between the total par
value of common stock of Core Laboratories Inc. and the total par value of common shares of Core Laboratories N. V. at the
date of transfer, with an offset to additional paid in capital. Equity related transaction costs associated with the Redomestication
Transaction of $ 4. 8 million have been charged to additional paid in capital. In addition, Core Laboratories N. V. assigned to
Core Laboratories Inc., and Core Laboratories Inc. assumed, all of Core Laboratories N. V.” s rights and obligations under the

2023-Non—Employee Direetor-Stoelestock Ineentive-incentive plans Plan-and-the 2020-Long—TFerm-Ineentive Plan-. Each



outstanding Core Laboratories N. V. incentive award thereunder became a Core Laboratories Inc. incentive award that is subject
to substantially the same terms and conditions as the former Core Laboratories N. V. incentive award, except, in the case of
equity- based Core Laboratories N. V. incentive awards, the security issuable upon exercise or F- 25 settlement of the incentive
award, as applicable, will be a share of Core Laboratories Inc. common stock rather than a Core Laboratories N. V. common
share. During the year ended December 31, 2823-2024 , we distributed 239-28 , 455-311 shares of common stock upon vesting
of stock- based awards. On June 9, 2022, we entered into an Equity Distribution Agreement with certain banks (the “ 2022
Equity Distribution Agreement ) allowing for the issuance and sale of up to $ 60. 0 million shares of our common stock by any
method deemed to be an “ at- the- market offering ” as defined in Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933 (the “ 2022 ATM
Program ). On July 17, 2023, the Company terminated the 2022 Equity Distribution Agreement. As a result of the termination
of the 2022 Equity F=25-Distribution Agreement, the Company suspended and terminated the 2022 ATM Program and

therefore will not offer or sell any shares under the 2022 ATM Program or —’Fh&Gempa-n*rdtd—net—seH—aﬂy—shafes—tm&eﬁhe
2022 Equlty Distribution Agreement 5 e h h

of ﬂharee in the open market is at the dlscretron of our Board of Directors and management Such common qtock unless
canceled, may be reissued for a variety of purposes such as future acquisitions, non- employee director stock awards or
employee stock awards. From the activation of the share repurchase program on October 29, 2002 through December 31, 2823
2024 , we have repurchased 40, 379666 , 635-075 shares for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $ 1. 7 billion, or an
average price of $ 41. 28-12 per share and have canceled 33, 475, 406 shares with a historical cost of $ 1. 2 billion. At December
31,2623-2024 , we held 82-140 , 924048 shares in treasury. During the year ended December 31, 2023-2024 , we distributed
228, 413 shares of treasury stock upon vesting of stock- based awards. During the year ended December 31, 2024 , we
repurchased H3-286 , 792-440 shares of our common stock for $ 5. 3 million, of which 109, 224 shares valued at $ 2. 2-0
million saH-efswhielk-were surrendered to us pursuant to the terms of a stock- based compensation plan in consideration of the
participants’ tax burdens resulting from the issuance of common stock under that plan. Subsequent to year- end, we have
repurchased 398-228 shares of our common stock for approximately $ 64 . 0 thousand. Dividend Policyln 2008, Core
Laboratories announced the initiation of a cash dividend program. In 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 and202+-, cash dividends of $ 0. 01
per share were paid in each quarter. The declaration and payment of future dividends will be at the discretion of the Board of
Directors and will depend upon, among other things, future earnings, general financial condition, liquidity, capital requirements,
and general business conditions. On January 3429 , 2024-2025 , the Company declared a quarterly cash dividend of $ 0. 01 per
share for shareholders of record on February 42-10 , 2624-2025 payable on March 4-3 , 2624-2025 . Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income (Loss) Amounts recognized, net of income taxes, in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
consist of the following (in thousands): December 31, Pension and other postretirement benefit plans- unrecognized prior
service costs and net actuarial loss $ (5, 890) $ (5, 914 }$-(5,108-) Interest rate swaps- net fair value gain +,334+Total
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) $ (5, 769) $ (4, 972 ¥$3;777) 15. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND
HEDGING ACTIVITIESWe are exposed to market risks related to fluctuations in interest rates. To mitigate these risks, we
utilize derivative instruments in the form of interest rate swaps. We do not enter into derivative transactions for speculative

Under the Company S Credlt Facﬂrty, the SOFR pluq 2.00 % to SOFR pluq 3.

00 % will be applied to outstanding borrowmgq See Note 11- Long- term Debt, net for additional information. The Company
has elected to apply the optional expedient for hedging relationships affected by reference rate reform. Accordingly, no
outstanding balance on the Credit Facility with a SOFR rate will preclude cash flow hedging with existing London Inter- Bank
Offer Rate (“ LIBOR 7) hedging instruments. In August 2014, we entered into a swap agreement , that would have expired
August 29, 2024, with a notional amount of $ 25 million (“ 2014 Variable- to- Fixed Swap ), and the LIBOR portion of the
interest rate was fixed at 2. 5 % threugh-Auwgust29;2624- In February 2020, we entered into a second swap agreement with a
notional amount of $ 25 million (“ 2020 Variable- to- Fixed Swap ), and the LIBOR F- 26 portion of the interest rate was fixed
at 1. 3 % through February 28, 2025. These interest rate qwap agreementq were termlnated dedeﬁlgnated and settled in March

—A he stanrdingbatan - Was-5—6-m #-. The hedging relationship is
highly effective; therefore garn@ and losses on these swaps are reclassﬁ'ied mto 1nterest expense in accordance with the
forecasted transactions or the scheduled interest payments on the Credit Facility. The 2014 Variable- to- Fixed Swap
was fully amortized during the year ended December 31, 2024. The remaining net gain on the 2020 Variable- to- Fixed
Swap included in accumulated other comprehenswe income (loss) at December 31, 2024 is nommal and w111 be
reclasqlﬁed 1nt0 ite otd W 6 d &y he




it i vhieh d-to redHntocarnings withinthe-next+2-meonths-as
1nterest payments are made on the Company s Credrt F acrhty through February —I-n—Ma-reh—ZG%G—ZOZS —W&eﬁfefed-tn’ée—ﬁve

new forward interest rate swap agreement and Carrred the fair value of the terminated 2014 and 2020 Varrable to- Fixed Swaps
into the new agreement in a “ blend and extend  structured transaction. The purpose of this forward interest rate swap
agreement is to fix the underlying risk- free rate, that would be associated with the anticipated issuance of new long- term debt
by the Company in future periods. The forward interest rate swap would hedge the risk- free rate on forecasted long- term debt
for a maximum of 11 years through March 2033. Risk associated with future changes in the 10- year LIBOR interest rates have
been fixed up to a notional amount of $ 60 million with this instrument. The interest rate swap qualifies as a cash flow hedging
instrument. The forward interest rate swap agreement was terminated and settled in April 2022. The hedging relationship is
highly effective, therefore, the gain on the termination of the forward interest rate swap was included in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss). ©#-In June 28;-2023, the Company issued the 2023 Senior Notes with an aggregate principal
amount of § 50 million at fixed interest rates of 7. 25 % and 7. 50 %. The Company has elected to apply the optional expedient
for hedging relationships affected by reference rate reform. Accordingly, no outstanding balance on the 2023 Senior Notes will
preclude cash flow hedging with the existing LIBOR hedging instrument. The Company recognized a gain of $ 0. 4 million in
earnings for the $ 10 million over hedged portion of the interest rate swap in 2023 . Fhe-remaining-A net gain on-thisswap-of $
0. 1 million is included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) at December 31, 2023-2024 +is-$+. The
unamortized balance on this swap 2-mithon-efwhieh-$4—-mitlien-will be reelassified-amortized into earnings-within-the
nextt2-menths-as-interest expense in accordance with the forecasted transactions or the scheduled interest payments on the
2023 Senior Notes and any future debt through March 2033 . As of December 31, 2623-2024 , the aggregated gains and
losses on these interest swaps that #s-are included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) are a net gain of $ 0. 9-1
million. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , we had fixed rate long- term debt aggregating $ 110 million and variable rate long-
term debt aggregating $ 56-18 million. The effect of the interest rate swaps on the consolidated statements of operations was as
follows (in thousands): For the Years Ended December 31, Income Statement ClassificationDerivatives designated as hedges: 5
year interest rate swap $ § $ F48)-Increase (decrease) to interest expensel0 year interest rate swap (1, 097) ( 752) Increase
(decrease) to interest expense $ (1, 040) $ (492) $ $82)-16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTSThe Company’ s only financial
assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value on a recurring basis relate to certain aspects of the Company’ s benefit
plans. We use the market approach to determine the fair value of these assets and liabilities using significant other observable
inputs (Level 2) with the assistance of a third- party specialist. We do not have any assets or F=27liabilities measured at fair
value on a recurring basis using quoted prices in an active market (Level 1) or significant F- 27 unobservable inputs (Level 3).
Gains and losses related to the fair value changes in the financial assets and liabilities are recorded in general and administrative
expense in the consolidated statements of operations. The following table summarizes the fair value balances (in thousands):
Fair Value Measurement at December 31, 2024 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Assets: Company owned life insurance
policies (1) $ 25,435 % — $ 25,4358 — $ 25,435 $ — § 25, 435 § — Liabilities: Deferred compensation liabilities $ 19,
1038 —$19,103$—$19,103 8% —$ 19,103 $§ — Fair Value Measurement at December 31, 2023 Total Level 1 Level 2
Level 3 Assets: Company owned life insurance policies (1) $ 25,397 $ — $25,397$ —$25,397$ —$25,397 § —
Lrabrlrtres Deferred compensatron habrhtres $ 17,299 $ — $ 17, 299 $ —$17,299 $ — $ 17 299 $ — Fair-Valae

+6%3H6%34$—(1) Company owned hfe insurance pohcres have cash surrender Value and ar 1ntended to assrst in
funding deferred compensation liabilities and other benefit plans. 17. STOCK- BASED COMPENSATIONSee Note 14 —
Equity regarding the assignment and assumption of the following plans by Core Laboratories N. V. to Core Laboratories Inc. as
a result of the Redomestication Transaction. We have two stock incentive plans: the 2028-2024 Long- Term Incentive Plan (the
“LTIP ) and the 2023 Non- Employee Director Stock Incentive Plan (the ““ Director Plan ). We issue shares from either
treasury stock or authorized common stock for the following stock- based compensation plans. In 2623-2024 , we issued 98-228
, 939-413 shares out of treasury stock and 239-28 , 455-311 shares out of authorized common stock. We do not use cash to settle
equity instruments issued under stock- based compensation awards. 2626-2024 Long- Term Incentive PlanUnder the LTIP,
awards may be granted to eligible employees until May 26-8 , 26252034 , and the maximum number of shares available for
award is 43-14 , 666-100 , 000 shares. At December 31, 2623-2024 , approximately 6541 , 65+569, 741 shares remained
available for the grant of new awards. We have granted restricted stock awards under two programs: (1) the Performance Share
Award Program (“ PSAP ”); and (2) the Restricted Share Award Program (“ RSAP ). Performance Share Award ProgramThe
PSAP allows us to compensate our executive and senior management teams as we meet or exceed our business objectives. The
PSAP shares are unvested and may not be sold, assigned, pledged, hedged, margined or otherwise transferred by an award
recipient until such time as, and then only to the extent that, the restricted performance shares have vested. In the event of a
change in control (as defined in the LTIP) prior to the last day of the Performance Period, as defined, all of the award recipient’
s restricted performance shares will vest as of the effective date of such change in control. Subject to continued employment
with us, or upon death or disability, PSAP shares vest if we meet or exceed our business objectives. Stock compensation
expense includes $6-3 . 5 million, $ 6. 5 million and $ 3. 9 mitherand-$F-3-million of additional non- cash stock
compensation expense in the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 ;and 2022 and2024- respectively, asseetated-with-the



2023:2622-and 2024+ RSAP-awards-for certain members of our executive management team who became retirement eligible
during those years. The F=28-additional stock compensation expense has been recorded in accordance with FASB ASC Topic
718, < Compensation- Stock Compensation ”, which states that the period over which stock F- 28 compensation expense is
recognized should not extend beyond the eligible retirement age as defined in each executive’ s PSAP award agreement. The
PSAP awards remain unvested until the end of the performance period, and it can be determined whether the performance
criteria have been achieved. The executive will not forfeit the right to vest in the awarded shares if they voluntarily retire from
the Company after attaining the retirement age as defined in each agreement. These amounts are reflected in the totals below.
On February H-17 , 20242022 , certain members of our executive and senior management teams were awarded rights to receive
an aggregate of up to 268-362 , 298-254 shares , which include shares that may be awarded if above target level. The target
level is achieved if our calculated return on invested capital (“ ROIC ”) . as defined in the PSAP agreement , achteved
achieves certain performance criteria as compared to the Bloomberg Peer Group, as defined in the PSAP Rerfermanee-Share
Award-Restrieted-Share-Agreement-agreement , at the end of the performance period, which ended-ends on the last trading day
of 2623-2024 and-. shares-Shares may be awarded above the target level, were-alse-subject to ROIC performance and certain
total shareholder return (“ TSR ) performance criteria, as defined in the PSAP agreement . This arrangement was-is recorded as
an equity award that required-requires us to recognize compensation expense originally estimated at $ 9. 3 million over the
qhorter of the 3- year performance period or requmte qervwe perlod as determlned for each participant individually. ¥e

cogt vely—In 2023-2024 , we reversed $ 84 . 56
million of prev10u§ly reeognlzed expense to revalue the awards to their grant date fair value, upon ﬁnal determination of the
performance criteria and certain forfeitures during the year. We have recognized expense of $ 1. 2 million and $ 6. 4
million in 2023 and 2022, respectively . We issued a total of 206-112 , 264-389 awards valued at $ 73 . 2-0 million. The
participants surrendered $2-69 , 24-116 shares to settle any personal tax liabilities which may result from the award, as
permitted by the agreement. We recorded these surrendered shares as treasury stock with an aggregate cost of $ 1. 4-2 million at
$ 17.66-31 per share. On February 4716 , 20222023 , certain members of our executive and senior management teams were
awarded rights to receive an aggregate of up to 362-507 , 254-410 shares , which include shares that may be awarded if above
target level. The target level is achieved if our calculated ROIC, as defined in the PSAP agreement , achieves certain
performance criteria as compared to the Bloomberg Peer Group, as defined in the PSAP Performanee-Share-AwardRestrieted
Share-Agreement-agreement , at the end of the performance period, which ends on the last trading day of 2624-2025 and-.
shares-Shares may be awarded above the target level, are-alse—subject to ROIC performance and certain TSR performance
criteria, as defined in the PSAP agreement . This arrangement is recorded as an equity award that requires us to recognize
compensation expense etiginallyestimated at $ 9-12 . 3 million over the shorter of the 3- year performance period or requisite
service period, as determined for each participant individually. We reduced the estimated expense by $ 8-1 . 2 million in 2023
2024 based on current expected performance levels, and we have recognized expense of § 0 +-2-milltenand$-6- 4 million and
$ 8. 4 million in 2024 and 2023 and-2022-, respectively. The unrecognized compensation expense is expected to be recognized
over an estimated amortization period of 12 months. On February 46-15 , 2623-2024 , certain members of our executive and
senior management teams were awarded rights to receive an aggregate of up to 567830 , 44+6-785 shares , which include shares
that may be awarded if above target level. The target level is achieved if our calculated ROIC, as defined in the PSAP

agreement , achieves certain performance criteria as compared to the Bloomberg Peer Group, as defined in the PSAP

Performanee-Share-Award-Restrieted-Share-Agreement-agreement , at the end of the performance period, which ends on the
last trading day of 2025-2026 and shares awarded above the target level, are-alse-subject to ROIC performance and certain
TSR performance criteria, as defined in the PSAP agreement . This arrangement is recorded as an equity award that requires us
to recognize compensation expense estimated at $ 42-11 . 3-8 million over the shorter of the 3- year performance period or
requisite service period, as determined for each participant individually ;-. We have recognized expense of whteh-$ 84 . 4
million has-beenreeognized-in 2023-2024 . The unrecognized compensation expense is expected to be recognized over an
estimated amortization period of 24 months. Restricted Share Award ProgramIn 2004, the Compensation Committee of our
Board of Directors approved the RSAP to attract and retain key employees, and to better align employee interests with those of
our shareholders. Under this arrangement we awarded grants totaling 14, 220 shares, 180, 450 shares ;and 25, 500 shares and
83;-866-shares-in 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 and-2624-, respectively. Each of these grants has a vesting period of principally either
five or six years, and vests ratably or as specified in the award agreements, on an annual basis. There are no performance
accelerators for early vesting for these awards. Awards under the RSAP are classified as equity awards and recorded at the
grant- date fair value with the compensation expense recognized over the expected life of the award. As of December 31, 2623
2024 , there was $ 84 . +6 million of unrecognized total stock- based compensation expense relating to non- vested RSAP
awards. The unrecognized compensation expense is expected to be recognized over an estimated weighted- average
amortization period of 49-46 months. The grant- date fair value of shares granted was $ 0. 2 million, $ 3. 6 million;-and $ 0. 5
million and-$2-8-mitlten-in 2024, 2023 ;and 2022 and2024- respectively. We recognized compensation expense of $ 2.7
million, $ 3. 9 million ;-and $ 4. 5 million and-$-6—-mithen-in 2024, 2023 -and 2022 ard2624-, respectively. The total grant-
date fair value, which is the intrinsic value, of the shares vested was $ 3. 4 million, $ 4. 1 million -and $ 5. 3 million and-$-6-—5
mithen-in 2024, 2023 s-and 2022 and202+-, respectively. F-29 2023 Non- Employee Director Stock Incentive PlanUnder the
Director Plan, awards may be granted until June 28, 2033 and the maximum number of shares available for award under this
plan is 1, 400, 000 shares. As of December 31, 2823-2024 , approximately 489-436 , 225-340 shares remained available for the
grant of new awards. F29-We have granted restricted stock awards under the Restricted Share Award Program for Non-
Employee Directors (the “ Director Program *’). The Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors approved the Program
to compensate our non- employee Directors. Under this arrangement we awarded grants totaling 55, 902 shares, 38, 514 shares 5
and 32, 910 shares and-25;-842-shares-in 2024, 2023 --and 2022 and2624-, respectively. All shares awarded have a vesting




period of one year for each grant. There are no performance accelerators for early vesting for these awards. Awards under the
Program are classified as equity awards and recorded at the grant- date fair value with compensation expense recognized over
the expected life of the award. As of December 31, 2023-2024 , there was $ 0. 2 million of unrecognized stock- based
compensation relating to non- vested Director Program awards. The unrecognized compensation expense is expected to be
recognized over an estimated weighted- average amortization period of 3 months. The grant- date fair value of shares granted
was $ 1. 0 million, $ 0. 9 millionsand $ 1. 0 million ard-$-6—8-mition-in 2024, 2023 --and 2022 and20624-, respectively, and
we have recognized compensation expense of $ 0. 8 million, $ 0. 9 million ;and $ 1. 0 million aad-$+F-mithen-in 2024, 2023 ;
and 2022 and-2024-, respectively. Equity Compensation Plan InformationNon- vested restricted share awards outstanding as of
December 31, 2023 and changes during the year under both the LTIP and the Director Plan are as follows: For the Year Ended
December 31, 2823-2024 Number of Shares Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value per Share Non- vested at December 31,
26222023 1, 644234 , 355487 $ 36-24 . 29-71 Granted 726-900 , 374907 § 22-14 . 9840 Vested ( 336-256 , 844-724 ) $ 36-28
. 46-19 Forfeited (469;3987$2738-308 , 955) $ 24. 08 Non- vested at December 31, 20623-2024 1, 234-569 , 487-$24-7-715
$ 18. 35 Stock- based compensation expense under both the LTIP and the Director Plan recognized in the consolidated
statement of operations is as follows (in thousands): For the Years Ended December 31, Cost of services and product sales $ 1,
847 $ 4, 625 $ 4, 572 $5-704-General and administrative expense 1, 908 9, 346 3, 184 43;389-Total stock- based compensation
expense $ 3,755 8 13,971 $ 7, 756 $19;-093-18. IMPAIRMENTS AND OTHER CHARGESThe geopolitical conflict between
Russia and Ukraine, which began in February 2022 and has continued through December 31, 2623-2024 , has resulted in
disruptions to our operations in Russia and Ukraine. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , all laboratory facilities, offices, and
locations in Russia and Ukraine continued to operate with no significant impact to local business operations. Therefore, we
determined there was no triggering event for long- lived assets in Russia and Ukraine, and no impairment assessments have
been performed as of December 31, 2623-2024 . For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 s-and 2022 and2624-, there
were no triggering events during the year and-, and we determined there was no impairment for any of our long- lived assets or
asset groups. We completed our annual impairment assessment of indefinite lived intangible assets and goodwill of our
reporting units for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 ard-20824, by performing qualitative assessments,
which indicated we did not meet the threshold of more likely than not that there was impairment and therefore no quantitative
tests were required. NeF-- No F - 30 impairments were recorded for our indefinite lived intangible assets or goodwill for the
years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 ;and 2022 and262+-. 19. OTHER (INCOME) EXPENSE, NETThe components of other
(income) expense, net are as follows (in thousands): For the Years Ended December 31, Gain on sale of assets $ (1, 779) $ (
200) $ (1, 068 ¥$427) Results of non- consolidated subsidiaries ( 236) ( 394) (294 362-) Foreign exchange (gain) loss, net
22851, 197 Rents and royalties ( 1, 922) ( 698) (709 3H57H-) Return on pension assets and other pension costs (1, 178) (1, 365)
(545 363966-) Loss on lease abandonment and other exit costs 1, 146 — —Assets write- down 1, 110 1, 143 — Insurance and
other settlements (8 432) (604) (669) Severance and other charges — 3,332 ATM termination costs — — -I-nstﬁ&nee—aﬁd

net (397) (509) (998 HF53) Total other (1ncome) expense, net $ (9, 953) $( 850) $ (722) -$—6J,r9§)—ln 2024 and 2022, we
sold eur-certain ownership interest in mineral rights of certain properties for a net gain of $ 1. 4 million and $ 0. 7 million ,
respectively, which is included in gain on sale of assets. During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, we
abandoned certain leases in the U. S. and Canada and incurred lease abandonment and other exit costs of $ 0. 7 million
and $ 1. 1 million, respectively. As a result of consolidating and exiting these facilities, the associated leasehold
improvements, right of use assets and other assets of $ 1. 1 million and $ 1. 1 million were abandoned and expensed
during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. In February 2024, we had a fire incident at one of our
U. K. facilities and we have recorded partial settlements and certain net gains from insurance recovery of $ 8. 4 million
during the year ended December 31, 2024. Amounts associated with partial settlement for costs incurred and loss of
income from business interruption are $ 4. 0 million, and net gains associated with property, plant and equipment are $
4. 4 million. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the State of Louisiana expropriated the access road to one of our
facilities and paid us a settlement of $ 0. 6 million. The North America mid- continent winter storm in February 2021
caused busmess 1nterruptlons and property losses to certain facilities, and we received insurance settlements abandoned

Sts f$ -1—0 -1—7 million in 2022 —\Ve—tntegr&ted—aﬂd—re}ee&ted—t-hese

December 31, 2023 we wrote off prevrously deferred costs of $ 0 5 million upon termlnauon of our 2022 ATM Program See
Note 14- Equlty for addltlonal 1nformat10n - Ag-th ; h ; stana-exp : he

v e and-final-t1s F oreign Currency RlskWe
operate in a number of 1nternat10nal areas which exposes us to foreign currency exchange rate risk. We do not currently hold or
issue forward exchange contracts or other derivative instruments for hedging or speculative purposes. Foreign exchange gains
and losses result from fluctuations in the USD against foreign currencies and are included in other (income) expense, net in the
consolidated statements of operations. We recognized foreign exchange losses in countries where the USD weakened against the
local currency and we had net monetary liabilities denominated in the local currency; as well as countries where the USD
strengthened against the local currency and we had net monetary assets denominated in the local currency. We recognized
foreign exchange gains in countries where the USD strengthened against the local currency and we had net monetary liabilities
F- 31 denominated in the local currency and in countries where the USD weakened against the local currency and we had net
monetary assets denominated in the local currency. Foreign exchange (gain) loss, net is summarized in the following table (in



thousands): For the Years Ended December 31, Angolan Kwanza $ (46) $ $ (2 ¥$36-) Australian Dollar (2) British Pound
(408) Canadian Dollar Colombian Peso (430) €28H-Euro (382 3456-) Indonesian Rupiah Nigerian Naira (74) (39) Norwegian
Krone (20) (31) Russian Ruble (375 336-) Turkish Lira (472) Other currencies, net Foreign exchange (gain) loss, net $ 1, 197
$ $228)-20. EARNINGS PER SHAREWe compute basic earnings per share by dividing net income attributable to Core
Laboratories Inc. by the number of weighted average common shares efeemmen-steek-outstanding during the period. Diluted
earnings per share includes the incremental effect of contingently issuable shares from performance and restricted stock awards,
as determined using the treasury stock method. The Redomestication Transaction had no effect on earnings per share for the
periods presented. The following table summarizes the calculation of weighted average common shares efeemmen-stoek
outstanding used in the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share (in thousands): For the Years Ended December 31,
Weighted average common shares outstanding- basic 46, 897 46, 683 46, 334 46:-9089-Effect of dilutive securities: Restricted
shares Performance shares Weighted average common shares outstanding- diluted 47, 685 47, 523 46, 813 46;696-21.
SEGMENT REPORTING AND OTHER DISAGGREGATED INFORMATIONSegment ReportingWe operate our business in
two segments. These complementary operating segments provide different services and products and utilize different
technologies for evaluating and improving reservoir performance and increasing oil and gas recovery from new and existing
fields: » Reservoir Description: Encompasses the characterization of petroleum reservoir rock and reservoir fluids samples to
increase production and improve recovery of crude oil and natural gas from our clients’ reservoirs. We provide laboratory- based
analytical and field services to characterize properties of crude oil and crude oil- derived products to the oil and gas industry.
Services associated with these fluids include determining the quality and measuring the quantity of the reservoir fluids and their
derived products, such as gasoline, diesel and biofuels. We also provide proprietary and joint industry studies based on these
types of analyses and manufacture associated laboratory equipment. In addition, we provide reservoir description capabilities
that support various activities associated with energy transition projects, including services that support carbon capture,
utilization and storage, geothermal F- 32 projects, and the evaluation and appraisal of mining activities around lithium and other
elements necessary for energy storage. F=32-+ Production Enhancement: Includes services and manufactured products
associated with reservoir well completions, perforations, stimulation, production and well abandonment. We provide integrated
diagnostic services to evaluate and monitor the effectiveness of well completions and to develop solutions aimed at increasing
the effectiveness of enhanced oil recovery projects. We use the same accounting policies to prepare our operating segment
results as are used to prepare our consolidated financial statements. All interest and other non- operating income (expense) is
attributable to Corporate & Other and is not allocated to specific operating segments. Our chief operating decision maker (“
CODM ”) is our chief executive officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors. The CODM uses revenue from
unaffiliated clients and segment operating income to allocate resources, primarily for working capital, staffing, and
capital expenditures, during the annual budgeting process and monthly when comparing actual results to budgeted and
forecasted results. Summarized financial information of our operating segments is shown in the following table (in thousands):
As-F- 33As at and for the years ended: Reservoir Description Production Enhancement Corporate & Other (1) Consolidated
December 31, 2023-2024 CODM Measure- Revenue from unaffiliated clients $ 333-346 , 345-146 $ +76-177 , 445702 $ — $
509-523 , 796-848 Reconciliation of CODM measure- revenue from unaffiliated clients to segment operating income:
Inter- segment revenue ( 337) — Cost of services and product sales 269, 169 151, 916 (563) 420, 522 Depreciation and
amortization 10, 660 4, 293 — 14, 953 General and administrative expense (2) 25, 531 14, 239 — 39, 770 Other operating
(income) expense, net (3) (11, 542) (158) (11, 150) Foreign exchange (gain) loss, net (3) (94) 1, 197 CODM Measure-
Segment operating income 51, 466 6, 612 58, 556 Supplemental Disclosures: Total assets 322, 764 149, 446 118, 196 590,
406 Capital expenditures 11,413 1, 318 13, 028 December 31, 2023 CODM Measure- Revenue from unaffiliated clients $
333,345 $ 176,445 $ — $ 509, 790 Reconciliation of CODM measure- revenue from unaffiliated clients to segment
operating income: Inter- segment revenue ( 405) — Cost of services and product sales 256, 480 145, 194 (1, 717) 399, 957
Depreciation and amortization 11, 462 4, 322 — 15, 784 General and administrative expense (2) 25, 792 14, 467 — 40,
259 Other operating (income) expense, net (3) (994) (5) (27) (1, 026) Foreign exchange (gain) loss, net (3) (278) CODM
Measure- Segment operating income 41, 039 12, 519 1, 082 54, 640 Supplemental Disclosures: Total assets 309, 162 161, 358
359 115, 875874 586, 395 Capital expenditures 8, 312 1, 808 10, 579 Depreetation-and-amertizattonH5-049-4:-69915-784
December 31, 2022 CODM Measure- Revenue from unaffiliated clients $ 307, 691 $ 182, 044 § — § 489, 735 Reconciliation
of CODM measure- revenue from unaffiliated clients to segment operating income: [nter- segment revenue (838) — Cost
of services and product sales 250, 182 145, 117 (1, 644) 393, 655 Depreciation and amortization 12, 207 4, 954 — 17, 161
General and administrative expense (2) 24, 264 13, 853 — 38, 117 Other operating (income) expense, net (3) (1, 089) 1,
414 (1, 276) (951) Foreign exchange (gain) loss, net (3) (252) (189) CODM Measure- Scgment operating income 22, 902 16,
3512,27141, 524 Supplemental Dlsclosures Total assets 307, 108 159, 628 111, 618 578,354 Capltal expendltures 7,458 2,

5 5 1) “ Corporate and other ” represents those 1tem§ not directly related toa pamcular operating segment and
eliminations. (2) General and administrative expense is presented as a total amount to the CODM and consists primarily
of employee benefits, professional fees and information technology costs. (3) Other remaining balance is included in
other (income) expense, net. See Note 19- Other (income) expense, net for further detail. Disaggregated RevenueWe derive
our revenue from services and product sales contracts with clients primarily in the oil and gas industry. No single client
accounted for 10 % or more of revenue in any of the periods presented. Summarized financial information of our contracts is
shown in the following table (in thousands): F- 34 For the Years Ended December 31, Reservoir Description Services $ 334,
325 $322,921 $ 296, 201 $296:-5%6-Production Enhancement Services 53, 880 48, 993 50, 773 4%F66-Total Revenue-



Services $ 388,205 $ 371, 914 $ 346, 974 $344:342-Reservoir Description Product sales $ 11, 821 $ 10, 424 $ 11, 490 $34%
©33-Production Enhancement Product sales 123, 822 127, 452 131, 271 +88;-877FTotal Revenue- Product sales $ 135, 643 $
137,876 $ 142, 761 $425-940-Total Revenue $ 523, 848 $ 509, 790 $ 489, 735 $470;252-We attribute service revenue to the
country in which the service was performed rather than where the reservoir or project is located while we attribute product sales
revenue to the country where the product was shipped as we feel this gives a clearer view of our operations. We do, however,
have significant levels of service revenue performed and recorded in the U. S. that are £-33-sourced from projects on non- U. S.
oilfields. Summarized financial information of our geographic regions is shown in the following table (in thousands): Other As
at and for the years ended: United States Countries (1) (2) Consolidated December 31, 2024 Revenue $ 178, 895 $ 344, 953 $§
523, 848 Property, plant and equipment, net 46, 666 50, 397 97, 063 December 31, 2023 Revenue $ 178, 549 $ 331,241 $
509, 790 Property, plant and equipment, net 50, 792 48, 834 99, 626 December 31, 2022 Revenue $ 166, 701 $ 323, 034 $ 489,
735 Property, plant and equ1pment net 54, 384 50, 644 105, 028 Deeefﬁber—34—292—l—Reveﬁue—$—}48—}83—$—32£—969—$—4-7—9%%
o 1) Revenue earned in other countries, was not 1nd1v1dua11y greater
than 10 % of our consohdated revenue in 2024 2023 s-and 2022 and2624-. (2) Property, plant and equlpment net in other
countries, was not individually greater than 10 % of our consolidated property, plant and equipment , net in 2024, 2023 ;-and
2022 and2024-. F-34-35 CORE LABORATORIES INC. Schedule II- Valuation and Qualifying Account (In thousands)
Balance at Beginning of Period Additions Charged to / (Recovered from) Expense Write- offs Other (1) Balance at End of
Period Year ended December 31, 2024 Reserve for credit losses $ 2,280 $ 1,203 $ (298) $ $ 3, 192 Year ended December
31, 2023 Reserve for credit losses $2,214 $ $(113) $ — $ 2, 28() Year ended December 31 2022 Reserve for credlt losses $ 3,
225%(6)$(1,006) $ $ 2,214 ¥ea S (1)
Comprised primarily of differences due to changes in exchange rate. F 35—36 Exhlblt 4. 1 DESCRIPTION OF REGISTRANT’
S SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 The
following description sets forth certain material terms and provisions of the securities of Core Laboratories Inc. (the “ Company
””) that are registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “ Exchange Act ™). The
following summary does not purport to be complete and is subject to, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the
applicable provisions of Delaware General Corporation Law (“ DGCL ) and the Company’ s certificate of incorporation and
bylaws, copies of which are incorporated by reference as an exhibit to the Annual Report on Form 10- K. Authorized Share
Capital Our certificate of incorporation authorizes the Company to issue 206, 000, 000 shares of capital stock, consisting of 200,
000, 000 shares of common stock, par value $ 0. 01 per share, (“ Common Stock ) and 6, 000, 000 preferred stock, par value $
0. 01 per share (“ Preferred Stock ”’). The number of authorized shares of Common Stock or Preferred Stock may be increased or
decreased (but not below the number of shares then outstanding) by the affirmative vote of a majority of holders of the then-
outstanding shares. Rights of Common Stock Voting Rights. Holders of shares of Common Stock are entitled to one vote per
share held of record on all matters to be voted upon by the stockholders. Our certificate of incorporation does not provide
cumulative voting rights in connection with the election of directors. Under our bylaws, in connection with an election of
directors at any meeting of our stockholders at which a quorum is present, each nominee for election is elected by the vote of a
plurality of votes cast. Except as otherwise provided by applicable law, the rules and regulations of any stock exchange
applicable to the Company, our certificate of incorporation, or our bylaws, the affirmative vote of a two- thirds majority in
voting power of the shares present in person or represented by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote is required to approve
all matters other than the election of directors and certain non- binding advisory votes. Dividend Rights. Holders of shares of
Common Stock are entitled to ratably receive dividends when and if declared by the board of directors out of funds legally
available for that purpose, subject to any statutory or contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends and to any prior rights
and preferences that may be applicable to any outstanding Preferred Stock. Liquidation Rights. Upon the liquidation,
dissolution, distribution of assets or other winding up of the Company’ s affairs, the holders of Common Stock are entitled to
share, on a pro rata basis, the assets of the Company available for distribution to the stockholders after payment of liabilities to
the Company’ s creditors and the liquidation preference or prior distribution rights of any outstanding shares of Preferred Stock
that may be issued in the future. Other Rights and Restrictions. No holder of shares of Common Stock has preemptive or
conversion rights to subscribe for any shares of capital stock of the Company issued in the future. There are no redemption or
sinking fund provisions applicable to the Common Stock. All outstanding shares of Common Stock are fully paid and non-
assessable. Our certificate of incorporation authorizes the board of directors from time to time to issue shares of Preferred Stock
in one or more classes or series, par value $ 0. 01 per share, up to an aggregate of 6, 000, 000 shares, and, with respect to each
such class or series, to fix the number of shares constituting such class or series and the designations, powers, preferences,
rights, qualifications, limitations and restrictions in respect of the shares of such class or series, including voting rights, dividend
rights, conversion rights, redemption privileges and liquidation preferences, without vote or action by the Company’ s
stockholders. Anti- Takeover Effects of Provisions of the Company’ s Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws and Delaware Law
Some provisions of Delaware law, our certificate of incorporation and our bylaws contain provisions that could make the
following transactions more difficult: acquisitions by means of a tender offer, proxy contest or otherwise; or removal of the
Company’ s incumbent officers and directors. These provisions may also have the effect of preventing changes the Company”’ s
management. It is possible that these provisions could make it more difficult to accomplish or could deter transactions that
stockholders may otherwise consider to be in their best interest or in the Company’ s best interests, including transactions that
might result in a premium over the market price for shares of the Company’ s Common Stock. These provisions are expected to
discourage coercive takeover practices and inadequate takeover bids. These provisions are also designed to encourage persons
seeking to acquire control of the Company to first negotiate with the Company. We believe that the benefits of increased
protection and the Company’ s potential ability to negotiate with the proponent of an unfriendly or unsolicited proposal to
acquire or restructure the Company outweigh the disadvantages of discouraging these proposals because, among other things,




negotiation of these proposals could result in an improvement of their terms. Classified Board of Directors Our certificate of
incorporation and bylaws provide for a classified board of directors. Our Board is divided into three classes, with the directors of
each class as nearly equal in number as possible. The directors of each class serve a term that expires at the third succeeding
annual meeting of our stockholders after their election, and each director holds office until his or her successor is duly elected
and qualified. At each annual meeting of our stockholders, the term of a different class of our directors expires. As a result,
approximately one- third of our Board will be elected each year. The classification of directors will have the effect of making it
more difficult for stockholders to change the composition of our Board. Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws provide that,
subject to any rights of holders of Preferred Stock to elect additional directors under specified circumstances, the number of
directors will be fixed from time to time exclusively pursuant to a resolution adopted by our board of directors. Our certificate of
incorporation also provides that: * the classified board provisions may not be amended without the affirmative vote of the
holders of at least 66 2 / 3 % of the outstanding shares of our common stock ; * no decrease in the number of our directors will
shorten the term of any incumbent director ; and ¢ a director may be removed only for cause. As described below under
Removal of Directors and Vacancies, ” our certificate of incorporation also provides generally that any vacancies will be filled
only by the affirmative vote of a majority of our remaining directors, even if less than a quorum. Therefore, without an
amendment to our certificate of incorporation, our board of directors could prevent any stockholder from enlarging our board of
directors and filling the new directorships with that stockholder' s own nominees. The classification of our board of directors
could prevent a party who acquires control of a majority of our outstanding “ voting stock ” (defined to include all outstanding
shares of capital stock of the Company or another corporation entitled to vote generally in the election of directors) from
obtaining control of our board of directors until the second annual stockholders’ meeting following the date the party obtains
that control. Our certificate of incorporation provides that directors may be removed only for cause by the affirmative vote of 66
2 /3 % in voting power of the then- outstanding shares of stock entitled to vote thereon. Our bylaws provide that, subject to the
rights of the holders of any outstanding series of Preferred Stock and unless otherwise required by law or resolution of our board
of directors, newly created vacancies on the board of directors arising through death, resignation or removal, an increase in the
number of directors or otherwise may be filled by a majority of the directors then in office, even if less than a quorum. No
Stockholder Action by Written Consent Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws provides that, subject to the rights of any
holders of Preferred Stock to act by written consent instead of a meeting, stockholder action may be taken only at an annual
meeting or special meeting of stockholders and may not be taken by written consent in lieu of a meeting. Special Meetings of
Stockholders Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws provide that special meetings of the stockholders may be called only
by or at the direction of the board of directors or by the Chairperson of the board of directors. Our bylaws prohibit the conduct
of any business at a special meeting other than as specified in the notice for such meeting. These provisions may have the effect
of deferring, delaying or discouraging hostile takeovers or changes in control or management. Requirements for Advance
Notification of Stockholder Meetings, Nominations and Proposals Our bylaws contain advance notice procedures with respect to
stockholder proposals and the nomination of candidates for election as directors, other than nominations made by or at the
direction of the board of directors or a committee of the board of directors. In order for any matter to be *“ properly brought
before a meeting, a stockholder must comply with these advance notice requirements. Generally, such notice must be received
by the Company at our registered offices in Houston, Texas no earlier than the close of business on the 150th day prior to the
date of the annual meeting and no later than the close of business on the later of (i) the 120th day prior to the date of the annual
meeting or, (ii) if the first public announcement of the date of the annual meeting is fewer than 100 days prior to the date of
such meeting, the 10th day following the day on which public announcement of the date of the annual meeting is first made.
Our bylaws allow the presiding officer at a meeting of the stockholders to adopt rules and regulations for the conduct of
meetings which may have the effect of precluding the conduct of certain business at a meeting if the rules and regulations are
not followed. These provisions may also defer, delay or discourage a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies
to elect the acquirer’ s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of the Company. Authorized but Unissued
Shares Authorized but unissued shares of Common Stock and Preferred Stock will be available for future issuance without any
further vote or action by the stockholders. These additional shares may be utilized for a variety of corporate purposes, including
future public offerings to raise additional capital, corporate acquisitions and employee benefit plans. The existence of authorized
but unissued shares of Common Stock and Preferred Stock could render more difficult or discourage an attempt to obtain control
over the Company by means of a proxy contest, tender offer, merger or otherwise. Delaware Business Combination Statute
Section 203 of the DGCL prohibits a Delaware corporation, including those whose securities are listed for trading on the New
York Stock Exchange, from engaging in any business combination with any interested stockholder for a period of three years
following the date that the stockholder became an interested stockholder, unless: ¢ the transaction is approved by the board of
directors before the date the interested stockholder attained that status; ® upon consummation of the transaction that resulted in
the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at least 85 % of the voting stock of the
corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced; or ¢ on or after such time the business combination is approved
by the board of directors and authorized at a meeting of stockholders by at least two thirds of the outstanding voting stock that is
not owned by the interested stockholder. Under Section 203, the restrictions described above do not apply to specific business
combinations proposed by an interested stockholder following the announcement or notification of designated extraordinary
transactions involving the corporation and a person who had not been an interested stockholder during the previous three years
or who became an interested stockholder with the approval of a majority of the corporation' s directors, if a majority of the
directors who were directors prior to any person' s becoming an interested stockholder during the previous three years, or were
recommended for election or elected to succeed those directors by a majority of those directors, approve or do not oppose that
extraordinary transaction. Generally, under Section 203, a “ business combination ” includes a merger, asset or stock sale, or
other transaction resulting in a financial benefit to the *“ interested stockholder, ” and an “ interested stockholder  is a person



who, together with affiliates and associates, owns or, within three years prior to the determination of interested stockholder
status, did own 15 % or more of a corporation’ s outstanding voting stock. A Delaware corporation may opt out of these
provisions either with an express provision in its original certificate of incorporation or in an amendment to its certificate of
incorporation or bylaws approved by its stockholders. We elected to opt out of these provisions at the time of our
redomestication from the Netherlands to the State of Delaware in May 2023. Forum Selection Our certificate of incorporation
provides that, subject to limited exceptions, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will be the exclusive forum for:
any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Company; * any action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty owed
by any current or former director, officer or stockholder of the Company to either the Company or our stockholders; * any action
asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL; ¢ or any action asserting a claim governed by the internal
affairs doctrine. Our certificate of incorporation also provides that, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the federal
district courts of the U. S. are the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the U. S.
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, subject to and contingent upon a final adjudication in the State of Delaware of the
enforceability of such exclusive forum provision. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the exclusive forum provision does not apply
to suits brought to enforce any liability or duty created by the U. S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or any other
claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction. Our certificate of incorporation also provides that any person or
entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of the Company’ s capital stock will be deemed to have notice of
and to have consented to this forum selection provision. However, it is possible that a court could find our forum selection
provision to be inapplicable or unenforceable. Corporate Opportunities Delaware law permits corporations to adopt provisions
renouncing any interest or expectancy in certain opportunities that are presented to the corporation or its officers, directors or
stockholders. Our certificate of incorporation renounces, to the maximum extent permitted from time to time by Delaware law,
any interest or expectancy that the Company may have in, or right to be offered an opportunity to participate in, specified
business opportunities that are from time to time presented to our directors or their respective affiliates, other than those
directors or affiliates who are the Company’ s or its subsidiaries’ employees. Our certificate of incorporation provides that, to
the fullest extent permitted by law, any director who is not employed by the Company (including any non- employee director
who serves as one of its officers in both his director and officer capacities) or his or her affiliates has no duty to refrain from (i)
engaging in a corporate opportunity in the same or similar lines of business in which the Company or its affiliates now engage or
propose to engage or (ii) otherwise competing with the Company or its affiliates. In addition, to the fullest extent permitted by
law, in the event that any non- employee director acquires knowledge of a potential transaction or other business opportunity
which may be a corporate opportunity for themselves or himself or their or his affiliates or for the Company or its affiliates, such
person has no duty to communicate or offer such transaction or business opportunity to the Company or any of its affiliates and
they may take any such opportunity for themselves or offer it to another person or entity. Our certificate of incorporation does
not renounce its interest in any business opportunity that is expressly offered to a non- employee director solely in his or her
capacity as a director or officer of the Company. To the fullest extent permitted by law, no business opportunity will be deemed
to be a potential corporate opportunity for Company unless it would be permitted to undertake the opportunity under its
certificate of incorporation, the Company has sufficient financial resources to undertake the opportunity and the opportunity
would be in line with the Company”’ s business. Limitation of Liability and Indemnification Matters The DGCL authorizes
corporations to limit or eliminate the personal liability of directors to corporations and their stockholders for monetary damages
for certain breaches of directors’ fiduciary duties as directors, and our certificate of incorporation includes such an exculpation
provision, which serves to limit the liability of our directors and certain of our officers for monetary damages for breach of their
fiduciary duty as directors, except for liability that cannot be eliminated under the DGCL. Delaware law provides that directors
of a company will not be personally liable for monetary damages for breach of their fiduciary duty as directors, except for
liabilities: * for any breach of their duty of loyalty to the Company or its stockholders; ¢ for acts or omissions not in good faith or
which involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law; ¢ for unlawful payment of dividend or unlawful stock
repurchase or redemption, as provided under Section 174 of the DGCL; or * for any transaction from which the director derived
an improper personal benefit. Any amendment, repeal or modification of these provisions will be prospective only and would
not affect any limitation on liability of a director for acts or omissions that occurred prior to any such amendment, repeal or
modification. Our certificate of incorporation includes provisions that indemnify, to the fullest extent allowable under the
DGCL, the personal liability of directors or officers for monetary damages for actions taken as a director or officer of the
Company, or for serving at our request as a director or officer or another position at another corporation or enterprise, as the
case may be. Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws also provide that we must advance reasonable expenses to our directors
and officers, subject to the receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the indemnified party. Our bylaws also permit the
Company to purchase insurance on behalf of any officer, director, employee or other agent for any liability arising out of that
person’ s actions as an officer, director, employee or agent of the Company, regardless of whether Delaware law would permit
indemnification. The limitation of liability and indemnification provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may
discourage stockholders from bringing a lawsuit against directors for breach of their fiduciary duty. These provisions may also
have the effect of reducing the likelihood of derivative litigation against our directors and officers, even though such an action, if
successful, might otherwise benefit us and our stockholders. However, these provisions do not limit or eliminate our rights, or
those of any stockholder, to seek non- monetary relief such as injunction or rescission in the event of a breach of a director’ s
duty of care. The provisions do not alter the liability of directors under the federal securities laws. In addition, our stockholders’
investment may be adversely affected to the extent that, in a class action or direct suit, we pay the costs of settlement and
damage awards against directors and officers pursuant to these indemnification provisions. 2623-NON-—EMPEOYEE
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CORE LABORATORIES INC. insider Trading Policy This Insidr Trading Policy (this “ Policy ) provides guidance to
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s’ffuefufe—eﬁts—bttsrness-securltles (such as common stock anyhmefgefoptlons to buy or sell common stock eenselidation-of

fhe—Gemp&n—y— any—tssue—e-ﬁwarrants, convertlble securities and debt e%equtt—y—scuumus ) and derlvatlve securltles relatlng

shares-ef-common stock , whether or not issued by the Company (such as exchange- traded optlons) for the Company-may
feqﬂﬁe—te—meet—&l-l—eb-l-lga{-teﬂs-purpose of promoting compliance with applicable federal and state securities laws regarding

insider trading. The Policy also applies, under certain circumstances apphieable-taxtaws-orregulations-, and;HfPartietpant
-f&r}s—to &e—se—transactlons in the securities of t-he—other Geﬂ&pany—companles. It is auﬂaeﬂzed—te—wrthhe-}d-e%eaﬁse—te—be




-Shafes—wﬂ-l—‘olest—te—t-he—exterrt—t he ( ompany s Ret&fn—pohcy to strlctly comply w1th the 1ns1der tradlng laws and regulatlons
of the Unlted States, 1nclud1ng the extent to whlch such laws pertam to tradlng in Company securities on fnvested-Capitat

the Company’ s Ret&fn—behalf ThlS Pohcy applies to all directors, officers and employees who receive or are aware of
Material, errNon frvested-Capital-- Public Information (as defined below) obtained in the course of employment by, or in
association with, the Company, together with any individual whom the General Counsel may designate as an “ insider ”
because of his or her access to Material, Non- Public Information concerning the Company, including without limitation,
consultants, contractors and advisors to, and representatives of, the Company. This Policy also applies to any person
who receives Material, Non- Public Information about the Company from an insider. This Policy additionally applies to



any person who (i) in the course of employment or service with the Company receives Material, Non- Public Information
about any the-other Peer-Group-publicly- traded company, including any customer, supplier or partner of the Company,
or any company that is “ economically linked ” to the Company, such as a competitor, or (ii) receives Material, Non-
Public Information about the Company that could potentially affect the trading of securities of such other publicly-
traded company (collectively, “ Third- Party MNPI ). The people to whom this Policy applies are referred to herein as
insiders. ” All insiders must strictly comply with this Policy. The Company reserves the right to amend or rescind this
Policy or any portion of it at any time and to adopt different policies and procedures at any time. In the event of any
conflict or inconsistency between this Policy and any other materials distributed by the Company, this Policy shall
govern. If a law conflicts with this Policy, you must comply with the law. You should read this Policy carefully, ask
questions of the Company s General Counsel and promptly sign and Ret&rn—return en—I-&vested—G&p—x-ta-l—the certlﬁcatlon
attached as Annex pub b A A h-th e

ﬁthe—Perfeﬁnanee—Gﬂteﬂa—shewn—efh*ppeﬁdﬂeA te—acknowledglng recelpt of this Agfeemeﬂt—Pohcy to: 6316 Wlndfern
Road Houston, Texas 77040 Attention: General Counsel The Committee-Company ° s determinations-pursaant-to-directors,
officers and certain employees must promptly sign and return the pfeeedmg—seﬁeﬂee-attached certification
acknowledging receipt of this Policy when requested to do so by the Company’ s General Counsel (which term includes
any person whom the General Counsel designates to administer the responsibilities described in this Policy). 1.
Definitions and Explanations A. Definition of ¢ Material, Non- Public Information ” 1. What information is “ Material
??21ti is not poss1ble to deﬁne sha-l-l——— all categorles of materlal mformatlon However, 1nf0rmat10n should be regarded as

-P&merpaﬂt—sfeeleeeﬁrﬁeates—ehm equwa-}eﬁt—eiﬂdeﬂee—e-ﬁshafe—evmerslﬁp—lnvestment dec1s10n regardlng the purchase sale
-rssued—rn—P&merpant—s—name—fer— or holdmg t-he—ntrna-ber—o[ Restrieted

eh&nge—'rn—lhc (‘ompun) e&pﬁa-l—strueture—ersecurltles Informatlon that its— is hkely to affect the market prlce of a
company’ s securities (whether positive or negative) is likely to be material. It is also important to remember that either
positive or negative information may be material. While it may be difficult under this standard to determine whether
information is material, there are various categories of information that are particularly sensitive and, as a general rule,
should always be considered material. Common examples of material information include: « Unpublished financial
results (annual, quarterly or otherwise) or projections, forecasts or guidance of financial results;  Restatements of
financial results, or material impairments, write- offs or restructurings; * Business plans or budgets;  Significant
corporate events, such as news of a pending or proposed merger, tender offer, or acquisition or disposition of a
significant business unit or asset or change in control of the Company; ¢ Creation of significant financial obligations , or



any merger-significant default under, or eenselidatiorracceleration of the-Company-, any isste-financial obligation; ¢
Impending announcements of debt-bankruptcy or equity-seeurities-financial liquidity problems; * Significant
developments involving business relationships . including execution the-dissetutionor-hiquidation-of the-Company-orany
sale-, fease-modification or termination of significant agreements or orders with customers , exehange-suppliers,
distributors, manufacturers or other dispesitionrofal-orany partofits-assets-er-business partners er-any-othereorporate-aet

or-proeeeding-; * Significant advancements preﬁeled—heweveﬁt-h&t—m t-he—research and development efforts or relatlng to
intellectual property; « Major event-events 1nvolv1ng of-a-stoels A

affeeting-all-orsubstantially-al-of-the Company’ s shares-securities , lncludmg calls of securities for redemptlon, adoptlon of
stock repurchase programs, stock splits, changes in dividend policies, public or private securities offerings, modification
of the Restrieted-Performanee-Shares-shall-simiarlyrights of security holders or notice of delisting; ¢ Significant
cybersecurity incidents; ¢ Significant legal or regulatory developments, whether actual or threatened; and autematieatiy—e
Major personnel changes, such as departures or elections of directors or executive officers. The above list is for
illustration purposes only. 2. What information is “ Non- public ”? Information is considered non- public if the
information has not been broadly disseminated to the public for a sufficient period to be reflected in split-erreorganized

thhettt—fuﬁheﬁ&eﬁeﬁ—efdeetsteﬁf—l 1c price Company-orthe-Committee—Theprohibitions-of Seetion3—t-shallnetapplyto
the transfer-of Restrieted-Performanee-Shares-pursuant-security. Information can be broadly disseminated to the public in a
press release plan-ofreorganization-ofthe-Company-, but-a public filing with the steels-United States seeurities-Securities

and eret-her—pfeperty—reeeﬁ‘ed—m—exeh-&ﬁge-Exchange Commlssmn (therefer—sh&l—l—a-lse—beeeﬂ&e—sabjeet—te—l he Ferfeﬁufe

Perfermaﬂee—Sh&res-“ SEC ”) a pre- announced publlc webcast or another broad, non- excluswnary for-form a-l-l—p’dfpeses-
of ubllc communication . 5vLH—M-tseel-lerrn-}e'crs—F or | )Lll])()SLS of this Pohc 1nformatlon
P y ﬁﬂ?‘ )

bythe-C ttoe, l' I ; Wil be final Wi ) cooding e
pfevided—t-h&t—P&r&eﬂa&nt—shaH—be—wnslducd publlc, i. e., no longer te—h&ve—terrmnated—Seﬁﬂee—&t—the—&me-e-ﬁ&ﬁeﬂmﬁa&eﬁ—ef

the-" Substdtary-non- public, after St&fus—&ﬂdeﬁfhe—ﬂ&ﬂ-e—ﬁfhe—eﬁ&ﬁy‘eﬁeﬂ‘leﬁ—— the close of tradmg efg&mf&&en—t-h&t

C ompam s T—SR—Wldespread pubhc release of the 1nformatlon Any questlons as to whether 1nformatlon measured—evef
the-PerformaneePertod-is non- public should regativ REmber-o v he
Ward-éhe—ﬂ%ﬁeei%r&p—te—the—ma*nﬁﬂm—lqé%rameuﬁﬁ—wﬁl-bc dlrected fed-ueed—byeﬂe-—h&lf—'Phe—absel&te—T—S-l%me&rﬁer
wiltnetaffeetany-awardap-to the General Counsel +60-%tevel-ofthe-award- B Polieies-&Proecedures-Subjeet—Core
LaboratortesIne-. {the-Related Person * Company-Related Person ” means HHneentive-CompensationReeoupmentPoliey
E—ffeet-rve—B&te—NevembeHﬁ— w1th respect %92—3—'Ph1s—pel-tey—ts—destgned—m provide-forrecovery by the-Companyof exeettive

rteg and-aceountab atre-the nforees lhc Company’ s pay-insiders: ¢ Any famlly member llvmg in the
1ns1der s household (lncludlng a spouse, minor child, minor stepchild, parent, stepparent, grandparent, sibling, in - law)
and anyone else living in the insider’ s household; « Family members who do not live in the insider’ s household but
whose transactions in Company securities are directed by the insider or subject to the insider’ s influence or control; ¢



Partnerships in which the insider is a general partner; ¢ Trusts of which the insider is a trustee; ¢ Estates of which the
insider is an executor; and ¢ Other equivalent legal entities that the insider controls. C. Trading Day “ Trading Day ”
means a day on which national stock exchanges are open for trading, and a “ full Trading Day ” has elapsed when, after
the public disclosure, trading in the relevant security has opened and then closed (including any holiday - petformanee
shortened trading session as the stock exchange may set). II. General Policy This Policy prohibits insiders from
transacting in or “ tipping, ” either directly or indirectly, others who may trade in the Company’ s securities while aware
of Material, Non- Public Information about the Company. This Policy additionally prohibits trading or tipping others in
Third- Party MNPI. These activities are commonly referred to as “ insider trading. ” All insiders should treat Material,
Non- Public Information about the Company’ s business partners with the same care required with respect to Material,
Non- Public Information related directly to the Company. A. Trading on Material, Non- Public Information Except as
otherwise specified in this Policy, no insider or Related Person shall engage in any transaction in the Company’ s
securities, including making any offer to purchase or offer to sell or giving any gift of the Company’ s securities, during
any period commencing with the date that he or she is aware of Material, Non- Public Information concerning the
Company, and ending after one full Trading Day following the date of public disclosure of the Material, Non- Public
Information, or at the time that the information is no longer material. B. Tipping Others of Material, Non- Public
Information No insider shall disclose or tip, either directly or indirectly, Material, Non- Public Information to any other
person (including Related Persons) where the Material, Non- Public Information may be used by that person to his or
her profit by trading in the securities of the Company or another publicly- traded company (where the Material, Non-
Public Information is Third- Party MNPI), nor shall the insider or the Related Person make recommendations, either
directly or indirectly, or express opinions on the basis of Material, Non- Public Information as to trading in the
Company’ s securities. Both the insider who provides the information, eompensationr-recommendation phitesephy-or
opinion and the person who trades based on it may be liable. Insiders are prohibited from engaging in these actions
whether or not the insider derives any profit or personal benefit from doing so. This prohibition against disclosure of
Material Non- Public Information includes disclosure (even anonymous disclosure) via the internet, blogs, investor
forums or chat rooms where companies and their prospects are discussed. C. Confidentiality of Material, Non- Public
Information Material, Non- Public Information relating to the Company is the Company’ s property and the
unauthorized disclosure of Material, Non- Public Information is prohibited. If an insider receives any inquiry from
outside the Company (such as a securities analyst) for information (particularly financial results and / or projections)
that may be Materlal Non- Pubhc Informatlon, the 1nqu1ry should be referred to the Company S Investor Relatlons

fepoﬁ-rng—reqtrrrements—undu Regulatlon FD (Falr Dlsclosure) of the U S lL(Ilel securities 1‘1\\ s tthe~—Peliey—Thispotiey
is-destgned-to avoid the selective disclosure of Material, Non- Public Information. In general, the regulation provides that
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administration hisPok 151 hat-thisPeliey-be-interp in a manner lhdl is eeﬁsts’feﬁt—demgned to achleve
broad public dlssemmatlon of the 1nf0rmat10n 1mmedlately upon its release in compliance with therequirements-ofthe
Exchange-Aet-applicable law. D. Special and Prohibited Transactions Because the Company believes it is improper and
inappropriate for its insiders to engage in short- term or speculative transactions involving certain securities, it is the

Company’ s policy that its insiders may not engage in any appheable-rales-orstandards-adopted-by-of the transactions

specified below. 1. Hedgmg Transactlons and the-Other Transactions Involving Company Derivative Sccuritics . Hedging
= oI aty-hational-seeutities-exehange-on-whieh-monetization transactions, whether direct
or indirect, involving the Company’ s securities are completely prohibited, regardless of whether you are in possession of
Material, Non- Public Information. A “ short sale, ” or sale of securities that the seller does not own at the time of sale or,
if owned, that will not be delivered within 20 days of the sale, is an example of a prohibited hedging transaction.
Transactions involving Company- based derivative securities are completely prohibited, whether or not you are in
possession of Material, Non- Public Information. “ Derivative securities ” are options, warrants, stock appreciation
rights, convertible notes or similar rights whose value is derived from the value of an equity security, such as Company
common stock. Transactions in derivative securities include, but are not fisted-limited to, trading in Company- based
option contracts, transactions in straddles or collars and writing puts or calls . This Policy shal-does not, however,
restrict holding, exercising or settling awards such as options, restricted stock, restricted stock units or other derivative
securities granted under a Company equity incentive plan as described in more detail below under “ Exempted
Transactions. ” 2. Purchases of Company Stock on Margin. Any of the Company’ s common stock purchased in the open
market should be effeetive-as-paid for in full at the time of Nevember-8;2023-purchase. Purchasing the Company’ s
common stock on margin ( e. g., borrowing money from a brokerage firm or the-other third party “EffeetiveDate-">-and
sha-l-l—appl—y—m &H—I-ﬂeeﬂﬁ‘b‘e—@efﬁpeﬁsaﬁeﬁ-t-h&t—fund the stock purchase) is Reeewed—strlctly prohibited by any-Covered
v his Policy . 3. Pledges of
Company Securltles Pledglng Company securltles as collateral is prohlblted 4 Short Term Trading. Insiders who
purchase Company securities in the open market may not sell any Company securities of the same class during the six
months following the purchase (or vice versa). 5. Standing and Limit Orders. You should refrain from placing open
orders with brokers, such as standing and limit orders (except standing and limit orders under approved Rule 10bS- 1
plans, as described below), particularly where the order is likely to remain outstanding for an extended period. Open
orders may result in the execution of a trade at a time when you are aware of Material, Non- Public Information or




otherwise are not permitted to trade in Company securities, which may result in inadvertent insider trading violations.
E. Exempted Transactions This Policy does not apply in the case of the following transactions, except as specifically
noted: 1. Stock Option Exercises. This Policy does not apply to the exercise of an employee stock option acquired
pursuant to the Company’ s plans, or to the exercise of a tax withholding right pursuant to which a person has elected to
have the Company withhold shares subject to an option to satisfy tax withholding requirements. This Policy does apply,
however, to any sale of stock as part of a broker- assisted cashless exercise of an option, or any other market sale for the
purpose of generating the cash needed to pay the exercise price of an option. 2. Restricted Stock Awards. This Policy
does not apply to the vesting of restricted stock, or the exercise of a tax withholding right pursuant to which the insider
elects to have the Company withhold shares of stock to satisfy tax withholding requirements upon the vesting of any
restricted stock. This Policy does apply, however, to any market sale of restricted stock. 3. 401 (k) Plan. This Policy does
not apply to purchases of Company securities in the Company’ s 401 (k) plan resulting from an insider’ s periodic
contribution of money to the plan pursuant to the insider’ s payroll deduction election. This Policy does apply, however,
to certain elections the insider may make under the 401 (k) plan, including: (a) an election to increase or decrease the
percentage of the insider’ s periodic contributions that will be allocated to the Company stock fund; (b) an election to
make an intra- plan transfer of an existing account balance into or out of the Company stock fund; (c) an election to
borrow money against the insider’ s 401 (k) plan account if the loan will result in a liquidation of some or all of the
insider’ s Company stock fund balance; and (d) an election to pre- pay a plan loan if the pre- payment will result in
allocation of loan proceeds to the Company stock fund. 4. Employee Stock Purchase Plan. This Policy does not apply to
purchases of Company securities in an employee stock purchase plan resulting from the insider’ s periodic contribution
of money to the plan pursuant to the election the insider made at the time of the insider’ s enrollment in its-diseretion-and
shat-the plan. This Policy also does not apply to purchases of Company securities resulting from lump sum contributions
to the plan, provided that the insider elected to participate by lump sum payment at the beginning of the applicable
enrollment period. This Policy does apply, however, to the insider’ s election to participate in the plan for any enrollment
period, amend--- and to the insider’ s sales of Company securities purchased pursuant to the plan. 5. Dividend
Reinvestment Plan. This Policy does not apply to purchases of Company securities under a dividend reinvestment plan
resulting from the insider’ s reinvestment of dividends paid on Company securities. This Policy does apply, however, to
voluntary purchases of Company securities resulting from additional contributions the insider chooses to make to the
dividend reinvestment plan, and to the insider’ s election to participate in the plan or increase the insider’ s level of
participation in the plan. This Policy also applies to the insider’ s sale of any Company securities purchased pursuant to
the plan. 6. Mutual Funds. Transactions in mutual funds that are invested in Company securities are not transactions
subject to this Policy as-it-deemsneeessary-. 7. Notwithstanding-any provistetrhereinto-the-Other eontrary;-Similar
Transactions. Any other purchase of Company securities from the Company or sales of Company securities to the
Company are nie-not subject to amendment-orterminatiorrof-this Policy shatt. 8. Rule 10bS- 1 Plans. The SEC has enacted
rules that provide an affirmative defense against alleged violations of U. S. federal insider trading laws for transactions
pursuant to trading plans that meet certain requirements. In general, these rules, as set forth in Rule 10bS- 1 under the
United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“ Exchange Act ), provide for an affirmative defense if you
enter into a contract, provide instructions or adopt a written plan for trading securities when you are not aware of
Material, Non- Public Information. The contract, instructions or plan must be made effeetive-if sueh-amendmentor
entered termination-wounld-(after-taking-into in good faith and not as a part of a plan or scheme to evade the insider trading
laws and must (i) specify the aceeunt-amount , price and date of the transaction, (ii) specify an objective method for
determining the amount, price and date of the transaction and / or (iii) place any aetions-taken-subsequent discretion for
determining the amount, price and date of the transaction in another person who is not, at the time of the transaction,
aware of Material, Non- Public Information. Transactions made pursuant to a written trading plan that (i) complies
with the afﬁrmatlve defense set forth in Rule 10b5 1 and (11) is approved by tlu General Counsel Geﬁrp&ny
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impose crlterla in addltlon to those set forth in Rule 10b5 1. Therefore, you must confer with the General Counsel prior
to entering into any trading plan. 9. Other Transactions. Any transaction specifically approved in writing in advance by
applieable-SECfilings-and-rules-the General Counsel (or by the Chief Executive Officer if the person engaging in the
transaction is the General Counsel) %erttenﬁ%eknew}ee}gement—F Post- Termination Transactions The guidelines set

of-this Section II continue Poliey-fromeach
mitar-to apply Eedﬁ-ﬂathﬁ—attae-hed-hefete—preiﬂéed—that—&re—f&r}ﬁfe—lo



prrposes-of Materlal Non- Pubhc Informatlon when t-hrs» h1s Potiey f i i i
the-avoidanee-of-doubther employment or service relatlonshlp terminates . a—F—m&neta-l—Repert-mg—Meas&re—need—nn whlch
event the insider may not trade be-presented-in the Company’ s securities until that information has become public or is no
longer material. I11. Additional Trading Policies and Requirements for Certain Insiders A. Blackout Period and the
Window Group All directors and members of management of the Company, consisting of the Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer, Chief Operating Officer, General Counsel, Chief Accounting Officer, any Senior Vice President,
all employees who directly report to any of the foregoing individuals, and such other persons as may be designated by the
General Counsel (collectively, the “ Window Group ”) are prohibited from trading during the period beginning at the
close of market on the 8th calendar day prior to the end of each fiscal quarter or year and ending after one full Trading
Day followmg the date of pubhc dlsclosure of the nancial stateﬂ&eﬂts—results erfor that fiscal quarter or year tnew}uded—m—a

. 3 h-as being in the
Wlndow Group should adhere to the general prohlbltlons set forth in th1s Pohcy fet&m—eﬂ—mvested-eapﬁa-l—ret&m—eﬂ—assets
0 hare-. From time to tlme, outside of {6)“Ineentive

th Company

and auﬂ&eﬂzed-te—take—suelﬁxeﬁeﬁ—rﬁBe&rd-&eﬂeﬁ—ts—nol yet dlsclosed feqﬂfred—eeﬂel-udes—er—reaseﬂ&b}y—shet&d—h&ve

Counsel w1ll notlfy the affected persons, and iPeMy%—*HterebsH&gree—te—abiée—by&H—e%ﬂae—those persons terms—e-ﬁth-ts
-Pel-rey—bet-h—d-&rr&g—&nd—a—fteﬁm-y—maynotengageln ployme retuditte .
tepaying o returning-any transactlon mvolvmg Erreﬂeeus}yﬂ%w&réed—Gernpeﬁs&ﬁeﬂ—te-l he purchase Gemp&n—y—as—deteﬁmﬂeé




( ompany’ s securltles out51de stanéard—pe-l-tey—reg&rd-mg—payﬁﬁeﬂt—( eerﬁpeﬂsat-teﬂ—te-exeeu-t-rves—bttt—a Blackout Perlod should
fe-not %ss—freqtte&ﬂy—&ran—meﬂtb}y%—Beﬂuses—Exeeﬁwe—shaH—bc consndered ehg-rb%e—te—reeewe—a—ma*ﬁﬂ-&m—anﬂﬁa-l—beﬂﬂs

-Btsefet-reﬂ&ry—eeﬂtﬂbuﬁoﬁ—safe harbor, ).—E—xeeu-t-rve—sha-l—l—and no insider who possesses Materlal N on- Publlc

Informatlon about the Company should trade untll at least one full Tradmg Day after the mformatlon has been made
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eertatn—perqtnsrtes—e-ﬁemp-}ey-meﬂt—ﬂxcept as othu\\ ise prov ldc(l hefem—Sectlon II Subsectlon E no d1rector, named
Exeeuntive-executive officer or other employee subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16 of the Exchange Act
(collectlvely, the « Pre- Clearance Group ”), may trade in the Company s securities without ﬁrst complymg rights-and

base—aﬂaeuﬁt—pre- clearance process Each member of the Pre- Clearance
Group should contact the Company’ s General Counsel prior to commencing any transactions in the Company’ s
securities ( whether or not listed in the Exempted Transactions specified in Section II, Subsection E). Pre- Clearance
Group members must obtain written clearance from the Company’ s General Counsel; oral pre- clearance is not
sufficient. After you receive permission to engage in a transaction, you must complete your transaction within three
Trading Days (or such shorter period as is designated at definedHn-Seetion2866-(b)(3)-ofthe Code-time of your request
for permission ) and-se-or make a new request for clearance. Please note that clearance ne-portien-of a proposed
transaction steh-ameounts-and-benefitsreeetved-by Exeenttve-shal-the Company’ s General Counsel does not constitute
legal advice regarding or otherwise acknowledge that a member of the Pre- Clearance Group does not possess Material,
Non- Public Information. Individuals must ultimately make their own judgments regarding, and are personally
responsible for determining, whether they are in possession of Material, Non- Public Information. IV. Company Stock
and Public Debt Repurchases A. Common Stock Repurchases Company open market common stock repurchases will be

made under authorlzatlon prov1ded Sﬂbjeet—te—the—exeise—ta%ﬁnpesed-b\ -Seeﬁen—4999—e%t-he—€ede—er€b)—paid—rn—ftﬂ-b

4999—e%t-he—eeée—&nd—an-y-et-her= the Board appheab}e—taxesﬁ—l"—he—redueﬁeﬂ—o[ paymeﬁts—Dlrectors Open market

repurchases of common stock are designed to satisfy the non- exclusive safe harbor of Rule 10b- 18 of the Exchange Act

and benefits-heretunderif-appheable;shall be made in compliance with applicable securities laws. The blackout periods set
forth in Section III, Subsection A, apply to Company open market common stock repurchases. B. Other Security



Repurchases Open market repurchases of securities other than Company common stock and securities repurchased
(including common stock) by redueing-other means (e. g. , first-privately negotiated transactions , payments-tender offers,
redemptions, consent sohcltatlons, or beﬁeﬁ-ts—te-otherwme) w1ll be paid—rn-handled on a eash—case hereunder—- by- case basis
in consultation th beginning-with sueh-paymentthe
General Counsel and the Ch1ef F1nanc1al Officer. Dependmg on the facts and c1rcumstances, the Company may
determine to apply the blackout periods set forth in Section III, Subsection A to Company public debt or other security
repurchases. V. Potential Criminal and Civil Liability and / or Disciplinary Action A. Detection and Prosecution of
Insider Trading The SEC, the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority and the New York Stock Exchange use
sophisticated electronic surveillance techniques to investigate and detect insider trading, and the SEC and the U. S.
Department of Justice pursue insider trading violations vigorously. Cases involving trading through foreign accounts,
trading by family members and friends and trading involving only a small number of shares have been successfully
prosecuted. B. Penalties or-for benefit-that-would-be-Violation of Insider Trading Laws As of the effective date of this
Policy, potential penalties for 1ns1der tradmg v1olat10ns under U. S. federal securities laws 1nclude * imprisonment; ¢
disgorging any profits made lastin o h A or benefit-that-would
be-made-firstlosses avoided; ¢ substantlal cr1m1nal fines; * substantial damages in t-rme)—&nd—a prlvate lawsuit; ¢
substantial civil fines based on then— the ;reduetng-profit gained or loss avoided; * a bar against serving as an officer or
director of a public company; and ¢ an injunction against future violations. The SEC has imposed large penalties in

tlppmg cases even when the dlsclosmg person d1d not trade or gam any benefit te—be—preﬁeled—rn-—kmd-heretmdeﬁrra—ﬁmﬂ&f

base—ameﬂﬁt—tradmg In addltlon a company, as well as 1nd1v1dual directors, ofﬁcers and other supervisory personnel
may be subject to liability as “ controlling persons ” for failure to take appropriate steps to prevent insider trading by
those under their supervision, influence or control. The penalty for “ controlling person ” liability includes civil fines, as
well as potential criminal fines and imprisonment. The civil penalties can extend personal liability to directors, officers
and managers. C. Disciplinary Action by then— the Exeeutiveshatbimmediatelyrepaystehexeess-to-Company apen
notifteation-If the Company has a reasonable basis to conclude that you have failed to comply with this Policy, you may be
subject to disciplinary action by the Company, up to and including dismissal for cause, regardless of whether your
failure to comply with this Policy results in a violation of law. It is not necessary for the Company to wait for the filing or
conclusion of any civil or criminal action against an alleged violator before taking disciplinary everpaymenthas-been

made—Net-htng—rn—t-}ns—Seeﬁeﬂ—actlon 4. é—sha-l-l—reqﬂﬁe-ln addltlon, the C ompan\ may glve stop transfer te—be—respeﬂsrb-le—fer—

E—xeeﬂtwe—rndiﬁduaH-yefm—eenﬁmeﬁen—wﬂa-ethefs— other lnstructlons to the —d-&rﬂ‘rg—E*eetme—s—emp-leyrﬁeﬂt—byGemp&ny
otrCompany’ s transfer agent premises-or-otherwise)-thatrelate-to

enforce comphance with th1s Pohcy VI Admlnlstratlon of the Policy Please direct any questions, requests or reports as
to any of the matters discussed in this Policy to the Company’ s business-General Counsel , prodtets-who is generally

responsible er-for serviees{ineludingwithoutlimitation;-all-the administration of this Policy. The General Counsel may
select one or more 1nd1v1duals to ass1st w1th the executlon of suc h ofﬁcer tn-feﬂﬁa&eﬂ—rel&ﬁng—te-eeﬂaef&teﬂapeﬁum&es—

determinations erganizations-or-within-th sanization-of aequisttionprosp irg-and interpretations bythe
General Counsel merehandising-teehni p etiven s;-and-marks slmll bc d-rselesed—ﬁnal and not subject to further
review. * * * * This document states a pohcy of Core Laboratorles Inc. and is not intended to be regarded as the
rendering of legal advice. Annex Ainsider Trading PolicyCertification I have read and understand the Insider Trading
Policy (the “ Policy ) of Core Laboratories Inc. (the “ Company and-"). I are-agree and-shal-be-that I will comply with the
sele-policies and exelustve-property-procedures set forth in the Policy. I understand and agree that, if I am a director,
officer or employee of the C ompany —Mefeevefor one of its subsndlarles or other afﬁhates my fallure to comply in all




Company’ s pollc1es

1nclud1ng beth—&tmﬂg—l

Policy, is a basis for termmatlon for cause of my unploymun fe}at-reﬂs-hrp-or service w1th the Company and after-any
subsidiary or the-other affiliate to which my employment

I service now
relates wrrtteﬂ—statemef&s-&betweempany—afw%&sﬁ%fﬁ-h&tes—m may in the future relate. I am aware &ny—e-ﬁsaeh—eﬂt-rt-res—




and-effeet—Any modifteationrof thisAgreement-will be 1led w1th my personnel records mamtamed ef-feeﬁve—eﬂ-l-y—rﬂrt—rs—m
H t b (ompany fh&t—E—xeettt—w&ﬂet—be
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1 Significant Subsidiaries of the Registrant at December 31, 2023Name-2024Name Legal Seat Ownership % Core Laboratories
Australia PTY LTD Perth, Australia 100 % Core Laboratories International B. V. Amsterdam, The Netherlands 100 % Core
Laboratories LP Delaware, United States 100 % Core Laboratories Malaysia SDN BHD Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia 100 % Core
Laboratories Sales B. V. Rotterdam, The Netherlands 100 % Core Laboratories (U. K.) Limited London, United Kingdom 100



% Owen Oil Tools LP Delaware, United States 100 % Saybolt Nederland B. V. Rotterdam, The Netherlands 100 % Pursuant to
Item 601 (b) (21) (i) of Regulation S- K, the names of other subsidiaries are omitted because, considered in the aggregate, they
would not constitute a significant subsidiary as of the end of the year covered by this report. Exhibit 23. 1 Consent of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (No.
333- 24569 enFermS-—3-(Ne—333-209259) on Form S- 4, and (Nos. 333- 248137, 333- 231277, 333- 73774, and 333-
73772) on Form S- 8 of our reports dated February +4-12 , 2624-2025 , with respect to the consolidated financial statements of
Core Laboratories Inc. and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Exhibit 31. 1 I, Lawrence Bruno, certify
that: 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10- K of Core Laboratories Inc. (the" Registrant"); 2. Based on my
knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report; 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in
this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 4. The Registrant' s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing
and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e)) and internal
control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15 (f)) for the Registrant and have: (a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; (b) Designed such
internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of
the Registrant' s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and (d)
Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant' s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
Registrant' s most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant' s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant' s internal control over financial reporting; and 5. The
Registrant' s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the Registrant' s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant' s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions): (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant' s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who
have a significant role in the Registrant' s internal control over financial reporting. Date: February +4-12 , 2624-2025 By: / s /
Lawrence Bruno Lawrence Bruno Chief Executive OfficerExhibit 31. 2 I, Christopher S. Hill, certify that: Date: February +4-12
, 20242025 By: / s / Christopher S. Hill Christopher S. Hill Chief Financial OfficerExhibit 32. 1 Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002 I, Lawrence Bruno, Chief Executive Officer of
Core Laboratories Inc. (the" Company"), hereby certify that the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10- K for the year ended
December 31, 2623-2024 , filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof fully
complies with the requirements of Section 13 (a) or 15 (d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
(the" Report"). I further certify that the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company. Date: February +4-12 , 2624-2025 / s / Lawrence Bruno Name: Lawrence
Bruno Title: Chief Executive OfficerExhibit 32. 2 I, Christopher S. Hill, Chief Financial Officer of Core Laboratories Inc. (the"
Company"), hereby certify that the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10- K for the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 ,
filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13 (a) or 15 (d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (the" Report"). Date: February 44
12, 2624-2025 / s / Christopher S. Hill Name: Christopher S. Hill Title: Chief Financial Officer



